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CHAPTER I 

INTRODUCTION 

The enslavement of black Africans and their place 

in the conquest, colonization and development of the Latin 

American nations has occupied the attention of many historians. 

Much has been written of the harsh existence imposed on the 

slave and mention has been made of the resistance shown by 

the slave to his servitude. This resistance took the form 

of suicide, infanticide, rebellion and flight. What has 

largely been ignored is that groups of a certain type of 

fugitive Blacks known as cimarrones, through prolonged 

guerrilla-style attacks on Spanish settlements, were able 

to gain recognition, lands, and rights from the Spanish crown 

by means of capitulacionep or terms. These were granted if 

the cimarrones promised to settle in communities under 

Spanish control and to pledge allegiance to the crowno In 

this manner, at least eleven town composed of former 

cimarrones were established in the viceroyalty of New Spain, 

the Isthmus of Panama and in the area comprising the modern 

nation of Colombia between the years of 1503 and 1800. 

There is very little literature devoted to the 

cimarrones of Spanish America. Carlos Federico Guillot, 

Negros Rebeldes y Negros Cimarrones: Perfil Afro-Americana 
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en la Historia del Nuevo Mundo durante el Sigle XVI (Buenos 

Aires, 1961), presents a broad survey of black resistance 

during the sixteenth century. Unfortunately Guillot's 

emotional reaction to slavery weakens the work. Octaviano 

/ .~ , 
Cerro R., Los Cimarrones en Veracruz y la fundac1on de Amapa 

(Veracruz, 1951) is an excellant study of the pacification 

of a seventeenth and an eighteen century group of cimarrones 

by the implementation of capitulaciones. David M. Davidson, 

"Negro Slave Control and Resistance in Colonial l1exico, 11 

Hispanic American Historical Review 44 (August 1966) presents 

some insights into slave revolts and Spanish efforts to 

control Blacks. Oddly, he declares that the Yanga cimarron 

revolt (1609) was the only black revolt in the history of 

Mexico which succeeded in gaining sanctions and guarantees 

of their freedom from the Spanish. This is at odds with 

Corr6 R., whom Davidson consulted, but apparently ignored in 

the case of the Amapa (1768) settlement. William B. Taylor, 

"Documents: The Foundation of Nuestra Senora de Guadalupe 

de los Morenos de Amapa," The Americas 26 (April 1970), 

presents an introduction to cimarron problems in Mexico and 

a document relating to the eighteenth century cimarrones 

described by Corro R. The David M. Davidson article and 

Aquiles Escalante, Palenques in Colombia, are included in 

Richard Price, ed., Maroon Societies: Rebel Communities in 

the Americas (Garden City, New York 1973)o This is a compre-

hensive anthology dealing with cimarrones in the western 

hemisphere. William F. Sharp, Manumission, Libres and 

2 



Black Resistance: 
,. 

The Colombian Choco, 1680-1810 in 

Brent Toplin, ed., Slavery and Race Relations in Latin 

America (l"lestport, Conn. 1974), places little emphasis on 

the cimarrones. Luis Gonzalez Obregon, Rebelliones Indigenas 

y Precursores de la Independencia Mexicana en los Siglos 

XVI, XVII, XVIII (Mexico 1952) devotes two chapters to re-

hellions by Blacks and mulattoes, but his effort to make 

their activities part of the precursor movement falls short 

of his goal. 

This study documents outbreaks of cimarron resistance 

and Spanish pacification methods. It will be an exclusive 

rather than a comprehensive study of unrest during the 

Spanish colonial period. A comprehensive study would provide 

a more accurate representation of the difficulties faced by 

the colonial authorities in insuring coastal and interior 

security, but that is beyond the scope of this study. The 

study is divided into chapters which investigate the cimarrones 

in Mexico and Central America, the Antilles and Florida, and 

the area comprising the modern nation of Colombia. This 

was done because of the volume of material utilized. The 

viceroyalty of New Granada was not dealt with in its en-

tirety because this would have entailed including Venezuela 

and Ecuador. Since both of these areas had large black 

populations and problems controlling the cimarrones, they 

have been left for future study. 



The term cimarron is used in Spanish to describe 

something wild, untamed or unruly and was applied to geo­

graphic areas, animals and meno 1 Letters of the early 

sixteenth century often have this term applied to Indians 

who fled to the cimas or hills outside of Spanish control. 

After the introduction of black slaves to the Indies, fugi-

tives of this group also came to be included under the term. 

4 

Indian and Black cimarrones, either in concert or in racially 

separated groups, often set up strongholds or palenques 

from which they attacked isolated Spanish holdings, travelers, 

and, at times, towns. The cimarrones conducted effective 

guerrilla actions paralyzing the countryside, hindering 

commerce, tying up large number of men sent out to destroy 

them and costing the royal treasury great losses. An even 

greater problem was the anxiety, generated in the Spaniards, 

that the cimarrones would subvert the black members of the 

castas or mixed bloods living within the cities to revolt 

or flee or possibly wreak vegenance on their white master 

for some past wrong. 

1webster's Geographical Dictionary, (Springfield, Mass.: 
Go & C. Merriman Coo, Publishers, 1957), p. 237, the 600 mile 
long Cimarron River rises in New Mexico and eventually flows 
into the Arkansas River in Oklahoma; Juan de Solorzano y 
Pereyra, Politica Indiana in Biblioteca de Austores Espanoles, 
vols. 252-256 (Madr1d: Ediciones Atlas, 1972), libro 6, 
capitulo 6, ley 11, states that wild ownerless livestock of 
the Indies "is called cimarron" and libra 2, capitulo 30, 
titulo 51, "cimarrones are those slaves or freemen who take 
refuge in the montes and from there come out to commit out­
rages"; El Inca Garcilaso de la Vega, Royal Commentaries of 
the Inca and General History of Pe~, trans. Harold V. 
Livermore, 3 vols. (Austin: University of Texas Press, 1966) 1 

1:1421, reported that the term was of Caribbean origin which 
described fugitive Blacks who fled their Spanish masters. 
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Despite the cimarron problems, the colonial 

authorities made no effort to end black enslavement. Black 

slave labor was too vital to colonial life for its abolition. 

The threat of Indian cimarron revolt decreased with the 

length of time an area of Indian habitation was under 

Spanish control. For this reason, the Spaniards felt that 

they could deal with the cimarron groups of the later 

colonial period which were composed primarily of persons of 

black African descent. Since the term cimarron became 

synonymous with black cimarrones, this investigation will 

deal primarily with these fugitives. Reference will be 

made to the Indian cimarron revolt under the cacique 

Enriquillo in Hispaniola during the sixteenth centurye 

This revolt is the paradigm for understanding the paci­

fication methods used with the Blacks. The methods used in 

pacifying the cimarrones were repeated, with varying degrees 

of success, in dealing with the great numbers of black 

cimarrones. The revolt led by the Indian cacique Enriquillo 

was finally ended by the granting of capitulaciones by the 

King to the rebellious Indians. 

Capitulaciones were concessions agreed upon between 

the King or royal agents and a private party to undertake 

a specific enterprise or public service. An example of 

these were the capitulaciones granted Christopher Columbus 

by the Spanish crown before his first voyage of discovery£ 

In essence, capitulaciones enumerated certain guarantees 

between the crown and the party involved. These were 



that the Faith would be recognized and followed, the King 

would be recognized as sovereign, and the grantee was 

guaranteed certain rights, privileges and rewards~2 

The capitulaciones used to pacify the Enriquillo 

cimarrones granted them rights, equipment, lands and the 

protection of the crown. In this manner, the Indian 

fugitives were pacified, became useful citizensF and 

defenders of the realm. But it must be remembered, that 

capitulaciones were used to pacify cimarrones only as a 

last resort. There was no standardized or legislated 

cimarron pacification policy. Various methods were 

haphazardly applied when a cimarron threat arose~ 

Usually, the initial pacification attempt was 

undertaken by the owners of the slaves involved. If this 

proved unsuccessful, bounty hunters known as rancheadores 

or capitanes de monte were sent out. Often, these were 

Blacks and Indians who knew the countryside or were expert 

trackers. Often, they were reformed cimarrones. When 

neither the owners nor the bounty hunters proved successful 

and the cimarrones continued to threaten colonial security 

4silvio A. Zavala, Las Instituciones jur{dicas en 
la conguista de America, 2nd ed. (Mexico: Editorial Porrua, 
S •. A., 1971), pp. 101-102; J.M. Elliot, Imperial Spain, 
1469-1716 (London: Edward Arnold Publishers,' Ltd., 1963), 
pp. 47-48i Coleccion de documentos ineditos relatives al 
descubrimiento, con uista colonizaci5n de las anti uas 
posesiones espa olas de America y Oceania sacada de los 
Archives del reino y muy especialmente del de Indias · · 
(Madrid: 1864..-84; reprinted., Vaduz: Kraus Reprint, 1964-
1966), 42 vols. (hereafter ci·ted as CDI) i volumes 22 and 23 
contain examples of capitulaciones. 

6 
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large scale military movements, paid for by the royal 

treasury, were employed. Members of the clergy, with a great 

degree of success, were also utilized. Restrictive social, 

political, and economic legislation to prevent those Blacks 

under Spanish control from becoming overly bold was also 

employede If none of these methods proved successful, 

capitulaciones, mutually beneficial to the fugitives and 

the Spanish crown, were agreed upon. It must be remembered 

that these were granted only as a last resort. The emphasis 

was on eradiction and punishment of the cimarrones. On the 

other hand, capitulaciones proved to be the most beneficial 

method for the colonies and the Spanish crown. 



CHAPTER II 

The Background <:>f Spanish. Enslaven:tent 0~ 'i'he B.lackJs. 
And Their Introduction To The I.ndi.es. 

Black Africans were an integral part of the 

Spanish exploration, conquest and colonization of the 

New World, serving as personal servants, slaves and free 

men. Often, they carried out the same occupations held 

by Blacks in the Iberian Peninsulao An Understanding of 

Spanish attitudes towards Blacks and the methods used in 

dealing with this enslaved group can best be understood 

by examining the development of black slavery in Spain 

prior to the discovery of the New World. 

Although it is difficult to pinpoint the arrival 

of black slaves in Spain, it is usually accepted that 

they were brought inby the Moslems during their invasion. 

During the Moslem occupation of the Peninsula, slavery 

became a part of peninsular life as Moor enslaved Christian 

and Christian enslaved Moor by means of "just warsc" 

Slaves from such disparate areas as the Circassia on the 

Black Sea and Sub-Sahara black African regions were also 

brought to Spaino These slaves were funneled through 
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the great slave market at Moslem Cordova and other 

commercial sites in the Christian areas.l This source 

of labor declined as the end of Moorish occupation 

drew near and the availability of slaves became less. 

Slave purchase prices increased astronomically between 

the fourteenth and sixteenth centuries. In 1300 slaves 

cost between 20-23 libras in Castile and jumped to 50-60 

libras by 1540.2 Peninsular slavery might have declined 

or disappeared because of the inflationary prices and 

the elimination of Moorish sources except for two events. 

These were the opening of west Africa by the Portuguese 

and the discovery of the New World. 

In the fifteenth century, the Christian areas 

of the Iberian Peninsula would take over the enslavement 

of Black Africans. This was initiated by Antam Gonzalvez 1 

a Portuguese sea captain sailing under the banner of 

Prince Henry the NavigatorG Off the west coast of 

Africa, Gonzalvez captured some Moslem merchants.3 

1J. Trend, The Civilization of Spain, (London: 

9 

University Press, 1960), pp. 34, 64-65; David Brion Davis, The 
Problem of Slave in Western Culture (Ithasca, N.Y.: Cornerr­
Un~vers~ty Press, 1969 , pp. 44-53; D. w. Jeffreys, "Pre~ 
Colombian Negroes in America, "Scientia (July-August 1953): 
205, declares the real power in the Caliphate of Cordoba 
during the tenth century was held by a "slave army of negroes 
or of Christian slaves." 

2Luis Mart!nez Delgado and Abel Cruz Santos, eds., 
Historia Extensa de Colombia, 25 vols. (Bogota: Ediciones 
Lerner, 1967), 2:103. 

3Elizabeth Donnan, Documents Illustrative of the 
History of the Slave Trade to America, 4 vols. (New York: 
Octagon Books, Inc., 1965), 1:22. 



Following the custom of the pel;'iod, the. Moslems were 

held for rans-om. 4 But be.,fore negotiations could commence 

through a third party, the leader of the l1oorish captives 

convinced Gonzalvez that a better profit would be made by 

the Portuguese i'f the Moors were exchanged for black slaves 

and African good~. A bargain was made. ~nd Gonzalvez 

returned to Portugal where the slaves were reported to 

have caus-ed a sensation because o:t; thei.r black skin.5 

Although this shows that the number of Blacks in Portugal 

were few in 1442, in the Spanish. area there is earlier 

mention of the:rn. During the reign of of Enrique III 

(1390-1406) they we.re allowed to hold dances and parties 

on holidays in Seville, the city of .their greatest 

concentration. A mayoral or steward was appointed to 

help settle disputes bet~een slaves and protect their 

interest against their masters.6 

4sir Arthur Helps, The Conquerors of'the·New·world 
and their Bondsmen, being a Narrative of the Principal · 
events wh1ch led to Negro Slavery in the West Indies and 
America, 2 vols. (London: William Pickering, 1848; reprint 
ed., Miami: Mnemosyne Publishing Co., Inc., 1969), 1:27 
reports that they were captured so that the language of 
the area could be learned. 

sibid., 1:29. 

6Jose Luciano Franco, "La Presencia Negra en el 

10 

Nuevo Mundo, "Casa de las Americas (May~August 1966) pp. 7-8; 
Ruth Pike, Aristocrats and 'l'raders, SeVi1lian Society in 
the Sixteenth Century (Ithaca~' N.Y.: Cornell University 
Press, 1972), p. 172. 



Juan de Valladolid, the black portero de camara 

or chamberlain of Ferdinand and Isabella, was appointed 

mayoral in 1475. Known as the Conde Negro or Black Count 

by his contemporaries, the abilities of Juan de Valladolid 

were recognized by a royal decree which declared 

We make you mayoral and juez of all the free and slave 
negros e loros in the very noble city of Seville and 
in all its archbishopric, and th.at the aforementioned 
male and female negros e loros cannot have nor hold 

11 

any fiestas, nor agreements between themselves, except 
before your presence, .the aforementioned negro Juan de 
Valladolid our juez and mayoral of the aforementioned 
male and female negros e'loros; and order that you 
know of the arguments, disagreements and marriages and 
.other things that occur between them, and no one else, 
because you are a person apt for it ... and you know the 
laws and ordenanzas that they should have and we are 
informed that you are of noble lineage among the 
aforementioned negros.7 ~ 

This appointment of Juan de Valladolid is an inter-

esting early example of methods used by the Spanish crown 

to control the black slave population. The appointment 

noted that Juan de Valladolid was of noble African lineagev 

This, coupled with his leadership qualities, made him the 

focus of respect and homage of the other Blacksc 

?Hipolito Sancho de Sopranis, Las Cofrad{as de 
Morenos en cadiz (Madrid: Consejo Superior de Investigaciones 
Cient1ficas, 1958), pp. 8-9; Zavala, Instituciones jurfdicas, 
p. 425; Information about Blacks in Segovia Spain is found 
in Marques de Lozoya, La Morer!a de Segovia (Madrid: 
Institute de Estudios Africanos Consejo Superior de In­
vestigaciones Cientificas, 1967); Sir Arthur Helps, The 
Spanish Conquest in America and its relation to the HIStory 
of Slavery and to the Government of Colonies, 4 vols. 
(London: John Lane, 1904), 1:21-22, doubts that Blacks were 
imported into Seville before 1443, although he points out 
that by 1474 the royal treasury was receiving considerable 
sums of money from the slave trade in the form of the 
royal fifth. 



12 

Since he was a trusted ladino or hispanicized Black, he 

was the logical choice to use as a medium of corrtrol over 

the black population and weakend the probability of flight 

or revolt by the slaves by serving as an example which 

they could emulate.' Honoring him served to bind him to 

the Spanish power structure and removed the potential danger 

which could have evolved around the leadership of a dis-· 

satisfied Black of Valladolid's background. Rather than 

be a leader against the Spaniards, he served as an adjunct 

of the Spanish crown and as an example for those Blacks 

who wished to gain honor and rewards from the Spaniards. 

In this manner it was hoped that the large number of Blacks 

owned by Spanish tradesmen, artisans, nobility and churchmen 

would endure their enslavement and not attempt rebellions.8 

It must be pointed out that, even before the 

Portuguese discovery of the economic value of the black 

slave trade, Christian areas of Catalonia, Aragon, and 

Majorca had become almost complete slave holding societies. 

Palma de Mallorca in the Balearic Islands became by, 

8
Information concerning slaves in Spain can be 

found in Vicenta Cortes Alonso, "La Trata de Esclavos 
Durante los Primeros Descubrimientos (1489-1516) , "Anuario 
de Estudios Atlanticos 9(1963):23-49; Idem, "Esclavos 
Domesticos en Arn~rica," Anuario de Estudios Arnericanos 24 
(1967) :955-983; sanchez de Sopranis, Cofradfas de MorenOSi 
Arcadio de Larrea Palacfn, "Los Negros de la Provincia 
de a·uelva," Archives del Institute de Estudios Africanos 
20{marzo 1952};39-57. 



the fourteenth and early fifteenth centuries, the 

center and suppliers of slaves to much of the Iberian 

Peninsula. 9 Slavery was an accepted principle by 

medieval Christians, but even popes would contradict each 

other over this moral question. Pope Nicolas V gave 

King Alfonso of Portugal the right to conquer and enslave 

pagans in 1452. 10 Pius II \vould condemn slavery in 1462, 

while Pope Innocent VIII, in 1488, received one-hundred 

slaves captured in the fall of .Halaga from Ferdinand.ll 

This gift of slaves was later divided by the Pope 

among the cardinals and nobles close to him. 12 These papal 

slaves were reported to have been "very good Christians~"13 

The problem of slavery would be greatly debated within 

9Roger Bigelow Merriman, The Rise of the_EEanish 
Empire in the Old World and in the New, 4 vols. (_New York: 
Cooper Square Publishers, Inc., 1962), 1:480, 504; Davis, 
Problem of Slaverl_, pp. 43-45 · 

10Donnan, Documents Illustrative, 1~4-5; Davis 

13 

Problem of Slavery, pp. 91-121, presents Medieval and modern 
thought concerning slavery; Luis Morales Oliver, 11 El 
Testamento de la reina Isabel y su reflejo en Africa," 
Archives del Institute de Estudios Africanos 47(diciembre 
1958): 15; See also Domingo Manfredi, Africa en las 
Navegaciones Espanolas (Madrid: Publicati6n Espanoles, 1958} 
which represents an interesting monograph showing Iberian-· 
African contacts from classic times to the nineteenth century. 

llJean Hippolyte Mariejol, The Spain of Ferdinand and 
Isabella, trans. ed. Benjamin Keen (_New Brunswick, N.J.: -
Rutgers University Press, 1961), pp. 277-79; Davis, Problem 
of Slavery, p. 100. 

12Davi:s, Problem of Slaver:r, p. lOln. 

13Nariejol, Spain of Ferdinand; p. 279, reports them to 
to be "young people."; Merriman, Spanis~ Empire, 2:271, 
declares them to be warriors. ...-~-. 



the Church, but for the most part Thomistic thought 

would prevail. As St. Thomas pointed out, "even the 

angels in heaven were subjected to a hierarchal pattern 

of rule and authority based on intrinsic differences 

in merit."l4 

This coupled with the Aristotelian belief in 

the "natural slave" provided the foundation for the 

acceptance of slavery. It was legitimized by custom 

and Christian legal codes. The most influential of 

these was Las Siete Partidas, compiled between 1256 and 

1265 during the reign of Alfonso X (el Sabio.l5 Las 

Siete Partidas is a compendium of Justinian law and local 

custom which became a reference point in all legal 

matters of Spain and its later colonial empire. The 

rights and obligations of those enslaved were enumerated 

in Las Siete Partidas, and in this manner, the institution 

of slavery was recognized as an integral part of Spanish 

society and was given a legal basis. The rationale 

for the enslavement of Blacks was based on Genesis 9:25 

and Original Sin. 

Genesis 9:25 rela~es that Noah cursed his son 

14oavis, Problem of Slavery, p. 95. 

15see Las Siete Partidas del Rey don Alfonso 
el Sabia, 3 vols. (Madrid: En la Imprenta Real, 1887) 
and Charles E. Chapman, A History of Spain founded on 
the Historia de Espa·na de la Civilizaci6n Espanola of 
Rafael Altamira (New York: The Macmillan Company, 1961), 
pp. 142-143, 162-165. 

14 



Ham a,nd his. descenda,nts saying that ''He shall be his 

brother•·s· IDeanest s:la,ye."l6 Si.nce Ham and his descen-

dants are believed to have peopled Africa, the Bible, as 

the word of God, was used to justify the enslavement of 
' 

the inhabitants of this area. The chronicler of the 

Antam Gonzalvez voyage mentions this and sought to 

reinforce this rationale by quoting from the Noah writings 

of Archbishop Don Rodrigo of Toledo, the Jewish historian 

Josephus Flavius and Walter.l7 The curse of Ham would be 

repeated by many others during the succeeding centruies 

as a ·rationalization for the black slave trade.l8 

It was also believed that slavery was a punish-

ment for Original Sin. Although it was caused by sin, 

this did not mean that a slave once Christinized was 

immediately freed from bondage.l9 Instead, it was to be 

endured as a just punishment. The fact that one was 

enslaved was of little importance. What was paramount 

16Alexander Jones, The Jerusalem Bible (Garden City 
N.Y.: Doubleday and Company, Inc., 1966), pp. 22-23. 

17Donnan, Documents Illustrative, 1:22. 

15 

18Antonio Vasquez de Espinosa, Compendia y Descripcion 
d~ las Indias Occidentales, trans. Charles Upon Clark 
(~~shington, D.C~, Smithsonian Institution Press, 1968) p. 17; 
Solorzano y Pereyra, Pol.ftica Indiana, 1ibro I, capftulo 5, 
titulo 35; Donnan, Documents Illustrative, 1:22, declares that 
the curse was laid by Noah on his son Cain. This is probably 
confused with the Spanish translation of Ham as Cam. The sons 
of Noah were Ham, Shem and Japeth. Cain was the son of Adam. 

19Davis, Problem of Slavery, pp. 86-96; W.M.V. Reade 
Political Theory to c. 1300,"vol. 6,· The Cambridge Medieval 
History· (Cambridge Univers1 ty Press, 1964·); p. 613; SoJ6rzano 
y Pereyra, Politica Indiana, libro .21 capftulo 1( .t.itulos 3-8. 



was that someone was uplifted from paganism and brought 

to the light of Christianity. Following this rationale, 

many made careers of raiding into the Barbary Coast (Fez, 

16 

Morocco, Tunis and Tlemecen) and into Western Africa in 

search of slaves.20 Africa was viewed by some as a fountain 

from which a wealth in slaves could be drawn, while Queen 

Isabela viewed it as the place from which a wealth of souls 

could be acquired for God. 

The Reconquest accomplished, Queen Isabela turned 

her attention to new pagan areas to conquer for Gode This 

zeal, the central point of her political philosophy, is 

especially apparent in her last will and testament. The 

Queen declared that she wished her heirs to carry out the 

evangelization of Africa and to continue the task until 

the infidel became Christian. She also ordered that King 

Ferdinand, her daughter Princess Juana and her son-i~-1aw 

Prince Phillip care for the Indians of the newly discovered 

lands.21 Little did she realize how the fate of .the Indians 

and the black Africans were to become intertwined as staggering 

amounts of Blacks would be brought to the Indies to save the 

Indians from extermination. 

20oonnan, Documents Illustrative, 1:18-23; Alejandro 
Cioranescu, "Melchor Mansilla de Lugo un Licenciado Negrero 
(1526-1575), "Anuario de Estudios At1anticos 9 {1963); 
pp. 119-162. 

21Morales Oliver, Testamento de la reina, pp. 8-9 
Andres Ovejero Bustamante, Isabela I y la Politica Africanista 
Espa:n'ola (Uadrid: Instituto de Estudios Africanos, 1951) r 
pp. 153-156, 231-244. 
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Although it has been asserted that Blacks were 

present in pre-Colombian Spanish America, these claims 

have been based on fragmentary Indian artifacts and not on 

documentary proof. Since the analysis of these artifacts 

has been based on subjective rather than objective evaluation, 

most authorities tend ~o disclaim these assertions.22 There 

are indications that Pi~tro Alonso the pilot on the first 

voyage of Columbus was Black. 23 That there was a Black on 

the fourth Columbus voyage is a certainty. The Ship's 

manifest shows that Diego el negro served on the voyage as a 

grumete or cabin boy.24 In all likelihood, Diego el negro 

and Pietro Alonso were free men, while the majority of the 

Blacks that came after them were slaves. 

During the Conquest and early coloni_al period, many 

Blacks came to the Indies as personal servantes rather than 

laborers. The most famous of these was Estevanico who 

22
chicago Daily Defender (March 6-12, 1971), p. 12; 

Hans·. Horkheimer, El Peru Prehispanico, 2 vols. (Lima: 
Editorial Cultura Antartica, s. A., 1950) 1:82i Carmen 
Aguilera, "Una posible Diedad Negroide en el Pante6n Azteca, 
"Estudios de Cultura Nahuatl, 9(1971) '· 47-56;~Jeffreys, 
"Pre-Colomb.ian Negroes," 202-217 .. 

23Arthur Ramos, Las Culturas Negras en el Nuevo Mundo 
.(M~xico; Fonda de la Culttira E~onomica~ 1943), p. 66; 
Documents Illustrative, p. 14, reports that legend has one 
or two Blacks w1th Colombus on his voyage of discovery; Peter 
M. Bergman, ed., The Chronological History of the Negro in 
America (New York: Harper and Row, Publishers, 1969), p. 2, 
reports the name as Pedro Alonso Nino. 

24Jorge A. Lines, ed., Co1ecci6n de Documentos para 
la Historia de Costa Rica Relatives al Cuarto y Ultimo Viaje 
de Cristobal Colon (San Jos~, Costa Rica: Imprenta y 
L1brer1a Ateneo, 1952), pp. 43, 102. Diego's pay is also 
listed. 



took part in the disastrous Narvaez expendition and was 

/ 
instrumental in the survival of his master Andres de 

Dorantes and Cabeza de Vaca.25 While most of the Blacks 

during the early period came as personal servants, some 
\ 

served in the transportation of supplies and equipment and, 
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once Indian slaves were acquired, as the overseers of Indian 

laborers. Bernal Dfaz del Castillo, who left what may be 

the most accurate first hand account of the Conquest of 

Mexico, reported that on the expedition Blacks were worth 

their weight in gold.26 

Besides having contributed vitally in the conquest 

period, the Blacks unknmvingly served as the vehicle for 

the decimation of the Indian population. Diego Velzsquez, 

the governor of Cuba, ordered Panfilo de Narvaez to Mexico 

to stem the growing power of Cortes. One of the Blacks 

with the Narvaez expedition was infected with small pox.27 

25Frederick w. Hodge, ed., "The Narrative of Alvar 
Nunez Cabeza de Vaca,"Spanish Explorers in the Southern 
United States, 1528-1534 (New York: Barnes and Noble, Inc., 
1958), pp. 9-132; James B. Browning, Negro Companions of the 
Spanish Explorers in the New World, Howard University Studies 
in History, 2(Was-hington, D.C., 1931), pp. 5-20. 

26Bernal o{az, The Conquest of New Spain trans, J.M. 
Cohen (Baltimore; Penguin Books, 1963) r p. 55; CDI, 20:215, 
Motolonia-reports that the Blacks with Cortes were "the most 
valuable thing he had." 

27william H. Prescott, History of the Conquest of 
Mexico and the History of Peru (New York: Random House, 1936), 
p.399n; Juan de Torquemada, Monarquia Indiana/(Madrid; N. 
Rodr!guez Franco, 1723), tomo 1, libro 4, cap1tulo 80; F.A. 
Kirkpatrick, The Spanish Conquistadores (Cleveland: The 
World Publish1ng Company, 1967), pp. 11-12 C.L.G. Anderson, 
Old Panama and Castilla del Oro (New York! North River Press, 
1944), pp. 37-38. 



19 

The Indiana population lacked immunity from or experience 

with the disease and were seriously affected. Great numbers 

of tqwns around Veracruz and the lowland areas were almost 

completely wiped out. Torquemada reported that 

Since the Indians were accustomed to wash themselves 
each day when healthy, they now did it because the 
fever burned them up. This, along with the heat of 
the area, worked against a cure. Thus an infinite 
number died ••.• There were so many dead, that since 
they were not buried the stench corrupted the air 
and it was feared a great plague would be caused. 
This epidemic of small pox was spread through New 
Spain causing great mortality.28 

The epidemic spread to the Aztec capital, where the 

successor to Moctezuma, Cuitlahuac, who had been the Aztec 

leader for only eighty days, fell victim to the plague 

and died.29 The decimation of the Aztecs and especially 

of their reinforcements and food suppliers outside the 

city resulted in a breakdown in military preparedness 

among the defenders of Mexico City. Starvation helped to 

further demoralize the embattled Aztecs and paved the way 

to the Conquest. 

28Torquemad~, Monarqu{a Indiana, tomo 1, libra 41f 
capitulo 66. 

29 Ibid., tomo 1, libra 4, capitulo 80; Prescott, 
Conquest of Mexico, p. 482; Antonio de Herrera y 
Tordesillas, Historia General de los Castellanos en las 
Islas y Tierra Firme del Mar Oceano.l7 vols. (Madr1d: 
1934-1957), 5:399, reports that small pox was believed by 
some to have been in the Indies before the arrival of 
the Spaniards. 



The decimation of the Indian population of Mexico 

by the small pox epidemic was repeated throughout the areas 

conquered by the Spaniards. Puerto Rico was the first area 

affected by small pox. As later occurred in Mexico, an 

infected Black brought in the disease in 1518.30 The 

epidemic spread throughout the islands exterminating one 

group of Indians after another. Since the Spaniards dis-

dained manual labor, Blacks were brought in to bolster 

the ranks of the Indian survivors~ In this manner the 

cycle was repeated. Epidemics occurred, the work force 

declined, and greater numbers of Blacks were imported, 

20 

But with the increase in black slaves, Spanish slave control 

broke downe The greater numbers of black slaves increased 

the difficulties in slave supervision. Blacks took advantage 

of this opportunity to flee their forced servitude, formed 

cimarron bands, and attacked the Spaniards. By continually 

increasing the numbers of Blacks in the Indies, the Spaniards 

unwittingly developed a threat to their lives, property and 

control of the Indies. 

30
Luis M. ofaz Soler, Historia de la Esclavitud Negra 

en Puerto Rico 3rd ed., (New York: Plus Ultra Educational 
Publ1shers, Inc., 1970), pp. 43-83; Angel Rosenblat, La 
Poblacion Indigena y el Mestizaje en ~rica 2 vols. -
(Buneos Aires: Editorial Nova, 1954) 1 1:72-79 1 90-95. 



CHAPTER III 

Cimarron Revolts And Pacification In New Spain 
The Antilles And Florida 

Royal sanction for the introduction of black slaves 

to the Indies was given in 1501 to Nicol~s de Ovando, the 

governor of Hispaniola. Queen Isabeia had been hesitant 

about sending Blacks to the Indies, fearing that they could 

cause religious contamination of the Indians if the slaves 

had originally come from Moslem areas of Africa. To 

prevent the introduction of the Moslem religion to the 

Indies, Ovando was ordered to take the Indies only those 

"slaves born in the possession of Christians," and to allow 

no non-reconciled heretic, Jew Moor or recent convert to 

Christianity to enter Hispaniola.! 

Although Ovando obeyed the royal directive, the 

Blacks who were introduced quickly became a problem to the 

peace of the colony. Two years after he had assumed 

the leadership of the colonial government, ovando found 

himself forced to petition the crown that Blacks be 

prohibited from coming to the island. He advised the 

crown that black slaves escaped whenever possible from 

1 
Charles Gibson, The Spanish Tradition in ·America 

{_New York: Hax;per and R,ow,)?ub;t.ishers, 196_8), ___ 55-57; 
· Edward Gaylqrd Bourne, Spai.n in America (_New. ¥ork ~ Hal;'J?e.t;" 
and Brothers :Pu·bli.shers~. 1904~1 f p. 269 ._ · 

21 
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their Spanish masters and fled to outlying Indian .villages 

where they incited the Indians to rebel against the Spaniards. 

Rather than risk the loss of both the souls and bodies of 

the Indian vassals and the new colony, shipments of Blacks 

were prohibited in 1503.2 

The problem faced by Ovando was the first recorded 

case of flight by black slaves in the Americas. These 

fugitives were the first black cimarrones, although it 

is not known if they were specifically called by this name. 

In fact, the word was later used to describe both Indian 

and black fugitives. On the other hand, Indians were 

also called Indios alzados or rebelados. This meant that 

they had risen or rebelled against Spanish control. This 

distinguished them from indios insumisos or unconquered 

Indians. The application of the term cimarron to fugitive 

Blac~s is a logical progression in the usage of the term. 

As the colonial period progressed and Spanish control over 

the Indian population increased, the term came to be 

applied, except for rare instances, only to Blacks. 

2oonnan, Documents Illustrative, '1:14, reports that 
George Scelle, La Traite aux Indes de Castille (Paris, 
1906) , believed that the importation must have been in 
progress before the arrival of Ovando. This would have been 
the only way that Blacks could have been in numbers suf­
ficient to have imperiled the administration of Ovando. 
In reality the few Blacks were a danger in that they in­
cited the Indians to rebel; Bourne, Spain in America, p. 269; 
Gonzalo Aguirre Beltran, La Poblaci6n Negra de Mi§xico, 
1519-1810, Estudio Etnohist'Orico (Mexico: Ediciones Fuente 
Cultural, 1946), p. 5; C.M. HarJ.ng, The Spanish Empire 
in America {New York: Harcourt, Brace and World, Inc., 
1963) p. 203. 



The decline of the Indian population of Hispaniola 

during the first twelve years of Spanish rule was so 

drastic that the labor force was seriously affected. 

For this reason, Ovando requested the crown to renew the 

importation of Blacks to the island. The first seventeen 

were sent to the governor for use in the royal copper 
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mines of Hispaniola.3 In a letter dated September 15, 1505, 

King Ferdinand acknowledged Ovando,. s request for more 

slaves and declared that one hundred would be sent. He 

also suggested that the overseer in charge of the slave 

miners promise the Blacks that they 'l.vould be re~arded 

if 11 they work well." 4 The King advised that by promising 

rewards, the Blacks would work with more enthusiasm 

rather than try to escape to the hills to become cimarrones. 

Slave shipments quickly increased. Two hundred 

fifty. blacks were sent in 1510 to be used only on the 

royal properties or to be sold to Spanish settlers. 5 

But the demands of the colonists were not satisfied. 

3Donnan, Documents Illustrative, 1:14-15; Haring, 
Spanish Empire, p. 203. 

4aelps, conquerors and Bondsmen, 1:211-212, 

5Donnan, Documents Illustrative, 1:15, reports 250; 
Haring, Spanish Empire, p. 203, reports 200; J. A. Saco 
Historia de la Esclavitud, desde los tiempos mas remotes 
hasta nuestros dias ed. A. Garz6n del Camino, (Buenos 
Aires: Editorial Andina, 1965), p. 166 declares the maximum 
to be 200; Bourne, Spain in America, p. 270, states that 
fifty were sent in 15lb and "up to 200" later; Helps, 
Conquerors and Bondsmen, 1:237, reports that governor 
Diego Columbus was ordered, in 1510, to send nso Blacks 
to work in the mines." 
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They requested more, telling the King th~t because of the 

great ~ortality a;mong the black slaves, replacements were 

needed. In June 1511 the King noted in a letter to Sampier, 

a royal official on Hispaniola, that he could not understand 

why the Blacks had such a high morality rate. He admonished 

Sampier, telling him that the colonists should "take much 

care of them."6 

Crown patronage of black slave labor for the royal 

properties encouraged the slave trade. The situation 

continued until the death of Ferdinand in 1516 when 

Cardi~al Jimenez de Cisneros halted the flow of Blacks 

until Charles V became the new monarch,? Charles V renewed 

the slave trade and used it as a remedy for problems con-

fronting him. The resumption of the slave trade meant 

that the Indians could be spared from the labors demanded 

of them and their defenders would cease the clamor for 

Indian rights; royal favorites could be rewarded with 

6Helps, Conquerors and Bondsmen, 1;237. 

7Luis Querol y Roso, "Negros y mulatos de Nueva 
Espana, Historia de su alzamiento en Mejico en 1612." 
Anales de la Universidad de Valencia, 90 (1931-32); ·pp. 122 
indicates that shipments of slaves were stopped by Cisneros 
because of the immorality of the slave trade; Helps; Spanish 
Conquest, 1;349-350, believes that Cisneros was only · 
interested in organizing the slave trade to provide a labor 
supply; Jose Antonio Sa6o, Historia de la Esclavitud de la 
Raza Africana en el Nuevo Mundo y en especial en los Paises 
Americo-Hispanos 4 vols. (Havana: Cultural , Sq A., 1939, 
reprinted., Ann Arbor, Michigan, 1969), p. 168, presents 
convincing evidence that Cisneros was firm believer in 
slavery, Cisneros suspended the trade because he wished 
to reorganize it in order to impose a better system of 
taxation upon its profits. 



asientos or slave contracts and the royal treasury would 

be swelled from revenues imposed on the black slave trade. 

Now, ·under Charles V, the black slave trade became an 

integral part of colonial life, but the Blacks did not 

meekly accept their enslavement. 

In 1519 one of the longest lasting cimarron revolts 

occurrede This was not a revolt of black cimarrones, but 

a revolt of Indians led by the cacique Enriquillo in 

Hispaniola. 8 This Indian cimarron revolt is of primary 
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importance to understanding the methods used by the Spaniards 

in the pacification of the black cimarron revolts which would 

erupt throughout the colonial period. 

Enriquillo was a ladino, or acculturated Indian, who 

had been raised by the Franciscan friars on Hispaniola. He 

spent his childhood absorbing Spanish culture and appeared 

to be very peaceful by nature. But mistreatment by the 

Spaniards during his early adult years caused him to finally 

gather his followers and flee Spanish control to ~he more 

inaccessible mountain areas of Hispaniola in 1519. A 

small Spanish force of twelve men confidently attacked the 

Indians led by Enriquillo. The combat ended quickly with 

two Spaniards killed and the rest routed by the Indians. 

8
Herrera y Tordesilla, Historia General, 4:357-366, 

10:360-364; Manuel de J. Galv~n, Enriquillo, Leyenda 
Historica Dominicana, intro. Jose Marti (Santo Domingo: 
Editorial Librer!a Dominicana, 1966), presents an interesting 
romatic novel based on this period. 



Fearful that the news of a Spanish defeat might incite 

other Indians to rebel, the Audiendia prepared and sent 

out a better equiped force of seventy or eighty men to 

smas~ the revolt. Again.the Spaniards were soundly 

defeated. As had been feared, the news of the Indian 

successes caused many peacful Indians to revolt and join 

Enriquillo. Within a short time, his original force of 

less than one hundred became three hundred rebellious 

Indians.9 

Enriquillo fought a defensive rather than 6ffensive 

war and ordered that none of his followers were to kill 

Spaniards. Although splinter groups of rebel Indians did 

not obey his command, those directly under Enriquillo were 

reported having killed Spaniards only if their own lives 

. . d 10 d . h . 1 were 1n Jeopar y. Weapons were rna e 1n t e1r pa enque, 

captured from the Spaniards or brought in by fugitive 

encomienda and slave Indians who stole them from their 
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masters before escaping to the cimarron strongholdo Scouts 

continually watched the countryside and spies were located 

near the Larbors and areas through which Spanish punitive 

expeditions might travelo The success of these measures 

dispirited the Spaniards in this war which would eventually 

9Herrera y Tordesillas, Historia General,. 4::35 7-359. 

lOibid., 4:359-360. 



cost the Royal Treasury 1,000 ducats and the abandonment 

of some settlements. The Audiencia had great difficulty 

gathering forces to send against the rebels and eventually 

men ~ad to be conscripted to go against them. But military 

expeditions proved unsuccessful.ll 

The Franciscan, Fray Remigio, tried to meet with the 

cimarron leader in hopes that Enriquillo's former ties to 
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the F+anciscans might induce him to surrender. Fray Remigio 

searched for the cimarrones in the mountains, but before he 

was able to reach Enriquillo, he was captured by an Indi~n 

scout force and physically abused because he was suspected 

of being a spy. When the priest was finally allowed to 

meet the cacique, Enriquill9 refused to end the rebellion, 

declaring that the Indians had rebelled rather than allow 

themselves to be mistreated and killed by the Spaniards as 

their parents and grandparents had been. Rather than return 

to captivity and death, the Indians vowed that they would 

remain free on the land they controlled, harming no one 

except in self-defense and that they no longer wished to 

have relations with the Spaniards.l2 

When Fray Remigio delivered Enriquillo's message 

to the Audiencia, the officials sought to win him over by 

11Ibid., 7:484, 8:107, 259-261, 372-373. 

12Ibid., 4:363-364, in 10:120 the date is 
given as 1530. 



freeing some of the peacful Indian chieftains from 

the encomienda system. It was hoped that the freedom 

granted to the peaceful Indians might induce 'some of 

Enri9uillo's followers to return to the Spanish controlled 

area. Instead, this served to infuriate the more radical 

Spaniards who feared the loss of their encomiendas. These 

Spaniards took out their frustrations on their own Indians 

by treating them more harshly. This served to aggravate 

the problem as more hatred of the Spaniards was engendered. 

The leader of the opposition group, Miguel Pasamonte, the 

treasurer o£ the colony, hoping to alleviate the growing 
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labor problem as more Indians fled to EnriquilloF petitioned 

the crown to increase the numbers of Blacks being imported 

into the island. The crown agreed with the request and 

raised the numbers of Blacks s:ent to Hispaniola. The labor 

problem was alleviated, but the increase in B~acks aggravated 

the problems for the Spaniards.l3. Control of the growing 

black population became more difficult and made the Spaniards 

realize that the Indian cimarron problem had to be eliminated[ 

before problems arose with the Blacks. If the Blacks rebelled, 

the Spaniards would then be confronted by two enemies. An 

even more formidable threat to their control of the island 

could have occurred if rebellious Blacks and Indians joined 

forces. For this reason, shortly before the futile effort 

13rbid., 4:365-366. 



shortly before the futile efforts of Fray Remigio 

Spanish officials tried to gain peace with Enriquillo. 

This was attempted by guaranteeing the rebellious Indians 

their freedom, land to set up a town, food supplies, and 

livestock. In return, the cimarrones were to promise to 

live in peace and capture any fugitive and rebellious 

Blacks and Indians.l4 The cimarrones rejected the terms 

and refused similar offers by Fray Remigio the following 

year.lS The failure of these two attempts prompted a 

military effort led by Hernando de San Miguel to capture 

Enriquillo. Although no success was achieved by force 

of arms, negotiations were begun with Enriquillo.l6 These 
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continued for four years, until finally, in 1533 Enriquillo 

accepted the terms or capitulaciones offered by the crown. 

Under the terms of the treaty, Enriquillo promised to 

1. Notify all the Indians that a peace had been 
agreed upon. 

2o Appoint two capitanes or expert trackers as bounty 
hunters to capture all black fugitives on the island. 

3. See that all fugitive Indians return to their owners 
or original dwelling places. 

4. Come down from the mountains- and-live on the plains 
when the peace was effected. 

In return, the Indians were given 

lo A provision real guaranteeing their safety~ 
2. A land grant. 
3. Livestock, tools, wine and oil.17 

14cni, 1:37,390. 

lSHerrera y Tordesillas, Historia General, 7:372-373. 

16Ibid., 7:377-378 

17Ibid., 10:361-362. 



Negotiations went well and within a few months· after the 

preliminary meetings had begun, the Indians left their 

mountain sanctuaries and settled in peace on the plains.l8 

This peace settlement between the Spaniards and 

these Indians cimarrones is of prime importance if one is 

to understand the pacification methods used against the 

black cimarrones by the Spaniards. The methods used 
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against the cimarrones under Enriquillo were direct military 

confrontation, the use of captured cimarrones to betray 

their fellows or to act as agents who would persuade the 

cimarrones to surrender; the sending of members of the 

clergy to convince the rebels to surrender; the transporting 

of captured cimarrones to a new area 1 or finally execution. 

If none of these methods proved effective, as a last resort, 

capitulaciones or terms were agreed upon. Capitu1aciones 

were granted to other Indians besides the followers of 

Enriquillo during the colonial period.l9 Of importance is 

18rbid., 10:361-362. The chronicler repeatedly stated 
that the war lasted thirteen years. If it began in 1519 and 
ended in 1533, it lasted at least fourteen; Sacor Esc1avitud 
de la Raza Africana, 1:261, reports that a few days after 
the war ended, the followers of Enriquillo caught and 
returned some fugitive Blacks. 

19Manuel Serrano y Sanz, ed., Re1aciones Historicas y 
Geograficas de America Central in Coleccion de Libras y 
Documentos referentes a la Historia de America vo1. 8 
(Madrid: Liberfa General de Victoriano Suarez, 1904-1929), 
p. 110, reports another example of these Indian capitulaciones 
which was made in 1655 with the Guaym{ Indians near Panama; 
Helps, The Conquerors, 2:110-lll, presents the instrudtions 
given to Pedrarias by the crown in 1514. Before going to 
Castilla del Oro, Pedrarias was given the power to make 
agreements with caciques of the area. This was don~, it 
was pointed out, so the Indians would work for the Spaniards 
and not flee to the mountains as they did in Hispaniola. 
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the implementation of capitulaciones in the New World 

between the Spanish Crown and persons who were not Spaniards 

and who had successfully sustained a rebellion against 

Spani~h control. Although the Spaniards relied primarily 

on armed confrontation to supress both Indian and black 

cimarron revolts, the capitulacion would now also be utilized. 

The method utilized in pacifying the Enriquillo 

cimarrones would be repeated with the black cimarrones 

during the succeeding centuries. These were armed confron-

tation, missionaries who fearlessly sought out the rebels 
' 

in order that they might be Christianized or brought to the 

Church and a peaceful life, and bounty hunters such as the 

capitanes agreed to in the Enriquillo capitulaciones. The 

most successful and most utilitarian method was the 

capitulaciones which brought the rebels under Spanish control, 

and ~ade them defenders of the peace against other cimarrones 

and useful citizens and defenders of the Spanish empire. 

Although peace was achieved with the Enriquillo 

cimarrones, as the capitulaciones showed, black fugitives 

were still a problem in Hispaniola. The Spaniards hoped 

to gain the Indians as allies against the black cimarrones. 

In this manner, Indian expertise could be utilized in 

hunting the black fugitives and at the same time foster 

ill-feelings and distrust between these two subject races. 

This would heighten racial division and animosity and 

lessen the threat of an alliance between them which might 

lead to a loss of control by the Spaniards. 



Blacks were serving in sufficiently large 

numbers in Hispaniola before the Enriquillo revolt 

to warrant the issuance by the crown in 1512 of specific 

instrpctions for dealing with this element of society. 

Ostensibly for the welfare of the black slave, the 

instructions were meant for social control. In that 

would be a forerunner of the coartaci6n system of 

self-purchase by the slave, the officials of Santo 

Domingo were ordered to give freedom to any black slave 

who had served his master for fifteen years, never 

been a fugitive, and paid his master fifteen gold marks.20 

Black males were to marry and be allowed to purchase the 

freedom of their families. The King suggested that 

the family purchase price might be paid by royal revenues. 

In this manner, the decree declared, ~the Blacks would be 

contented."21 The ideas presented in the decree are sound. 

20see Hubert H.S. Aimes, "Coartaci6n: A Spanish 
Institution for the advancement of Slaves into Freedmen," 
Yale Review, 17(February 1909): 412-431, presents a rather 
biased work which does not appear aware of the previously 
mentioned 1528 law; o!az Soler, Historia de la Esclavitud, 
p. 227, reports that a royal cedula of 1526 which allowed 
slaves to purchase their freedom was the forerunner of the 
coartaction law. In actuality, the basis appears to be the 
1512 law for Hispaniola; CDI, 12:9, Officials of Cuba re­
ported to the King that unmarried black males could not be 
married as ordered by a cedula of 1527 because there were 
not enough black women on the island. 
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21coleccion de documentos ineditos relatives al 
descubrimiento, conquista y organizacion de las antiguas 
posesiones espa:I'iolas de ultramar, 25 vols. (Madrid: Est. Tip. 
"Sucesores de Rivadeneyra," 1885-1932), {Hereafter cited as 
CDII) 34:144. 



It was believed that the black male slaves would be more 

peaceful and hardworking if they were allowed to work 

towards attaining their freedom. Of even more importance, 

they ~ould be less prone to flight and revolt if they had 
·' 

the stability of a family life. It was also believed that 

by giving freedom to the families of black males through 

the use of royal funds, the Blacks would be more loyal to 

the crown. No record is available that indicates the 

manner in which this early method of self.-purchase was 

to be managed. Nor is there any record of the success of 

' 
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this 1512 decree. It must be noted that no large scale ;;;~c, 

bla,ck cimarron revolt vmuld occur for seventeen years. But .ll.n.., 
in 1522, three years after the beginning of the Enriquillo j# 
revolt, the first large scale black revolt in the New World ih"" 

'\l.J'' \ . ..-~c 

occurred. , ? 

In 1522 twenty Blacks of the Jelofe tribe fled the 

in9:enio or sugar mill belonging to Admiral Diego Columbus. 22 

The Blacks had planned the revolt so that, upon fleeing 

the Columbus property, they would be joined by twenty more 

Jelofes in the countryside. Once the forty Blacks joined 

forces they began attacking Spanish holdings. One of the 

first places sacked was the property of Melchor de Castro, 

a prominent encomendero. At the de Castro property the 

22saco, Esclavitud de la Raza Africana, 1~209, calls 
the revolt location an ingenio; Herrera Y To~desillas, 
Historia General, 6~405t reported it to be a trapiche; 
Aguir~e\Seltran·,·:Poblaci6n.NeSJra, pp. 10~, 115, ::eports . 
them to be of the Wolof trJ.be, whose ancient AfrJ.can emp1re 
began at the Senegal River, The Jelofes/Holofs did not 
accept slavery and were involved in many slave revolts. 

'• 



cimarrones. :£;reed a, Black. and twelve I.ndi.an slaves whom 

they took with them. They then went toward the town of 

Azua where they hoped to get more supplies and augment 

their.: forces by freeing more slaves. 23 Meanwhile Diego 
\ 

Columbus had set out against them with a force of 

colonials. De Castro was assigned the leadership of a 

small detachment of cavalry from the Columbus force and 

ordered to discover the position of the cimarrones. When 

the Blacks were finally located, the outnumbered Spaniards 
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under de Castro charged their ranks. The cimarrones held their 

ground, but with only stones, fire hardened wooden spears, 

and a few captured Spanish weapons available to them, they 

were no match for the mounted Europeans. The Spanish attack 

smashed the ranks of the Blacks, with the survivors fleeing 

to the rocky hills where horses could not followQ Wnen the 

Admiral and the rest of the Spaniards reached the area, 

search parties were organized and within five days, the 

majority of the cimarrones were captured and hanged.24 

There are a variety of reasons why this first large 

scale black cimarron revolt failed, while Enriquillo 

continued to hold the Spaniards at bay. Unlike the Indian 

23Herrera y Tordesillas, Historia General, 6:406, 
reports that they planned to occupy Azua; Saco, Esclavitud 
de la Raza Africana, 1:209, says they were operating 
around Azua. · 

24oerrera y Tordesillas, Historia G~neral, 6:407; 
Saco, Esclavitud de la Raz~ Africana, 1:209. 



cimarrones, the Blacks did not inunediately seek to avoid 

confronting the Spaniards. Thus Spanish superiority in 

weaponry and their horses- brought defeat to the Blacks. 

The ~lacks and the Indian slaves stolen from the de Castro 

property did not make common cause against the Spaniards, 

depriving the Jelofes of their cooperation. During the 

conflict, they did not actively participate on either side, 

but when the Blacks had been routed, they came out of 

hiding and re-joined their master.25 These Indians felt 

no common cause with the Blacks. Despite the fact that 

both 'the Indians and Blacks were enslaved by the Spaniards, 

there was no sense of brotherhood against a common enemy. 

Instead, the Indians saw the Blacks as part of their 
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conquerors and oppressors. The Black taken by the cimarrones 

at the de Castro raid was, in all likelihood, an acculturated 

or ladino Black who served as overseer of the Indian slaves. 

Here, as so often would happen in revolts that would occur 

during the colonial period, the ladino Black remained faithful 

to the Spaniards and felt no sense of brotherhood with the 

Blacks who were in revolt. The first large scale black 

revolt failed. Spanish military action was successful 

against this group of Blacks, but peace was not restored to 

the island. The official reports about the suppression of 

the Jelofe revolt noted that the majority of the Blacks had 

been captured and hanged. But the reports made no mention 

of those who had survived and fled to the more remote areas. 

25Herrera y Tordesillas, Historia General, 6;407. 



These surviviors became the nucleus of the new black 

cimarron pockets of resistance~ Their numbers increased 

as they liberated other Blacks in attacks on outlying 

Spanish holdings and Spaniards traveling in the country-
.· ,• 
'· 

side. These fugitives established palenques against 
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which expeditions sent by the Spaniards proved unsuccessful. 

Even torture \-las employed in an effort to stem the growth 

of the Black cimarron groups, but these efforts were 

to no avai1. 2 6 

Ovando had been the first to warn against the 

troublesome qualities of the Blacks. Cardinal Cisneros, 

in 1516, declared that the Blacks »are good for war, 

men without honor and \vi thout faith and so are capable 

of treasons and disturbances, and when they grow in 

numbers will undoubtedly rebel, hoping to put on the 

Spaniards the same chains which they bear.n 27 Although 

the misgivings of Cisneros and Ovando would be echoed 

by others through the colonial period, many Spaniards 

seemed to feel as did Alonso Zuazo, the Juez de Residencia of 

Hispaniola. In a memorial of January 22, 1518, zuazo declared 

26saco, Escalavitud de la Raza Africana, 1:208: 

27colin A. Palmer, Slaves of the tVhite God, Blacks in 
l4exico, 1570-1650 (Cambridge, r-1ass.: Harvard University 
Press, 1976}, p. 131. 



The :(ear thqt the Blacks. can ,rebel is. ;fooli.s.h. 
There are widows in the i.sla,nd poss.ess.ions of 
Portugual l_Who arf![l' very calm with 800 slaves .. 
It is all in how they are governed. On arriving 
here I found some black thieves and other fugitives 
in the monte. I beat some, cut the ears off others 
~d no longer are there any complaints.28 

But Zuazo spoke too soon. During his period of residence 
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in Hispaniola, he would be greatly troubled by black cimarrones. 

On December 27, 1523 in the face of a growing 

black population of Hispaniola and at the time that 

Enriquillo carried out his revolt, the King ordered the 

oidores and oficiales reales of Hispaniola to punish the 

rebels severely and decreed that the work force contain no 

more than one-third Blacks. The remaining two-thirds of 

the work force were to be composed of Spaniards capable 

of bearing arms in defense of the colony.29 The impossibility 

of carrying out this command is apparent since it would 

have entailed a large scale immigration from Spain. 

The following year the order was watered down when it 

was decreed that one-third of the work force be black \rmmen.30 

28Lydia Cabrera, El Honte, Igbo Finda, Ewe Orisha, Vititi 
Nfinda(Notas sobre las rel1g1ones, la mag1a, las superst1c1ones 
y el folklore de los negros criollos y del pueblo de Cuba 
(~1iami: Coleccion del Chichereku, 1971), dedicates chapter one 

·to explaining the regard Blacks had for the monte or bush-·un.­
controlled areas which they believed were imbued with magical 
qualities; Saco, Esclavitud de la Raza Africana, 1:144; 
CDI, 1:293. 

29saco, Esclavitud de la Raza Africana, 1:218, Helps, 
Conquerors and Bondsmen, 2:231. 

30saco, Esclavitud de la Raza Africana, 1:218. 



Although the nun:tber of potentially dangerous black males 

remained constant, the black population would still out­

number the Spaniards. It is apparent that the crown felt 

that the increase in black females would provide a 

stabTizing effect on the black males. 
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As the colonization of the mainland began in earnest, 

island defenses were \veakened, as many Spaniards emmigrated 

to the new areas to share in the nev1 riches. The island 

work force also suffered as the Spaniards took large numbers 

of slaves with them. To rectify the situation, the crown 

granted Cuba and Castilla del Oro in the Isthmus permission 

to import 1,000 black slaves into each area in 1527. 31 

The work force was inqreased, but so was the potential for 

cimarron problems. That same year, Dominican priests of 

Hispaniola petitioned the King to halt importation of Blacks 

of mala casta or troublesome nature. The m~la casta Blacks, 

such as those of the Jelofe tribe, were believed to be 

the instigators of a revolt in 1527 in Puerto Rico. 32 The 

situation quickly worsened so that by 1528 mala casta Blacks 

numbering 1500 were said to be stirring peaceful Blacks to 

revolt. When notified of the situation, the crown ordered 

that the troublesome Blacks be branded and transported to 

another area.33 The solution had little lasting effect. 

Branding the slave inflamed slave hatred of the SpaniardQ 

31Ibid., 1:229 

32nfaz Soler, Historia de la Esclavitud, p. 203. 

33Herrera y Tordesillas, Historia General, 8:260. 
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If a cimarron were executed, his cash value was lost. 

Rather than do this, the cimarrones were often transported 

and sold out of the area where they had caused trouble. 

This,served to eliminate the problem from one area but 
', 

transferred it to another. Since physical punishment and 

banishment to other areas did not prove to have the desired 

result, the crown issued orders similar to those of 1512. 

Slaves were to be forced to marry and were to be allowed to 

buy their freedom after serving a "certain time" and paying 

their masters at least twenty gold marks.34 But as 

before, these royal orders had little success. 

By 1528 the royal treasury had spent 20,000 ducats on 

the cimarron wars and· an untold fortune was spent on 

privately financed expeditions.35 Commerce was affected 

by the increase in prices because a tax levied on 

commercial transactions to pay for the cimarron campaigns.36 

The unsettled conditions also made the availability of 

trade goods difficult. Again the King vainly issued 

orders hoping to rectify the situation. He decreed that 

"500 persons of slothful and bad habits that were stirring 

34vasco de Puga, Provisiones C~dulas Instrucciones 
para el Gobierno de la Nueva Espaffa in Coleccion de 
Incunables Americanos, vol. 3 (Madrid: Ediciones Cultura 
Hispan1a,. 1945), fol. 20. 

35aerrera y Tordesillas, Historia General, 8:107. 

36rbid. 



up others who we.re peaceful to rebel, should be put in 

chains and transported :f;rom the islands." 37 The crown 

also ordered that no Blacks be taken to Cuba from 

Hispa~iola because they would flee from there. As had 
'· 

been tried before, in hopes that marriage might pacify 

the Bl~cks, the presidente of the Audiencia of Santo 
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Domingo ordered that all Blacks in Cuba be forced to marry~ 38 

The last year of the 1520s saw a continuation of 

black cimarron problems. In Santo Domingo, the treasurer 

Pasamonte now wrote to the King expressing fears of the 

' black population. It was evident that the 1528 provisions 

for transporting troublesome slaves and allowing slaves to 

purchase their freedom was not having the pacifying effect 

expected. Pasamonte declared that he had written to the 

King a year and a half previously concerning the difficulties 

caused by ladino Blacks, but that nothing had been done. 

He went on to say that the problems had intensified because 

the continued shipments of Blacks caused the Spaniards to 

be greatly outnumbered by them. 39 The Spaniards \¥ere in a 

quandry. The Blacks were needed for the work force, but 

the small Spanish population lived in constant fear of 

the growing slave population. 40 The contradictory nature 

38 Ibid.r 7:377-378, 

39coi, 40:440. 

40Rosenblatt, Poblacion Indigena, 1:88, reports that 
in 1570 only 14% of the population of Hispaniola was white. 



of the situation can be seen in the letters of Gil Gonzalez 

Davila, the contador of Hispaniola in the 1530s. In one 

letter he asks the crown to send Blacks from Castile,41 

and in another points out the danger of having black 

slaves. 42 He suggested that the danger could be minimized 

by a~o~ting the Portuguese methods of preventing uprisings. 

Unfortunately, he does not explain what these are, but 

in all likelihood they were extremely repressive measures. 

This is shown by the previously mentioned methods used by 

zuaze. in 1518.43 

In 1532 Jelofe Blacks staged revolts in Puerto 

Rico and other Caribbean islands.44 The crown re-issued 

its prohibition against their importation because of the 

Jelofe propensity to revolt. It must be noted that the 

prohibition carried its own weakness. Jelofes could be 

taken to the Indies if permission was obtained.45 The 

continued involvement of Jelofes in revolts shows that 

permission was obtained because of the need for slave 

labor. 

41cni, 10:112. -.-. 

42cni, 10:114. 

43cDI, 1:293. 

44Herrera y Tordesillas, Historia· General, 10:125; 
Dfaz Soler, Historia, pp. 203-204. 

45Recopilaci6n de leyes de los reynos de las Indias, 
mandadas imprimir y publicar por la Uagestad Catolica del 
Reydon Carlos II, 4th ed. 3 vols. (Madrid, 1791; reprint 
ed., Madrid: Graficas Ultra, S.A., 1943) (Hereafter cited 
as Recopilacion}, libra 9, titulo 26, ley 29. 

41 



Cuba \vas reported cleared of Indian cimarrones in 

1530 and problems with the black slaves over. But in 1533, 

Blacks rebelled in the mines of Jobabo in Cueyba province. 

The f¢ar caused by this revolt can be seen by the extreme 
', 

measures taken by the governor. Although the rebels were 

only four in number, the governor, Hanuel de Rojas, sent 

out two armed forces to subdue them. When they were 

finally cornered, the Blacks refused to surrender and 

fought to the death. Their corpses were taken to Bayarno 

and, as was done to others who committed crimes against 

the crown, they were quartered and each head placed on 

a tall pole and prominently displayed to serve as a warning 

to others.46 

The frequency with which black cimarron revolts 

occurred made this an expensive and difficult problem for 

colon}al officials. In 1522 when the first large scale 

black revolt broke out, Spanish slave owners and citizens 

of the area took the revolt as a personal affront and 

saw this as a chance to prove their honor and bravery. 

As revolts happened with more frequency, the colonists 

lost interest in taking part in the cimarron campaigns. 

46J , . F l? . • . . .ose Luc1ano . ranco, La resencJ.a Negra en 
Nuevo Mundo (.La Habana: · Cuadernos Americanos de· la Revista 
Casa de las Americas, 1968) (Hereafter cited as Franco, 
La Presenc'ia, 1'9681, p. 93 
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This situation caused problems for colonial officials 

who began having difficulty in obtaining volunteers to help 

put down the rebellious Blacks before the situation 

escalated into a problem of the scope of the Enriquillo ., 
--r 

war. 'Royal officials found themselves forced to draft 

men tq fight. A war tax had been imposed on Hispaniola 

in 1527, but even this was not sufficient to provide for 

the expenses of defense forces. 
/ 

Doctor Beltran, an 

offici~l of the Audiencia, asked the crown to set up an 

Hermandad or constabulary similar to that used in parts 

of Spain. This constabulary was to be given the right 

to ~apture any Black or Indian fugitives, and would be 

paid by a tax on hides of cattle not butchered at the 

official slaughterhouses.47 It is not known if his 
, 

suggestions were followed, but when Gonzalo de Guzman 

became governor of Cuba, he discovered that no one would 

set out after cimarrones except on a paid basis. For 

this reason, he organized an Hermandad paid for by the 

slave:·owners. Although it proved effective, once the 

immediate danger had passed, contributions fell off so 

that by the end of 1534 the successor to Guzman terminated 

at Hermandad.48 

Besides. cimarron problems, attacks by foreign 

pirates began to trouble the Spaniards. In 1537 a 

4
·
7
cDI, 12:97. 

48saco, Esclavitud de Ta Raza Africana, 1 ~-258-259. 
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French pirate bombarded Havana and captured a Spanish 

ship near the city. The pirate added insult to injury 

by also capturing, looting, and burning three ships 

sent~ out to capture him.49 Satisfied with his plunder, 
<: 

the pirate left the island waters. While the colonials 

were_ still gripped by fears of the return of the pirate, 

between twenty and thirty cimarrones attacked and burned 

44 

the Church and houses of the town of Bavacoa. The cimarrones 

also tried to incite the indios manses or peaceful Indians 

of the area to join them.50 While the cirnarrones were 

continuing their attacks, another French pirate attacked 

Havana. Although many of the Spanish inhabitants of the 

city fled to the countryside to escape the French, they 

were no safer there because of the cimarrones. 

Hoping to pacify and safeguard the interior of 

the ~sland against the cimarron~s, a force of about thirty 

men was sent from Santiago and another from Bayamo by the 

officials of these cities. Despite the danger to their 

live~ and property, many owners of Indian and black slaves 

refused to contribute slave manpower for the expedition 

against the cimarrones. This, as one official noted, 

49 CDII, 4;426; 6:72-75. 

50 Real Academia de la Historia, .Hadrid, Coleccion de 
Don Juan Bautista Munoz (hereafter cited as RAH), tomo 63, 

"' no 997, fol. 121, 12lv, Hernando de Castro and Gonzalez 
Fern,ndez to the King, May 27, 1538. 



despite the fact that the cimarron problem had been caused 

by slave mistreatment by the owners.51 
II ;' 

Bartolome Ort~z, 

•the alcalde mayor, organized various cuadrillas or small 

grouts which he ordered out against the cimarrones. 
;' 

Ort~z 

felt that his efforts were so successful that by 1539 he 

reported the capture and execution of many cimarrones and 

that:the iSland had been made safe.52 As other officials 

had done and others would during the colonial period, Ortfz 

told the King that "many" cimarrones had been captured. 

Seldom would the reports say that all had been eliminated. 

The immediate danger was gone, but now the cimarron problem 

was in a dormant period while the surviving fugitives 

r·egrouped themselves. 

In 1542 Cuba suffered a large scale Indian cimarron 

revolt.53 The revolt was crushed by large scale military 

action by the Spaniards. Although twenty-five Indians 

were killed, thirty captured and three executed, some 

cimarrones were able to escape. These fugitives became the 

nucl~us of a renewed cimarron threat. The following year, 

in 1543, bands of combined black and Indian cimarrones, 

45 

51RAH, tome 63, nO 1.031, Bartolom~ Ortiz to the 
Council of the Indies, l-iarch 30, 1519; Haring, Spanish Empire, 
p. 206, declares that the Blacks were in league with the 
French. From the documents available, it appears that this 
was not the case. The cimarrones were probably not cimarrones 
negros, but were cimarrones indios; Franco, Presencia Negra 
(1968), comes to the same conclusion. 

52Franco Pra~encia Negra(l968), p. 93. 

53RAH, tomo 63, fol. 1116, Lope Hurtado to the 
Emperor. 



timing their actiyiti.es with the begi_nn.ing o~ the dry 

seasonr began to attack and I.'illage Spanish and Indian 

settlements~ Although thei_r number i~s not preci's.ely 

known; they were reported to be. less than the. two hundre.d 

active at that time on Hispaniola. 54 ln contrad,tcti.on 

to this assessment of the numbers in HLspaniola,, th_e 

arcedeano of; Santo Domingo informed the Council of the 

Indies in I•iarch. 1542 that two or three. thousand cimarrones. 

were operating around Cape San Ni:colas, on the punta de 
, 

Samana and on Cape Iguey. Although he. did not 1t1ake clear 
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whether these were Indians or Blacks, the arcedea,no declared 

that the f;ree and slave Blacks knew that the Spaniards 

were. afraid to dea,l harshly or overly restri_ct th.em for 

fear that they would flee and join the cimar;~:ones., For 

this reason, the Blacks had become very· bold and un~ 

cont~ollable... The arcedeano suggested that measures be 

taken to regulata the Blacks before the island was ta,ken 

over by them f. rom the outnumbered Spa,nis.h colonists'?. 55 

The usual method employed by the. individual slave 

owner to control his slaves was fear of physical pun;j:shment~ 

The growth of the cimarron problem proved this ineffective .. 

54 
b" 65 f 1 I id., tomo · , ol. 1 39, Vaca de Castro to 

the King, August 1543. 

55saco,'Esclavitud de Ta Raza Africana, 1;301-302 •. 



Hoping to rectify the situation, restrictions were 

issued to curb excesses by Blacks. Regulations were 

issued against their having dealings with Indians,56 

becomi~g free by marriage to a free woman,57 to go out 
r 
' 

alone at night, to carry weapons, to wear jewelry or 

fancy clothes,58 to own a horse,59 to gather in groups,60 
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56Recopilacion, libro 6, titulo 2, ley 21, titulo 9, 
ley 5, titulo 15, ley 14, libro 7, titulo 3, ley 2; Related 
studies are found in Edgar F. Love, "Legal Restrictions on 
Afro.,.. Indian Relations in Mexico, ti Journal of Negro History 
(Hereafter cited as JNH) SS(April 1970) :131.,..139; Nicol~s 
LeoR, Las Castas del Mexico Colonial o Nueva Espafia (Mexico: 
Talleres Graficos del 11useo Nacional de ArquelogJ.a, Historia 
y Etnografia, 1924} pp. 9-12; David M. Davidson, ~Negro Slave 
Control and Resistance in Colonial .Hexico 1 "Hispanic American 
Historical Review (hereafter cited as HAHR) 44(August I96b}::' 
235-253; William H. Dusenberry, "Discriminatory Aspects of 
Legislation on Colonial t-lexico," JNH 32(July 1948) :284-302, 
Irene Diggs, "Color in Colonial Spanish America,'·' JNH 38 (Oc­
tober 1953):403-428. 

57Recopilacion, libro 7, titulo 5, ley 5., This had 
been previously guaranteed by partida 4, ley 5 of the Siete 
Partidas and Nahuatl law. 

58Recopilaci6n, libro 5, titulo 12, ley 16 and libro 
1, titulo 5, ley 4, 7, 15, 16, 18, and 23~ 

59Eusebio Buenaventura Belena, Recopilacion Sumario 
de todos los acordados de la Real Audiencia y Sala del CrJ.men 
de Esta Nueva Espana y providencias de su Govierno: de varias 
reales cedulas y ~rdenes que despu~s de publicados la 
Recooilacion de Indias han podido recogerse asi de las 
dirigidas a la misma audiencia o gobierno, como de algunas 
otras por qu notables decisiones covendra no ignorar (M€xico; 
impreso por Don Felipe de Zuniga y Ontiveros, 1787), libro 2, 
auto 27, capitulo 56. 

60rbid., libro 2, auto 83 and 84. 



to buy wine, 61 to become members of the clergy,62 

or even hold certain occupations.63 

These restrictions failed in their purpose 
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bec~use, although the Blacks found their lives restricted~ 

animosity toward the Spaniards was increased. Disrespect 

for the law was generated as both Blacks and some colonial 

offi~ials often ignored the restrictions~ These officials 

realized that if the restrictions were enforced rigidly, 

the Blacks would flee and become cimarrones. 

By 1543 mining operations in Hispaniola were 

' severely hampered by Indian cimarrones.64 Using racial 

animosity between the Indians and the Blacks, some success 

61Archivo General de la Nacion (hereafter cited as 
AGN), Ordenanzas, tomo 2, fol. 170 and tomo 1, fol. 112; 
Charles Gibson, The Aztecs under Spanish Rule, A History of 
the Indians of the Valley of Mexico, 1519-1810 (Stanford, 
California: Stanford University Press, 1964) pp. 147-148; 
Carkos Federico Guillot, Negros Rebeldes y Negros Cimarrones~ 
Perfil Afroamericana en la Historia del Nuevo Mundo Durante 
el Sigle XVI (Buenos Aires: Farina Editores, 1961), pp. 99-102; 
Norman F. Martin, Los Vagabundos en la Nueva Espana, Sigle 
XVI (Mexico: Editorial Jus, 1957) pp. 99-102. -- .. 

62Leon, Mexico colonial, pp. 5-6; Diggs, Color in 
Spanish America, p. 416. 

63Lucas Alaman, Historia de M~xico desde los primeros 
movimientos que preparon su independencia en al ano 1808 basta 
la epoca presente 5 vo1s. (M~xico: J.M. Lara, 1849-1852), 1:25; 
Manuel Carrera Stampa, Los Gremios Mexicanos, La Organizaci~n 
Gremial en Nueva Espana 1521-1861 (Mexico: Ibero Americana de 
Publicaciones, S.A., 1954) 238-243. It appears that persons 
of Black African ancestery held many occupations from which 
they were excluded by law. See Silvio Zavala, Ordenanzas del 
Ordenanzas del Trabajo, Siglos XVI y XVII (Mexico: Editorial 
Elede, S.A., 1947) and Hector Hurnberto Sarnayoa Guevara, Los 
Gremios de Artesanos de la Ciudad de Guatemala 1524-1821--­
(Guatemala: Editorial Universitaria, 1962). 

64RAH, tomo 65, doc. 1176, fol. 212, Melchor de 
Castro to King, April 25, 1544. 



was achieved against the Indian cimarrones by employing 

Blacks as cimarron hunters. 65 But the Indian cimarrones 

were relatively few, the greater threat was the black 

cimar,fones. 

Licenciado Cerrato reported in 1544 that he had 

sent out a force that had been able to defeat two separate 

groups of cimarrones. ~1any of the first group were either 

killeq in combat, captured or had fled to their masters 

to escape their pursuers. Twenty-two of the second group 

were killed, although fifteen were able to escape. Cerrato 

declared that fear of the black cimarrones had become so 
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extreme that whenever Blacks fled their owner, the Spaniards 

began to imagine that large scale revolts would soon follow. 

He believed the troublemakers were esclavos ladinos or 

acculturated slaves born on the island. Unlike the bozal 

or African born slaves, these were the most insolent and 

most likely to rebel or become the leaders of the cimarron 

groups. It was suggested that efforts to be made to have 

few slaves born on the island. The success of benevolent 

measures utilized in the pacification of Enriquillo prompted 

Cerrato to suggest that the cimarrones might be pacified 

by granting them freedom or possible transporting them once 

they had surrendered. According to Cerrato, well treated 

slaves did not revolt. For this reason, he hoped that 

65RAH~ tomo 65, doc. 1176, fol 212. Lie. Cerrato 
to King, Feb. 27, 1554. 
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statutes could be approved by the King which would 

order good treatment for slaves. 66 

Apparently Cerrato's request was approved because 

in 1{549 laws were issued governing the treatment of Blacks. 

The laws stipulated that the slaves were to be well treated 

and not unduly punished or physically mutilated. Care was 

also to be taken to see to their religious well being. 

This :was not done wholly from humanitarian ideals. It 

was done to lessen the causes of slave flight and have 

the slaves accept their burden on earth for which they 
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would be rewarded in heaven. On the other hand, restrictions 

on slave life and punishments for infractions committed 

~ere outlined as a precautionary measure for those slaves 

who broke the law. Special attention was given to prevent 

flight. Any slave av1ay from hj s master or overseer had 

to have on his person written proof that he was not a 

fugitive. Each evening overseers were to check the areas 

under their control to make sure that no Blacks were there 

without permission. Blacks were to stay off the roads at 

night and never aid any fugitive. Penalties for slave 

owners, overseers, or Blacks who did not carry out the 

laws were also outlined. It was noted that the laws had 

66RAH_, tomo 65, doc. 1176 1 fol. 213 1 Lie. Cerrato 
to the King, Sept. 12, 1544. 



been issued and were to be carried out to prevent the 

growth of the black cimarrones.67 

Like so many laws issued for the Indies, the 

lettrr of the law was respected, but not carried out. 

Slaves continued to be mistreated and became fugitives. 

This,borne out by a report of 1570 to the Council of the 

Indies which declared that the black slaves of Hispaniola 

were living in a "barbarous state" in which they received 

no religious instructions, were naked and half starved 

and "·compelled by hunger, go to the bus.h areas and steal 

whatever they can find and do other crimes, caused by the 

mistreatment of the masters." 68 The report went on to 

suggest that an oidor be sent to investigate the problem 

so that the situation could be remedied. Apparently, there 

was no change in the situation, since slave flight and 

cimarron problems continued. 

Problems with the cimar~ones intensified in 

January 1546. A fugitive, variously identified as 
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67coi, 11;82-87. An unsigned addenda to this 
undated document makes these laws appear spurious; Frederick 
P. Bowser, The African Slave in Colonial Peru, 1524.,..1650 
(Stanford, CAlifornia: Stanford University Press, 1974}, 
P. 149 and Miguel Leon-Portilla, Alfredo Vasquez, Luis 

~ ~ / 
Gonzalez, Ernesto de la Torre, Uarl.a del Carmen Velazquez, 
Historia Documental de Mexico 2 vols. (M~xico: Universidad 
Nacional Autonma de Mexico, 1964}, 1:237-240, believe them 
to be genuine. Leon-Portilla, et al., declare them to 
be of the seventeenth century. 

68CDI, 11:69-70. 



Diego de Guzman, Diego de Campo, Diego de Ocampo or 

Dieguillo, who had eluded capture for ten years was the 

leader of the Blacks.69 In January, he led an attack 

on Sa~ Juan de la Maguana, destroying sugar refineries.70 
r 
' 

Augmented by the slaves taken from the destroyed Spanish 

properties, the cimarrones continued their trail of de­

struction to within three leagues of Santo Domingo. 71 A 

punitive expedition sent against the Blacks reportedly 

killed nineteen of the fugitives, including two of their 
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leaders. Since this effort had not succeeded in eradicating 
t 

the problem, a cavalry and an infantry force were organized 

and sent against the cimarrones. The leaders of the two 

groups were ordered not to return to Santo Domingo without 

having first exterminated the cimarrones.72 One of these 

expeditions attempted to come to terms with the fugitives. 

The B~acks were offered their own town with friars as the 

only whites allowed to enter their area. Inter-racial 

contacts were to be made only if the Blacks wished them. 

69RAH, tomo 66, doc. 1231, fol. 140, Cerrato to the 
King, February 2, 1546, and fol. 142, Cerrato to the King, 
July 29, 1546; Ibid., tomo 66, doc. 1231, fol. 140, Grageda 
to King, June 17, 1546. 

70RAH, tomo, 66, doc. 1204, fol. 69, The Justicia y 
Regimento de Santo Domingo, February 10, 1545, The letter 
is believed to really be of 1546. 

71RAH, tomo 66, doc. 1231, fol. 141, Cerrato to 
King, February 2, 1546 and tomo 66, doc. 1231, fol. 142v, 

f ./ IV' h In ormac1on sobre la Espanola hec a en Sevilla, June 17, 1546. 

72RAH, tomo 66, doc. 1231, fol. 140. Cerrato to the 
King, February 2, 1546. 



Despite this effort, the negotiations met with failure. 

The Blacks rejected dealing with the Spaniards whom they 

accused of never keeping their ·word. 73 The attacks 

resu~ed and the Spaniards were forced to again resort 
r 
' 

to military action. 
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The economy of the island suffered as the cimarrones 

continued their attacks. Small settlements were abandoned 

as citizens moved to the safety or larger towns. Although 

gold production was reported to have declined, there are 

indications that this was caused by the transfer of black 

mine~s to Honduras and Colombia.74 The situation was so 

serious that an inquiry was held in Seville in June 1546 

to investigate the cimarron problems of Hispaniola. It was 

found that at the beginning of the difficulties in the 

73saco, Esclavitud de ia Raza ~fricana, 1:5; 
l•l. q_irolamo Benzoni; .La Historia del Hundo Nuevo, trans. and 
annot. Marisa Vannini de Gerulewicz, prelim. study Le6n 
Croizat, (Caracas: Italgr~fica, C.A., 1967), p. 115; Guillot, 
Negros Rebeldes, p. 90, does not believe such negotiation 
was conducted and attributes Benzoni's mention of this to his 
"imaginacion algo fantastico de italinano."i RAH, tome 66, 
doc. 1232, fol. 141, Cerrato to King, 15 June 1546, reference 
is made to this peace attempt, and RAH, tome 66, doc. 1231, 
fol. 142v, Informacion sabre la Espanola hecha en Sevilla, 
June 17, 1546, also refers to this negotiation; Aquiles 
Escalante, El Negro en Colombia (Bogota: Universidad de 
Colombia, Facultad de Sociologia, 1964), p. 6, reports that 
they were with Enriquillo. There is no indication that 
is correct. 

74RAH, tomo 65, doc. 1176, fol. 212, Melchor de 
Castro to King, April 25, 1544, Ibid., tome 66, doc. 1204, 
fol. 69, La Justicia y Regimento de Santo Domingo to King, 
February 10, 1545; Juan Friede, Docu:me·n·tos Ineditos para la 
Historia de Colombia 10 vols. (Bogota: Academia Colombiana 
de Historia, 1960), 8:doc. 1841. 



previous year, there had been between 200 to 300 male 

and female Blacks in rebellion. The efforts to gain a 

negotiated peace was noted, and its failure was attributed 

to thr intransigence of the Blacks. Although Spanish 

forces were scouring the countryside, the report pointed 

out that the areas outside the cities were too dangerous 

for lone Spaniards and the population was in a state 

of terror because it feared that the 12,000 peaceful 

Blacks might use this opportunity to become "insolent.u75 

Unknown to the officials conducting the inquiry 

in Seville, Licenciado Cerrato was writing from Santo 

Domingo that Spanish efforts were finally having success. 

' . The c1marrones were defeated in a battle after which the 

captives v1ere hanged, burned or had their feet cut off. 

The leader, Diego de Ocampo, was cornered in the house 
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of a Spaniard in Puerto Plata. There, the trapped cimarron 

negotiated with his Spanish pursuers, promising to become 

a cimarron hunter if his life was spared. Happy to get 

the service of someone who Nhould know the area where the 

cimarrones were most likely to hide, his offer was accepted. 

75RAH, tomo 66, doc. 1231, fol. 142v. Informacion 
Sobre la Espanola hecha en Sevilla, June 17, 1546; 
Escalante, Negro en Colombia, reports that they were 
with Enriquillo. The documents seen present no evidence 
of this, although they were operating in the Cacique's 
area. 



Ocampo was pardoned and quickly gained fame for his 

anti-cimarron activities. Cerrato declared that "having 

him on our side, everyone feels safe."76 

Despite the aid of Diego, slave owners did not 

quite feel at ease with their black slaves. Slaves owners 

were so afraid of revolt that they were treating their 
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slave& "very mildly", for this reason, the situation was 

reported to have improved.77 Although the situation seemed 

to be improving, cimarrones in the cattle ranching areas 

were still so sure of themselves that they openly rode 

around·on horseback. 78 The status of law and order and 

the finances of the island were severely strained by the 

cimarrones. The campaigns against the cimarrones had 

caused the Audiencia to expend between seven and eight 

thousand reales of royal funds.79 Taxes imposed to pay 

for the campaigns caused a hardship on the inhabitants 

because of the increase in prices, while production was 

decreasing. Ill will was also created when it became common 

76RAH, tomo 66, doc. 1231, fol. 140, Cerrato to 
King, June 15, 1546 and Ibid., tomo 66, doc. 1231, fol. 141, 
Lie. Grageda to King, July 28, 1546 1 reported that he had 
become pacified along with another leader, Sebastian Demba, 
and three or four more fugitives; Saco, Esclavitud de la 
Raza Africana, 2:7, says the letter is of July 11, 1546. 

77R~H, tomo 66, doc. 1231, fol. 141, Licenciados 
Cerrato and Grageda to King, July 29, 1546; Saco, 
Esclavitud de la Raza Africana, 2:5. 

78RAH, tomo 66, doc. 1231, fol. 141, Grageda to King, 
July 28, 1545. 

79RAH, tomo 66, doc. 1231, fol. 141, Cerrato to King, 
June 15, 1546. 
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knowledge that the priests of the island were trying to 

avoid paying the cimarron campaign tax. 80 
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Notwithstanding the problems confronting the island 

bec?use of the black cimarron problems, the officials of 
r 
' 

Santo Domingo petitioned the crown in October 1546 for 

a general license for the importation of more black slaves. 

The petition was rejected for good reason.81 Although 

the reformed cimarron Diego de Ocampo was having success 

against the rebels, the problem had not been eliminated. 

Rumor set the number of fugitives as high as 1,000 8 but . 
licenciado Cerrato declared the number was more like twenty-

five or thirty thousand. Despite his attempt at playing 

down the number, he did note that the increase in cimarron 

problems had caused many of the vecinos or landowners to 

emigrate to new areas. 82 

In December of 1547, Cerrato reported to the King 

that, except for a few rebellious Blacks around Bahoruco, 

the island of Hispaniola was at peace.83 This same line 

was repeated by him in his acceptance letter of the 

governorship of Los Confines (Honduras) in March 1548. 

80Ibid.; Dfaz Soler, Historia de la Esclavitud, p. 158t 
reports that the slaves that were owned by the Counc~l of the 
Indies and assigned to Puerto Rico as cimarron hunters were 
instead used by the Governor in shipbuilding in the 1560s. 

81RAH, tomo 66, doc. 1231, fol. 14lv, La ciudad de 
Santo Domingo to King, October 15, 1546. 

82RAH, tomo 66, doc. 1231, fol. 142, Cerrato to King, 
November 16, 1546. 

83RAH tomo 66, doc. 1254, fol. 213v. Cerrato to King, 
December 18, i547. 



He confidently reported that, through his efforts, 

the situation had changed and that everything was now 

safe.84 Apparently, Cerrato was not altogether candid. 

His ~uccessor, Licenciado Grageda, reported to the King, 

in May, that two groups of cimarrones had been especially 

troublesome. One group in Higuey province had been engaged 

in b&ttle, defeated, and its leader captured and quartered. 

The second group, led by Lemba, numbering as many as 140 

fighting men, was finally located. In the ensuing combat, 
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Lemba· and most of his men were killed, captured, or executed~ 

Six or seven escaped, and within a week these cimarrones 

had more than doubled their number. 85 

The procurador general of Havana, don Pedro de 

Onate, fearful of reports of large scale cimarron revolts 

in Mexico went before the governor of Cuba on March 9, 1609 

with,an interrogatoria or survey concerning black slave 

problems in the island. 
.'V' 

Onate recommended that severe 

punishment be inflicted on the cimarrones before a revolt 
·:. 

occurred on the island, as was happening in other areas 

of the Indies.
86 

He pointed out that although cimarron 

84RAH, tomo 67, doc. 1281, fol. 4lv, Cerrato to King, 
March 7, 1548. 

SSRAH, tomo 67, doc. 1281, fol. 42 and 42v, Grageda 
to King, May 27, 1548. 

86"Papers bearing on the Negroes of Cuba in the 
Seventeenth Centuryn JNH 12(January 1927} :85, 90. Juan de la 
Barreda, mayordomo delos prooios y_rentas feared that a 
revolt of the scope of that in Mex1co could occur in Havana. 
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ordinances had been written in 1591, this had been done 

when both the vecino and black population was low. Where 

there had been less than 50 vecionos and twenty Blacks in 

1591~ in 1609 there were more than 800 vecionos and 5,000 
-· r 

Blac~s. The increase in the Black slave population made 

their control so difficult that many Blacks were known 

to have been cimarrones for between three and six years.87 

The original cimarron ordenanzas has been approved 

by a cabildo abierto held in Havana on June 6, 1591 but 

were not published until July 22, 1600. Under the ordenanzas 

a tre•asury was set up for the money to be collected from 

the vecinos and used to pay for the apprehension of the 

cimarrones. A tax of twelve reales for each black male or . 
female between the ages of eight and fifty was levied on 

the slave owners. This tax was charged on those slaves 

brought in after the date of the publication of the 

ordenanzas but not on the children of those slaves then on 

the island. An additional charge of twenty-five ducats 

was placed on Blacks hired for the livestock areas. Each 

livestock raising establishment was to have a cepo or 

punishment stock provided with a lock and key. CargadoJ:-es 

de negros who entered Havana were to be charged according 

to the rate set for fugitives. Fines were set for the 

operators of livestock establishments who hid fugitives 

in order to use them as workers, for slave owners who did 

87rbid. 



not notify the. ~uthori.ties of missing sl~ve.sr and 

ranche.a.dores were appointed to search out cimarrones and 

apprehend fugitive Blacks. If an apprehended Black had 

been•a fugitive for a few days and it was a first offense, 
-· r 

he was to be given fifty lashes. Second offenders were 

to receive two hundred lashes and be transported. Captured 

leaders of armed cimarron bands were to be hanged and the 

owner paid t-.;vo-thirds of his value. 88 

As can be seen by the last articles of the 

ordenanzas, the owners were more interested in their 

investment than in the cimarron danger. Cimarrones were 

captured, physically punished, returned to the owner, or 
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transported from the island. When the slave was transported, 

the slaye owner recouped his investment. If the slave 

was executed or killed -.;..;rhile being apprehended, the owner 

still received t\vo-thirds of his inyestment. This is 

apparent in the interrog~torio presented by Onate in 1609 ._ 

l..Yitnesses questioned by Onate declared that the owners 

prevented physical punishment being given to their slaves,89 

There can be no doubt that the slave owners did not wish 

their slaves to be lashed. A beaten slave would have been 

scarred. This would have lowered his market value in two 

ways. The decrease caused by scarring is obvious. Of 

equal importance was that scares would indicate to a buyer 

that the slave had to be harshly punished for some offense, 

88rbid., 75-85. Fifty six vecinos approved the 
original ordena,nzas. 

89rbid., pp. 85-86, saf 94. 



For this reason slave owners preferred to punish_ slaves. 

themselves. By 1609 the slave owners no longer wished 

to p~y into the cimarron treasury and used as an excuse 
;. 

for their refusal to contribute, the fact that the 

Audiencia of Santo Domingo had never confirmed the 

ordenzas. They ignored the fact that the danger from 

cimarron revolt had greatly increased since 1591. 
,..., 

Witnesses who testified before Onate declared that Havana 

had been saved from serious revolt only because of its 

presidio, but there was nothing to safeguard the country-

side. 

,v 
Despite the evidence supplied by Onate's 

i'nterrogatorio, the crown did not remedy the situation 

immediately. In 1611, officials of Havana petitioned 

the crown for approval and enforcement of the 1591 

ordn~azas. 90 Although no documentary evidence that this 

was done had come to light, by 1623, ·rancheadores are 

actively hunting cimarrones in the countryside.91 It 

must be noted that these rancheadores overstepped their 

authority by commandeering supplies, horses and pack 

animals from the Blacks living in the countryside. The 

free Blacks complained directly to the crown against 

the illegal search and seizure and were vindicated. Rather 

90
Ibid., p. 75 

91Ibid., pp. 60-61, 65. 

6a 



than alienate these peaceful Blacks and have them actively 

aid the cimarrones, the crown issued orders that the 

rancheadores were to cease such actions. 92 

-· The difficulties in eradicating cimarrones 
r 
' 
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militarily were readily apparent to many colonial o:f;ficials .. 

Unless the cimarrones formed palenques a,nd settled in one 

area~ military confrontation could not be effected~ Most 

of the cimarron activity was guerrilla.-..style at.tacks made 

by small bands of fugitives. On the other hand, even if 

the Spaniards were able to locate and eliminate the palenques 

or t~e small bands of fugitives, other slaves fled and 

began their activities. For this reason, the use of 

capitulaciones as a means of pacifying cimarrones was 

becoming recognized. The Marques de Varinas1 in 1677, 

proposed to the crown that Blacks living in the palenques 

in H~spaniola be granted capitulaciones to get them to 

return to a peaceful life~93 Capitulaciones had proven 

their value in the Antilles and the mainland as a means 

of pcicifying cimarrones. Unfortunately, it is not known 

how much importance the crown gave to the su9gestion o:f; 

the Marques. 

9 2 Ibid . , p. 6 5 •. 

93cor, 19:270-273~ These proposals made 
the Marques in 1677 entailed an end to slavery. 
undoubtedly met with opposition. 

by 
This 



Except for rare instance, foreigners were not 

allowed trading rights in the Spanish Indies.94 This 

exclusiveness caused envy and anger that the flow of 

preci_f>us metals and commodities were reserved only for 

Spain. Many foreigners retaliated by clandestine contra-

band trade, pirating Spanish trading vessels, and attacking 

coastal cities during the sixteenth century. During the 

seven~eenth century foreigners actively challenged Spanish 

claims to the West Indies and began taking control of 

some of the islands. One of the most important of these 

lost to the English was Jamaica. 

Although the English had attacked and plundered 

tl1e island for almost two months in 1597f they did not 

attempt to maintain possession.95 In 1655 Jamaica was 

reinvaded in order that permanent control could be 

effeoted. 96 The Spaniards put up a brave defense but 

were quickly defeated. Despite the loss of control 

of the harbors and coastal cities, some of the Spaniards 

fled inland and began a guerrilla war against the invaders. 

94 Haring, Spanish Empire, pp. 293-296, 304. 

95w.J. Gardner, A History of Jamaica, from its 
Di~covery by Christopher Columbus to the Year 1872 (London: 
T. Fishei'un~in, l9b9), ~. 12. 
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96 Ibid., p. 12; ~valdemar \tJestergaard, "Account of 
the Negro Rebellion on St. Croix, Danish l.Vest Indies, 17 59," 
JNH, ll(January 1926): 53, declares that the Spanish 
governor of Jamaica \<las killed by cimarrones in 1655. 



In these attacks against the English, some of the 

cimarrones of the island aided the Spaniards. Fearful 

that th~s alliance might prove formidable, the English 

distr~buted leaflets throughout the countryside offering 
-:: 

safe conduct off the island for the Spaniards and freedom 

to the Blacks. 97 The Spanish c,rown countered this attempt 

to sp~it the defenders by promising the cimarrones a life 

"full of peace, confort and rest" once the invaders were 

expelled from the island. 98 

Weighing both offers, some of the cimarrones sided 

63 

with the more successful invaders. Fearful of the cimarron 
' 

alliance with the English, the Spaniards inflitrated a 

mulatto among the cimarrones to learn their plans. The 

mulatto was discovered to be a spy and to sa.ve his life 

led a combined English-cimarron attack on the last hidden 

position of the Spaniards. With little hope of relief 

from the Spanish crown, with English control of the coasts, 

and with turncoat cimarron control of the interior, the 

survi~ors surrendered.99 

The Spaniards were ousted from Jamaica, but the 

English did not gain a complete peace. Cimarrones would 

97 . ,. . ,./ 1 · Franc1sco Horales Padron, Jama1ca Espana a 
(Sevilla~ Escuela de Estudios Hispano-·Ameri.canos, 1952) , 
p •. 383. 

98rbid., p. 275 •. 

99
rbid., pp. 375-377 · 



trouble the new European owners of the island for 

the next 140 years. 100 The problem became so critical 

in 1720 that .Hosquito Indians were imported in a vain 

effo~ to eradicate the cimarrones~ When even this did 
r 
' 

not succeed, the English granted the cimarrones a treaty 

similar to the capitulaciones employed by the Spaniards. 

In re.turn for peace the cimarrones were given title to 

their lands and guarantees of freedom. 1 0l But peace was 

an ephemeral commodity which new cimarrones would ignore. 

In 1795 the English turned to the Spaniards for aid . 
against cimarrones. The Captain General of Cuba sent 

. 
rancheadores and packs of hunting dogs, but an English 
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request for more aid the follo"V1ing year was turned down.l 02 

The cimarron problem during the eighteen century 

was somewhat different from that of the preceding two 

centuries. Previously, revolts had been numerous and for 

100Gardner, History of Jamaica, pp. 37, 39~ 
Lione.l Wafer, A New Voyage and Description of the Isthmus 
of Ankrica .•. with Wafer's Secret Report (1698} and Davis 
Expedition to the Gold Mines(l704} ed1ted L.E. Elliot Joyce 
(Oxford; The Hakluyt Society, 1934}, pp.xv,xxv, reports that 
whites enslaved and brought to Jamaica after the battle of 
Sedgemoor in Monmouth's Rebellion of 1685 often fled their 
masters and joined the black cimarrones. 

101~-vestergaard, "Negro Rebellion" p. 53. This was 
granted by the English in 1738. 

102Jose L. Franco, Document·os para la Historia de 
Venzuela Existentes en el Archive Nac1onal de Cuba 
(La Habana: Talleres del Archive Nacional de Cuba, 1960), 
p. xii. 
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the most part, were located within close proximity to 

colonial towns or roads.. In this m~nner the Blacks could 

easily acquire necessities, not available in the bush 

area, by raiding the towns or travelers on the roads • 
. · 
r 

' 
During the last century of colonial rule, large scale 

cimarron revolts and the formation of palenques seem to 

have occurred with less frequency. This is suggested 

by the lack of evidence that revolts occurred. By this 

period, the great numbers of free Blacks living in the 

urban and rural areas facilitated amalgamation of cimarrones 

into'.the population with relatively little danger of 

detection by the authorities. The ease with which this 

was done was noted as early as the late sixteenth century 

by the English priate Francis Drake. In his voyage to 

the Indies (1585-1586) Drake successfully infiltrated 

103 
six spies in the area around Cartagena. 

,• 

Another reason for the decrease in Black unrest 

was that avenues for political and economic advancement 

were~· open to Blacks as never before. Political advancement 

was made possible as Blacks became part of the military 

establishment in the militia or regular army units. 

103Irene A. Wright, Further English Voyages to 
Spanish America, 1583-1594, Documents from the Archives 
of the Indies at Seville Illustrating English Voyages 
to the Caribbean, The Spanish ~1ain, Florida and Virginia 
(London: The Hakluyt Society, 1951), pp. 226.227. 



Persons of African ancestry had played an irregular but 

at times illustrious role in the defense of the colonies 

during the sixteenth century. By the seventeenth century 

they were allowed to form units to aid in the defense of 
' 

the Spanish empire, receive royal protection, and came 

under the fuero ~ilitar. 104 The units were usually formed 

in coastal areas or where there was a significant black 

popu~ation. In Mexico, Puerto Rico and the Isthmus these 

units played a significant role in the colonial defense 

mechanism. lOS 

In the economic sector, attempts to exclude the 

Blacks from various craft guilds had little success. Some 

Blacks became master craftsmen and even shopowners.l06 

The advancement in their economic level caused some to 

seek high educational advantages for their children. 

104Recopilacion, libro 7, titulo 5, ley 10 and 
ley 11, codified the rights of black military men; Lyle 
N. Me Alister, The "Fuero Militar" in New Spain, 1764-1800 
(Gainesville: University of Florida Press, 1957). Chapter 4 
pres~nts an account of the privileges accorded to the 
Blacks under the fuero militar. 

66 

105Mc Alister, Fuero Militar, pp. 2-3. Chapter 
four is devoted to the privileges of the black military men. 

106 Samayoa Guevara, Gremios de Artesanos, pp. 139-
163, 280. 



Despite efforts to prohibit their entrance into 

establishments of higher learning, some Blacks were to 

receive the education which their funds would allow.l07 

Avenues to social advancement were opened \vi th 
.. 

the promulgation by the crown of the gracias al sacar 

law. 108 This law granted those persons of African anestry 

who could fulfill certain prerequisites and pay certain 

tariffs to change their caste classification. Once the 

caste was legally changed, obstacles to social, economic 

and political advancement were removed, permitting the 
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person of Black African ancestry to have all the privileges 

accorded to the white European class. In this manner 

persons of Black ancestry with potential leadership 
• 

qualities were allowed to fulfill their expectations for 

advancement within the framework of colonial society. 

This lessened the potential for alienation, which might 

cause these persons to become the focus of unrest within 

this sector of the colonial society, made them defenders 

o:t th~ir position and, at the same time, the Spanish 

colonial empire. 

107John Lanning Tate, "The Case of Jose Ponseano de 
Ayarza; A Document on the Negro in Higher Education," 
Hispanic American Historical Review (Hereafter cited as HAHR}, 
24(August 1944): 432-451. A related study is found in 
James F. King, "The Case of Jose Ponciano de Ayarza: A 
Document on Gracias Al Sacar," HAHR, 3l(November 1951): 
641-647; Samayoa Guevara, Gremib"Sde Artesanos, 135. 

108Tate, Jose· Ponseano, pp. 432-451; King, Jose 
Ponciano, pp. 641-647. 



Difficulties with the black population were not 

exclusive to those areas of the Antilles controlled by 

the Spaniards. During the sixteenth and seventeenth 

century Indians and members of the castes living in the ,. 
?.: 

more inaccessible western regions of Hispaniola had 

clandestinely supplied meat and carried on a contraband 

trade.with pirates who infested the Caribbean. The 

French slowly gained ascendency over the pirates and the 

western part of the island. They too found themselves 

faced.with the problem of cimarron attacks. As early 

as 1705 efforts were made to prohibit slave gatherings 

in a vain effort to prevent organization or revolts or 

mass flight.l09 The effort met with little success as the 

Blacks, led by Michel, set up palenques in the mountains 

of Bahoruco in 1719 and under Polydor at Trou in 1734.110 

But wpile these and other cimarron activities in the 

French controlled area of Hispaniola were troublesome, 
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none caused greater fear than that led by Francois Macandal 

around Lenormand de Mezf. Using voodoo as a means of 

controlling his followers, Macandal was able to organize 

the household slaves and field hands into a widespread 

conspiracy by which white families and livestock were 

killed by poisoning food and water supplies. But his 

109;Franco, Presencia Ne~ra(l968) 1 p. 76 

110rbid. 
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total control over hi_s followers and the fear he had 

instilled in the French caused him to become overconfident. 

Macandal openly attended a Black celebration and was 

arres(ed. He was tried, condemned, and publicly burned 

at the stake. His hold was so strong on the black population 

that it was believed that one day he would return to destroy 

the wllites.lll Although this belief was never realized, 

by the end of the century new black leaders would lead a 

successful war to the death against the whites in Western 

Hispaniola.ll2 

Cuba continued having minor· cimarron problems until 

1731, when Blacks and mulattoes of the ,copper mines near 

ttle city of Santiago declared themselves free. The 

rebellious miners then formed alliances with the cimarrones 

scattered throughout the bush area surrounding the mines. 

One cimarron leader promised to back the revolt with 

three hundred fifty cimarrones.ll3 When efforts to quell 

the revolt militarily failed, don Pedro Morel de Santa 

Cruz, the canon of the cathedral of Santiago de Cuba, person-

ally went to the mines to meet with the rebellious miners. 

lllrbid., pp. 77-79; Alfred Metra ux, · "Or.igines e 
historia de las cul tos vod-li," Cas a de las Americas, 6 {~lay­
August 1966) :55-56; A fictionalized a6count of the Macandal 
activities is presented in Alejo Carpentier, The Kingdom of 
This l\Torld, trans. Harriet de Onis (New York: Collier Books, 
1970). 

112see Thomas o. Ott, The Haitian Revolution, 1789-1804 
{Knoxville: University of Tennessee Press, 19731 for th1s 
period of Haitian history,. 

113pranco, Presencia Negra (1968), p. 98. 
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A:ete.r protracted ne~otiations, r1orel de Santa Cruz was 

able to arrange a peace settlement~ The Spaniards promised 

the Blacks an increase in wages and improved living 

cond~tions if they returned to nominal Spanish control •. ll4 
( 

Although the terms were accepted, the peace proved to be 

shortlived. Within a short time the Spaniards began 

going back on the promises made. When the Blacks received 

no satisfaction to their growing complaints, they again 

rebelled, fled into the bush area and set up palenques 

from which they effectively controlled the roads leading . 
to the mining center of Santiago del Prado del Cobre, and 

severely hampering exploitation of the mines. Efforts to 

defeat the rebellion militarily only served to scatter the 

cimarrones, but communications were again opened between 

Santiago del Prado del Cobre and other island cities, but 

many .. cimarrones continued at large .115 The revolt was 

settled half a century later, but only after many cimarron 

attacks, and with great expenditures ~rom the royal 

treasury. Little information is available regarding the 

resolution of the problem, but finally on April 7, 1800 a 

negoitated peace settlement was made and approved by royal 

decree. Under the terms, the Blacks agreed to live in 

peace and in return were guaranteed their freedom.ll6 

114rbid.f pp. 98-99 •. 

llSrbid., 99. 

116rbid., pp. 99-100. 



Besides the problems with the cimarrones around 

Santia_go del Prado del Cobre, the rest of the island was 

also troubled by cimarrones. A military force located a 

pale11_9ue in the Cape Cruz peninsula near Bayamo in 1749. 
::: 

After the Blacks were defeated, it was discovered that of 

the eleven adults captured, the average time they had 

been tugitives was 9.6 years. One of these did not belong 

to the captured palengue but had been apprehended while 

on a visit from his own cimarron settlement.ll7 Two years 

later, forty three more cimarrones were captured by an 

expedition from Bayamo, but "many more" escaped into the 

bush.11a 

Numerous petitions for commissions as military 

leader of expeditionary forces or suggestions for the 

eradication of the cimarrones in Cuba were put forward in 

the e.~ghteen centruy. Don Juan de Zequeira y Palma, 

regidor honoraria of the cabildo of Havana, requested in 

1791 authorization from the King to capture and return 

fugitives to their owners.ll9 The Governor of Havana in 
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117Herbert s. Klein, Slavery in the Americas, A 
Comparative Study of Virginia and Cuba (Chicago: University 
of Chicago Press, 1969}, p. 72 

llBibid. 

119"Digest of Documents in the Archives of the Indies, 
Seville, Spain, Bearing on the Negroes in Cuba and especially 
those employed in the Minas de Cobre," JNH 14{January 1929): 
65. 



1793 sought permission to name capitanes de partido to 

capture fugitives and other criminals.l20 While it is 

not know if de Zequeira y Palma or the governor were 

favor~d in their requests, cimarron problems continued 

unbated. 

There is an indication that in the 1790s some 

success against the cimarrones was obtained in the western 

part of the island. In 1797 cimarron control was removed 

from the jurisdiction of governmental officials and taken 
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over by the consulado or local commercial guild on a trial 

basis.~. Within a year, 569 cimarrones were reported captured 

in the western part of the island.121 Despite the success 

of, the consulado effort, cimarron problems did not end. 

In 1798 two slaves were hanged in the city of 

Trinidad, Cuba for having plotted the extermination of all 

the whites in the area.l22 Two years previously, a revolt 

occurred on the Boca-Nigua ingenio three leagues from 

Havana.l23 In both cases, prompt action, capture, and 

execution of the culprits prevented an extension of the 

problem, but the cimarron problem continued. 

Palenques had been set up in the mountains of 

120Ibid. 

121Klein, Slavery in the Americas, p. 157. 

122oigest of Documents, pp. 65-66. 

123Ibid., p.66. 



Jaruco near Havana before 1788 and continued their 

existance into the next century.l24 Concurrently in 

Sibarimar "on the northeast coast of Havana province,n 

othe~ palenques were known to exist. Although an 

expedition went into this area, only four blacks were 

captured while many others escaped.l2 5 

Little information concerning cimarron activities 

is available for Puerto Rico during the last half of the 

eighteen century. On the other hand there are indications 

that the cimarrones were causing difficulties. The 
t 

Oirectorio General, or handbook for war time, written by 

don Miguel de Muesas, ordered that Blacks or mulattoes 

who aided or abetted cimarrones were to be placed in irons 

for one year and work as day-laborers for the length of 

time the aided cimarron was free. If the person who aided 
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the qimarron was from a city other than San Juan, they were 

to be fined twenty five pesos and the work days absent by 

the cimarron. De Muesas also ordered that care should 

' 
be taken that the fugitive not be killed.l26 

1 24Franco, ?resencia Negra(l968l, pp. 100-101; 
Alejandro Humboldt, Ensayo Rolitico Sobre la Isla de Cuba 
Jorge Quintana, ed, lLa Habana; .A.rchiyo Nacional de Cuba, 
19 6 0 l. , p • 2 9 On ~ 

125Franco, Presencia Negra(l968), P~ 101 points out 
that between "December 20, 1796 until the end o:f 1815,'' 14, 
982 cimarrones were captured in the jurisdictional area of 
Havana province. 

126Dfaz Soler, Historia de Ta Esclavitudr p. 207. 



About thirty years later, in 1783 Governor Daban 

y Noguera is reported having reaffirmed the de Muesas 

orders, except that now punishment was left to the 

descretion of the authorities involved.l27 As can be 
( 

seen, the authorities were more interested in protecting 

the owners property than in cimarron eradication. A 

dead.slave profited no one. 

Although there is no evidence that capitulaciones 

were granted to cimarrones in Florida, the peninsula did 

have a town inhabited by fugitives slaves. These were 

not cimarrones in the true sense, but rather slaves who 
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fled from the English colonies in hopes of finding sanctuary 

muong the Spaniards. The first of these fugitives appear 

to have arrived in San Agustin in 1688. 128 Although these 

early arrivals seem to have been returned to the English, 

later arrivals were not. This was established by a royal 

decree of October 29, 1733, which granted protection to 

fugitive Blacks from English colonies. The decree ordered 

that a settlement be formed for them in a community to 
,. 

be called Gracia Real de Santa Teresa de l1ose about a 
, 

half league from San AgustJ.no By 1739 Governor Miguel 

128rrene A. Wright, ed .. , "Dispatches of Spanish 
O~ficials Bearing on the Free Negro Settlement of Gracia 
Real de Santa Teresa de Hos~, Florida, n.· JNH, 9 (April 
1924} ~ 145. 



l·iontiana informed the King that the Black community had 

become an important defensive buffer between the English 

Spanish colonies. According to the governor, the Blacks 

were~invaluable as a disruptive influence on the English 
r 
·' 

colonies because their example caused other "English 

slaves to revolt or flee their masters.nl29 

Not only were the Blacks a disruptive factor for 

the peace and tranquility of the English colonies, but 
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" they served as a vital part of the defenses of San August1n. 

Jealous of their freedom, the black community members were 

the sworn enemies of any invasion force which might attack 

the Spanish colony and attempt reenslaving them. In a 

letter to the King in 1738, spokesmen for the Blacks 

promised that they would always be "the cruelest enemies 

of the English and dedicate their lives to the last drop 

of blood to defend the crown of Spain and the Faith.nl30 

When hostilities broke out betv1een Spain and England, 

in 1739, the inhabitants of the community, on orders from 

the governor, were moved into San Agust{n to strengthen 

the defense force of the city removing them from their 

rather exposed location. Although the move was mutually 

beneficial to the Spaniards and the Blacks, once hositlities 

had ceased, the people of Hose refused to return to their town. 

129
Ibid., pp. 176-177. 

130 Ibid., p. 175. 
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They based their refusal on the belief that the English 

could easily wipe them out in the original location. The 

governor discounted this claim and declared that the 

Blacks;wished to live in the capital "con toda libertad". 131 
::: 

He then ordered two of the most vocal opponents against the 

return to Mos~ punished and cowed the rest by the threat 

of mor~ severe measures. Eventually the Blacks were 

escorted back to Mos6 under the care of four Spanish 

cavalrymen and a cabo or non-comissioned officer.l32 These 

soldiers, ostensibly assigned to the village as reinforcements 

against English attack, in reality served to prevent the 

Blacks from abandoning the community and returning to 

san Agustin. 

The Mose community was the first free black 

settlement in the area which later became the United States, 

but the settlement did not endure into the period of the 

American take over. Hhen Florida was captured by the 

English in 1763 the Blacks were moved to Cuba. 133 At 

this time, no information has appeared concerning the 

relocation of the free Blacks. 

There were innumerable black cimarron revolts in 

the Antilles between 1503 and 1800. The authorities were 

able to suppress many of these militarily, but the problem 

131rbid., ?. 182. 

132rbid., p. 187. 

133rbid., p. 145; Browning, Negro Companions, P~ 18. 
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was so widespread and the terrain so difficult to police 

that some Blacks spent most of their lives as fugitives 

in the bush areas. These Blacks posed a threat to the 

safet}! and tranquility of their area. At times they 

took part in criminal activities which threatened Spanish 

control of these areas. Crown officials then attempted 

their ·elimination by means of restrictive legislation, 

bounty.hunters, and armed confrontation. If none of 

these methods proved successful, mutually beneficial terms 

or capitulaciones were agreed upon between the cimarrones . 
and the crown. This pattern of cimarron pacification 

was established with Enriquillo's Indian cimarron war 

' between 1519 and 1533. Capitulaciones were offered by the 

Spaniards but rejected by black cimarrones in Hispaniola 

in 1546 and Jamaica in 1655. The Harques de Varinas 

suggested they be implemented in Hispaniola in 1677, 

although it is not known if his suggestion was followed. 

The cimarrones at Santiago del Cobre, Cuba were pacified 

by capitulaciones in 1731, but when the Spaniards did not 

fulfill the terms, the revolt was renewed. The revolt 

continued until 1800 when the crown issued capitulaciones 

for the cimarrones. 

Although capitulaciones were not always successful 

in pacifying rebellious elements of society, their 

success more than justified their implementation. By 
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using capitulaciones, the Spaniards were able to remove 

a danger to the peace and prosperty of the colonies. 

This dangerous element, once pacified by this method, 
~ 

becam~ peaceful citizens and staunch defenders of the 

realm. 



CHAPTER IV 

Cimarron Revolts And Pacification In New Spain: 
Mexico And Central America 

The dubious honor of being the first criminals 

executed by the Spaniards in Hexico is held by two Blacks. 

During the early Conquest period, Cortes ordered that none 

of his.men were to disturb the property of the Indians 

whom he was trying to gain as allies. Two of his black 

slaves· disobey the order and stole two chickens and some 

cloth from the Indians. The Blacks were summarily executed 

for their crime.l These were not cimarrones, but soon, 

this problem appeared to plague the Spaniards. 

Although the crown issued a c~dula on September 6, 

1521 prohibiting Blacks on explorations and conquest because 

"they fled and were prejudicial to the Indians," as was so 

often the case, the law was ignored.2 In 1523, when the 

Mixtec and Zapotec Indians revolted, many Blacks used 

the unsettled conditions to escape. Although they tried 

1 . CDI, 20.215. 

2saco, Esclavitud de la Raza Africana, 1:288-289; 
Fugitive black slaves were often sold with the buyer taking 
the risk of apprehending them himself. Examples can be 
found in Agustfn Mil lares ca.rlo and J. I. Mantecon, Indice 
y Extractos de los Protocolos del Archive de Notarias de 
Mexico, D.F. 3 vols. (Mexico: El Colegio de Mexico, 1945), 
3;doc. 1472, sale of September 9, 1528 and 2:doc. 2019, 
of November 2, 1536. In the former the seller promised 
to return the money if the slave was not captured. 
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to live among the Zapotecs, the Blacks were too acculturated 

to Spanish life to stay among the Indians. An aspect of 

their acculturation is shown by their having erected 

crosses in the areas to which they fled in thanksgiving 

" 
to God for having granted them their freedom, But their 

freedom was short lived because, ••tired of living away 

from subjection, little by little they gave themselves 

up an~ returned to their masters~"3 Unfortunately, 

there is no record of how these self-reformed cimarrones 

\vere received by the Spaniards. 

In 1536, Blacks attempted to incite the Indians 

to revolt or riot against the Spanish imposition of the 

u~e of coinage. The Spaniards had gladly welcomed the 

new coins hoping that the barter system used in Mexico 

would end. The Indians, on the other hand, tried to 

ignore this foreign intrusion of their culture.4 

Organizing themselves to circulate among the Indians, the 

Blacks planned to use the Indian dislike for the coins to 

incite riots or rebellion. In this manner, the confusion 

created by the. Indian problem would give the Blacks the 

oppo,rtunity to gain their own freedom. While the plan 

3He:z;-!;'era y Tordesi.llas, His.tori..a Ge.neral r 7; 59 . . . . 

4Haring, SJ?anish Empire, p. 289i Gibson, 
Aztecs Under Spanish Rule, pp. 3349, 352-358~ 



might have worked, it failed as the Indians reacted 

passively rather than actively to the imposition of the 

coinage. 5 Among themselves, the Indians continued using 

bart~ and the cacao bean as the medium of exchange 
·' 

and only used the new Spanish coin when forced to do so. 6 
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The apathetic reaction of the Indians to revolt did 

not d·eter the Mexican Blacks. On September 24, 1537, 

don Antonio de Hendoza, the viceroy, was notified by a 

black informant that the Blacks had elected a king and 

were plotting to kill all the Spaniards and take over 

the area with the help of the Indians. Sceptical 

of the information, the viceroy sent spies among the 

c~nspirators to corroborate or refute the charge_ When 

his spies returned, the viceroy learned that the information 

was only partially right. There were to be simultaneous 

SGibsonf Aztecs under Spanish Rule, pp. 137-158, 
reports that the Indians disliked the copper coins so, that 
they were known to throw them into the lake waters 
surrqunding the city. On the other hand, the Indians are 
reported having begun manufacture of counterfeit reales 
by 1537. 

6aaring, Spanish Empire, p. 289, reports that the 
first copper coins of two and four maravedi denominations 
first struck in 1542 found no acceptance among the Indians 
who continued using cacao beans; William Dampier, A New 
Voyage Round the World, introd. Sir Albert Gray, and a new 
introd. Percy G. Adams (New York: Dover Publication, 1968), 
p. 52, declares that he found the cacao bean used as money 
in 1682 around the Bay of Campeche; Gibson, Aztecs under 
Spanish Rule, p. 158, points out that the value ratio of 
the cacao bean to a Spanish real varied from 200 to 1 
during the sixteenth century~as low as 50 to 1 in the 
seventeenth century. At the close of the colonial period 
the ratio was 80 to 1. 



revolts in Mexico City and in the mines of Amatepec, 

led by the elected king. Moving quickly, the viceroy 

had the black king and many of the leaders of the Mexico 

Cit~ consipiracy captured, executed and quartered. A 
.· 

military force under Francisco vazquez de Coronado was 

sent to the mines of Amatepec, where twenty four of the 

black conspirators were captured and quartered. The 

viceroy also ordered some Indian rancheadores to apprehend 

fugitive Blacks. 7 The rancheadores quickly captured 

and killed four fugitive black men and a fugitive black 

woman. Wishing to prove their loyalty, the Indians 

salted the corpse to prevent decompositon and sent the 

bodies to the viceroy. 8 

By quickly using military force and Indian slave 

hunters against the Blacks, the viceroy was able to 

prevent a large scale revolt. But as Mendoza pointed 

?These fugitive hunters or trackers were also 
called capitanes, capitanes de monte, capitanes de 
partido or rancheadores. 

8cni, 2:196-200; Sacov Esclavitud de la Raza 
Africana, --r:-279-282, presents ~.1.endoza' s report to the 
crown; Querol y Roso, Neqros y I-1ulatos, pp. 122-124; J.~uis 
Gonz-alez Obregon, Rebelli~:mes Indigenas y Precursores 
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de la Independencia Mexicana en los siglos XVI, XVII y 
XVIII (Mexico: Edfciones Fuente Cultural, 1952). PP. 331-336, 
Diego Munoz Camargo, Historia de Tlaxcala (Mexico: 
Publicaciones del Ateno Nacional de Ciencias y Artes de 
Mexico, 1947), 2nd ed., p. 279; Artemio de Valle Arizpe, 
Cuadros de Mexico (Hexico: Editorial Jus, 1943), pp. 246-247; 
CDII, 6;494, presents Mendoza's state of the viceroyalty 
message to his successor Luis de Velasco. Mendoza declared 
that the Blacks had tried to rebel in the city and mines 
twice. 



out to the King in his report, the Spaniards were in a 

numerically weak position in the colony~ The Blacks, 

the re~ort continued, although outnumbered by the 
~ 

Indian~, greatly outnumbered the Spaniards and were 

pathological liars and trouble makers who would take 

any opportunity to cause sedition in the viceroyalty.9 

Paradoxically, although Mendoza mistrusted Blacks 

in general, he, like other Spanish slave owners, often 

trusted his own slaves, but not those of others. The 

Blackwhoinitially reported the revolt was not believed 

by Mendoza until verification had been obtained by his 

own household slaves whom he sent out to spy on the 
I 

conspirators. This contradictory attitude towards Blacks 

constituted a weakness in the colonial defense. Spanish 

slave owners freely discussed problems of the empire 

before their slaves. In this manner, difficulties within 

the empire became general knowledge among the black 

population. Mendoza himself pointed out to the King that 

Blacks and Indians were aware of the problems of the empire 

because reports coming from Spain and other areas were 

openly discussed in detail. Another problem was that 

communication between the overseas kindgoms and the mother 

country was difficult to maintain. Mendoza declared that 

the black revolt might have been triggered by the credence 

given to statements made by a friar who had been saying 

9coi, 2:197. 
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that the Mexican colony was cut off from Spain and 

that no ships would come from the peninsula for at 

least ten years. To remedy this problem and to act as 

q deterrent to future rebellions, Mendoza suggested 
.;: 

that ships make regular stops at viceregal ports to 

make the ties with the empire strong. He also asked 

that his previous request for increases in slave shipments 

be d~sregarded and that weapons shipments be made to 

Mexico, since its supply had been seriously depleted 

because of having sent most of them to aid in the 

conquest of Peru. The viceroy also reported that he had 
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mustered all the weaponry and men available for the defense 

bf the kingdom and found them woefully deficient. For 

this reason, he had shored up city defenses, issued new 

stringent slave restrictions and prepared Mexico City 

against attack .10 Tii'hat the viceroy did not seem to 

understand was that, although the city was now prepared 

to withstand an attack from without, the enemy was \vithin. 

Information dealing with black revolts in 

Guatemala is scanty. The earliest known problem occurred 

in late 1546 or early 1547.11 In January of the latter 

10 . 
~, 2.198-200. 

11Francisco de Paula Garc!a Pelaez, Memorias 
parp la Historia del Antigua Reino de-Guatemala 3 vols. 
in 1 (Guatemala, 1943), 1:78. 



year the numbers of black fugitives was so large that 

the Cabildo offered rewards of between three and six 

pesos. to any person who might apprehend them. It is 

not known whether this measure met with any success. 

Licenciado Cerrato, newly appointed governor 

of Honduras, found on his arrival, in 1547, a black slave 

revolt in San Pedro del Puerto de Caballos. The Audiencia 

sent out an armed expedition which defeated the cimarrones 

and hanged their leader. 12 Unfortunately, no other 

information is available concerning this revolt. 
I 

The discovery of silver in the lands of the 

Zacatecas Indians in 1546 resulted in a tremendous influx 

of Spaniards and black miners into this Mexican a~ea. 13 

~vhile no major revolts broke out, minor problems with 

fugitives did arise. The most serious occurred in the . 

mines of Guanajuato ten years later. The Indians of the 

area resisted the Spanish intrusion by beginning a 

guerr~lla war which continued for fifty years. Their 

12Hubert Howe Bancroft, The History of Central 
America 3 vols. (San Francisco, 1875-1890), 2:160; 
Garcia Pelaez, Memorias para· la Historia, 1: 1~4.,. 214 ~ 
reported they were also around "e1 volcan Cos~gu~na.' 
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13Phillip Wayne Powell, Soliders, Indians and Silver, 
The Northward Advance of New Spain, 1550-1600 (Berkeley: 
University of California Press, 1969), p. 10; Haring, 
Spanish Empire, p. 244, declares it to be 1548; Browning, 
Negro Companions, p. 19 reports revolts occurred in 
Mexico in 1542 and 1546, but no details are given. 



numbers were increased by many Blacks who fled from 

the Spaniards to join them in their raids. The boldness 

of these attacks caused the viceroy, don Luis de Velasco 

(1556-1565), to petition the Crown, in 1553, for 

alcaldes letrados (magistrates learned in law) and oidores 

to help implement justice against criminals. Velasco 

also asked that they have the same powers as the officials 

of the Santa Hermandad in Andalucia.l4 This was a court 

and a constabulary force similar to that established by 

Ferd~nand and Isabela in Spain and in the 1530s in Cuba. 

In 1543, the Crown had given alcaldes ordinaries 
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of the Indies the pmvers of the alcaldes of the Santa 

Hermandad to bring criminals to justice. This decree did 

not establish the Hermandad throughout the Indies, it 

merely allowed the extension of the Hermandad punishments 

to Spaniards and Blacks who committed crimes in rural 

areas.l5 But the alcaldes ordinaries did not provide 

prompt enough action against these criminals. Velasco 

pointed out in his request of 1553, that crimes were for-

gotten or the prisoner died in jail before ~oming to trialo 

14cartas de Indias (Madrid: Imprenta de Manuel 
G. Hern~ndez, 1877}, p. 265-266. 

15Barbara Gilbreath Montgomery, The Evolution of 
Rural Justice in New Sgain, Culminating in the Acordad'a; 
and Attempts by the Spanish· Crown to Institute the 
Tribunal in Peru (Unpublished Ph. 0. Dissertation, 
Loyola University of Chicago), p. B. 



For that reason he wanted alcaldes letrados.l6 

Apparently, alcaldes ordinaries were remiss in 

carrying out the duties ordered by the decree of 1543, 

becaus~ in 1554 Velasco wrote the King to inform him that 
( 

"all newly appointed alcaldes ordinaries had been notified 
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of their additional duties as acting judges of the Hermandad." 

He also. reported the establishment of armed bands of horse-

men who were to pursue criminals. The viceroy declared 

that since Hermanded punishments were instituted, there 

had been a decrease in felonies.l7 

·Velasco's optimism was short lived. By 1560 there 
. 

were bands of blacks numbering between fifteen and twenty 

who• caused such havoc around Guanajuato, Penjamo, and San 

Miguel that expeditions of Spanish fighting men and Indian 

warriors from outside the area were sent by the viceroy to 

stop the attacks by any means possible.l8 Similar orders 

were given to forces sent out simultaneously against 

cimarrones operating around Pachuca, Atotonilco, and from a 

palenque located in a cave near the town of Tornacustla and 

16cartas de Indias, p. 266. 

17Montgomery, Evolution of Rural Justice, p. 9. 
Among the punishments were execut1on of arrows, mutilation 
and lashing. 

18powell, Soldiers, Indians and Silver, pp. 62, 
168; Palmer, Blacks 1n ~1ex1co, p. 124; Mart1n, Los 
Vagabundos, p. 121. 



against others attacking sugar plantations, haciendas and 

travelers around Orizaba.l9 The following year the viceroy 

again issued orders for the suppression of the cimarrones 

around khe mines of Zacatecas, the San Martin mines and in 
::: 

the province of Panuco.20 A special commission was issued 

in June 1561 to Diego Holguin to capture black cimarrones, 

but despite these efforts nothing proved successful~ 

.BY 1564 Velasco realized that more action was 

necessary. He wrote to remind the King that his requests 
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for alcaldes del crimen had not been answered.21 The viceroy 

did not 'seem to understand that fear of a severe system of 

justice was not enough to deter the cimarrones. 

The town of Leon was harrassed in 1576 from a 

palenque located in a rugged area so controlled by the 
..,. 

cimarrones that it was locally known as the Canada de los 

Negros.22 A Spanish attack launched on the area only served 

to split the cimarrones into small groups which fled to the 

areas around Celaya, Yuriria, Patzcuaro and parts of Nueva 

Galicia. In this manner, the cimarrones were not destroyed 

and instead spread the problems into new areas. Guadalajara 

19Palmer, Blacks in Mexico, p. 124; Martinu Los 
Vagabu~, pp. 121-122. 

20Martin, Los Vagabundos, p. 122. 

2lcartas de Indias, p. 277 

22Martin, Los Vagabundos, p. 123; Palmer, Blacks 
in Mexico, p. 124. 



became so menaced by raids of Indians and vagabundos 

(renegade Spaniards and castizos) that in 1579 the Dean 

and Cabildo of the cathedral wrote directly to the King to 

complaih.23 But complaints did not remove the problem as 
~ 

cimarrones threatened to cut off Veracruz and the port 

of Guatulco from the interior and isolate Oaxaca in 1579. 

They also boldly attacked the large haciendas of Talcotalpa, 

Chichimecas and Almeria despite the large numbers of men 

working at these places and available to defend them. In 

retaliation, in November of that year, the viceroy, Martfn 

Enr{quez, issued a decree ordering that 11 black fugitives 

captured were to be summarily castrated, even though they 

had'committed no other crime other than having fled the 

service of their master. After castration, they were to 

be punished as required by law.24 The practice of castration 

as a means of taming recalcitrant slaves was often used 

in the Indies, although the crown had prohibited the practice 

in 1540.25 The prohibition had been ordered for humanitarian 
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reasons and because of the loss in value of a castrated slave. 

23Powell, Soldiers, Indians and Silver, Po 172. 

24Martin, Los Vagabundos, p. 123; Palmer, Blacks 
in Mexico, p. 125 

25Recopilaci6n, libro 7, titulo 5, ley 23 and 
Herrera y Tordes1llas, Historia General, 13:311-312. 



Despite this prohibition, local governments continued 

castrating cimarrones in a vain effort to pacify them.26 

These ~ocal governments could not seem to understand that 

harsh ~easures only served to heighten problems between 

the races and cause Blacks to become fugitives. 

As if problems caused by the Blacks were not enough, 

a new fear arose. This was the possibility of alliance 
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between.cimarrones and foreigners. The problem came to light 

when William Collins, a captured English pirate awaiting 

trial before the Inquisition in Mexico City, in 1573, boasted 

to a Spanish cellmate that Spanish control of Mexico could 

at any moment be wrested away if an Anglo-French alliance 

were effected. His cellmate countered that the Spaniards, 

using Blacks and Indians as auxiliaries, could easily repel 

any such attack. Collins ridiculed this statement, declaring 

that before his incarceration, he had held meetings with 

Blacks and Indians and he knew how much they hated the Spaniards. 

He went on to say that the Indians, to rid themselves of their 

.~ 26Francisco Del Paso y Troncoso, Epistolario de Nueva 
Espana, 1505-1818 16 vols. (Mexico: Antigua Librerfa Robredo 
Jose Porrua e Hijos, 1939-1942) 15:65~ In an undated letterr 
the Archbishop and bishops of Mexico complained to the King 
that fugitive Blacks were castrated; Martin,Los Vagabundosr 
p. 123, declares the letter to be of 1565; W1ll1am F. Sater, 
The Black Experience in Chile, ed. Brent Toplin, Slavery 
and Race Relations 1n Lat1n America (tvestport, Conn. : Greenwood 
Press, 1974), p. 30, reports that governor Melchor Calderon, 
in Chile, ordered that third time female black cimarrones 
have their breasts removed. 



tribute paym.ents and the Blacks their enslavement, would 

gladly help any invasion which would oust their Spanish 

overlords.27 
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i Although the conversation between the two was reported 
~ 

to the officials of the Inquisition, its significance was 

probably not at first understood. Collins' words took on 

more meaning when it was learned that Francis Drake was 

allied with black cimarrones in the Isthmus and was attacking 

the Spaniards. When these facts were ascertained, the King 

and viceregal authorities quickly reacted by reiterating old 

slave legislation and issuing new decrees that, it was hoped, 

would sufficiently hold down the Blacks and prevent their 

aiding invasions from without and prevent revolts within 

the empire. 

The laws covered most aspects of the cimarron problem, 

with an emphasis on restriction of Black life. All Blacks 

and mulattoes, whether free or slave, were ordered to live 

with their employers. No one of black ancestry could carry 

weapons. Any Black absenting himself from his master's or 

employer's service for four days was to be given fifty 

lashes and left hanging on the pillory until sunset. If he 

was absent for eight days and had traveled a league from 

27
AGN, Corsarios Franceses e Ingleses en la 

Inquisicion de la Nueva Espana, Siglo XVI (Mexico: Imprenta 
Universitaria, 1945), pp. 339-340. 
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his master's residence, he would receive one hundred lashes 

and have a twelve pound weight placed around his ankle for 

twelve _days. The first time any Black absented himself for 

at lea~t four months, he would be given two hundred lashes. 

The second time it occurred, he would be transported from 

the viceroyalty. Should the Black have been with the 

cimarrones he would be given three hundred lashes. The 

penalty.for having been with the cimarrones for six months 

was death by hanging. Anyone not reporting unauthorized 

absenses of Blacks was to receive a heavy fine~28 Cimarrones 
' 

turning themselves in during a period of grace set by the 

authorities could be pardoned. 29 A slave or Black who had 

been with the cimarrones for four months became the property 

of any white, free mulatto or Black who caught him.30 If 

he so chose, the captor could turn the cimarron over to the 

authorities and receive fifty pesos in silver. Other rewards 

given were commensurate to the amount of time the captive 

had been a fugitive. Cimarrones who surrendered to the 

authorities and also brought in other captive cimarrones 

would receive their freedom and twenty pesos for each captive 

if the captors had not been fugitives for more than four months. 

28R '1 ,/ l'b 7 . 1 5 1 21 ecop1 ac1on, 1 ro , t1tu o , ey • 

29rbid., libro 7, titulo 5, ley 24. 

30Guillot, Negros Rebeldes, pp. 63-65, 93. 



Persons giving information leading to the capture of a 

cimarron would receive one-third of the usual reward. The 

death penalty was ordered for any Black or mulatto who 

instigated another Black to become a fugitive so that later 

the fugitive could be betrayed and turned in for the reward. 

Any mulatto or Black, whether free or slave, who aided the 

cimarrones, would receive the punishment of a cimarron 

and lose half of his propertyo Any Spaniard committing the 

same crime was to be exiled from the Indies. No slave was 

to leave the service of his master under the pretense of 
I 

goin~ to capture cimarrones, unless special permission was 

obtained from both the master and the authorities. Slaves 

could be rewarded for any cimarron captured during their 

work. Blacks who joined the cimarrones for four months and 

then betrayed, made prisoners of their companions and tried 
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to turn them in to the authorities for the reward were denied 

any reward and were to be punished for having left the 

service._ of his master. 31 No one could aid deserters from the 

forces sent against the cimarrom:~s. All unemployed Spaniards, 

mulattoes, mestizos, Blacks and zambos (persons of Indian 

and Black parentage} had to serve in the cimarron campaigns. 

Any Spaniard or horro (free Black) who hid a cimarron or 

deserter from these campaigns would be fined fifty pesos 

31Recopilaci0n, libro 7, titulo 5, ley 22. 



the first time, one hundred the second, and exiled from 

the Indies the third time.32 

The restrictive legislation worked. to a degree. 

Cimar~ones hoping to obtain their freedom turned in their 

compatriots. Black slaves wanting to earn their purchase 

price betrayed the cimarrones. The division caused by 
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this system of rewards put those Blacks who were rebelliously 

incli~ed and the cimarrones on the defensive. Fearing 

betrayal, they became suspicious of unknown Blacks. But 

once they learned to ferret out those who would betray 

them, cimarron problems began again. 

Martin Enriquez, the viceroy when Collins had 

made his statements concerning the weakness of the viceregal 

defenses, could not shake his fear of the cimarrones. 

When relieved of his post in 1580, he warned his successor 

against the growing population of mixed bloods, free Blacks 

and quantities of slaves being brought into the kingdom.33 

His successor, the Conde de Coruna, soon found himself 

troubled by the cimarrones. In 1582 and 1583 he issued 

orders for the capture and punishment of Blacks, but 

little success was achieved.34 In 1591 large numbers of 

32Ibj.d,, libro 7, titulo 5, ley 25; Valle Arizpe, 
cuadros de Mexico, pp. 257-259. 

33Instrucciones que los Vireyes de Nueva Espana 
dejaron a sus Sucesores (Hexico: Imprenta Imperial, 1867}, 
p. 24 8. 

34Martin, Los Vagabundos, p. 124. 
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Blacks revolted on the estanc1a of Juan de Valdes near 

Cuitzeo. The Justicia of Cuitzeo and inhabitants of the 

area were ordered by the viceroy to apprehend the Blacks. 35 

The $uccess, if any, is not known. 
t,: 

Spain was also having problems with rebels similar 

to those of the Indies. In 1580 Seville was shaken by 

the discovery of a revolt planned by united Moriscos, 

many ~f whom were Black, in Ecija, Cordoba and other cities. 

The conspirators planned to stage a general uprising in 

which they would take over Seville and the surrounding 

areas~ The rebels planned to take control of Andalucia 

with the aid of Turks and North Africans. The similarity 

b'etween this plot and black conspiracies of the Indies 

was not lost on the Crown. The fears were heightened 

during the English attack on Cadiz in 1596. Fearing an 

English-Morisco take over, the officials of Seville ordered 

armed men to the Morisco district and imposed a curfew on 

its inhabitants.~6 Seville's large slave population and 

the danger of revolt were likened to those in the Indies 

by Alfonso Messia in a memorial to don Luis de Velasco 

sometime between 1596 and 1607 when he was viceroy of Peru. 

35Luis Ch~vez Orozco, Indice del Ramo de Indios 
del Archive General de la Nacion 2 vols. (Mexico: Institute 
Indigensta Interamer16ano, 1951),, 1:45. 

36Pike, Aristocrats and Traders& p. 166. 
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Messia pointed out that the problem of black revolt had 

already caused Lima and Seville many problems. The increase 

in bl~ck population in Peru would open Callao to the threat 

E 
of an English-Black take over. The writer showed how 

problems of the mother country affected or were used to 

affect the colonies. Here Messia plainly wished Velasco 

to halt the implementation of royal decrees limiting the 

use of Indian labor. The writer wanted to use Indian 

labor rather than invest in Black slaves.37 

Sagacious administrator that he was, Velasco SqW 

th~ough the artifice of Messia, but he needed no warning 

about the danger from black revolt. Velasco served two 

terms as viceroy of New Spain (1590-1595, 1607~1611). 

~7hile in Mexico in 1590, he ordered punishments for 

fugitives and cimarrones more drastic than those called 

for by crown decrees. His f:r·ustration at not being able 

to control cimarrones caused him to place an emphasis on 

corporal punishment, severe mutilation or death. ~'Jhere 

previously the foot was cut off, now the leg and both 

ears could be lost.38 That his efforts met with no success 

is shown by his appointment in 1591 of don Carlos Samano 

to exterminate the cimarrones in the Coatzalcoalcos 

and Papaloapan River areas. 39 The impossibility 

37cDI, 6:120-121. 

38palmer, Blacks in Mexico, p. 125. 

39Ibid., p. 126. 
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of the task can be understood in light of the vast and 

difficult geografic areas Samano was order to pacify. 

Fear·of the cimarrones caused many rumors to circulate 
,> 

t;: 
about their numbers and the location of their palenques. 

In the early 1600s an "island of Blacks" was rumored to 
, 

be located northwest of Mazatlan and a second stronghold 

was said to be located near Puerto Maldonado. 40 Whether 

these were actual palenques or figments of imagination of 

a frightened citizenry is not certain, since no other 

information concerning them is available. On the other 

hand, more immediate and actual danger was occurring. 

When don Luis de Velasco returned to Hexico in 

1607 to begin his second term as viceroy, he found great 

numbers of cimarrones around Veracruz. During the late 

sixteenth century the fugitives had been active around 

Pachuca, Guanajuato, Huaspatepec, Alvarado, Coatzalcoalcos, 

Misantla, Jalapa, Huatulco, Tlaxcoyan, Tlacotalpa;, 

/ 

Zongolica, Rinconada, Huatuco, Orizaba, Rio Blanco, Anton 

Lizardo, Medill{n, Cuernavaca,41 Totula, Tatolinga, Palmilla, 

Tumba Carretas, and around the Blanco and Papaloapan Rivers. 42 

40rbid., p. 52 

41Alguirre Beltran, Poblacibn Negra, p. 207. 

42octaviano Cerro R., Los Cimarrones en Veracruz 
y la Fundacion de Amap~ (Veracruz: Imprenta Comercial, 1951), 
pp. 10-11, 17. There is a suspicion that most of these 
attacks were done by one group. 



Since much of the activity centered in the Veracruz area 

the viceroy focused his attention on the rebels operating 

in tpis area, to prevent communications and commerce from 

bei:g cut off between the capital and the coastal region. 

Hoping to avoid a military confrontation, the 

viceroy sent Jesuit missionaries into the area in hopes 

that they might pacify the cimarrones by peaceful means. 

The priests were partially successful and were able to 

convince the Blacks that a negotiated peace might be 

effected with the crown. They informed the viceroy that 

the fugitives would become pacified if they were guaranteed 

their freedom and granted lands for themselves. The offer 

was considered by Velasco, although he appears to have 

hoped that they would voluntarily surrender before con-

cessions would have to be granted them. On .Harch 9, 1608 

Velasco wrote the King promising that, if they had not 

surrendered by the arrival of the fleet, their defeat would 

be attempted by ordering a general call to arms and using 

troops assigned to the armada.43 

The terms the cimarrones demanded reached officials 

in Veracruz on March 24, 1608. The conditions they 

demanded for peace were 

1. Any Black who had fled from his master before the 
previous September would be free. Any who fled 
after that date would be returned to h~s master, 
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43Newbery Library, Ayer Collections, "Transcripts of 
the Archive de Indias, Seville," number 58-3-16, Velasco 
to the King, March 9, 1608. 



2. They should h~ye a justicia mayor who was a 
Spariis~ layman and not a mestizo·o~ creole, 

3. No Spaniard would be allowed in their town except 
for Monday and Thursday on market day. 

4; They should have their own magistrates and 
municipal council. 

5~ Their leader Yanga, his children and descendants 
would rule them. 

6. They promised to capture all fugitive slaves and 
return them to their owner for a fee of twelve 
pesos. If the black captor should decide to 
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keep the fugitive, he would return to the owner 
another slave or pay the market value of the captured 
fugitive. · 

7. Within a year and a half they be granted these 
concessions or they would return to their previous 
state /Of war7. 

8. They be allowed to build their town between Rio 
• Blanco and the lands of Rivadeneira. 

9, They would pay tribute to his majesty as do all 
the rest of the free Blacks and mulattoes of the 
Indies. 

10. Franciscan friars be sent to minister to them and 
the cost of the church ornaments be borne by the 
King.44 

Two months later, on June 23, Velasco reported to the King 

that negotiations were continuing , but that opposition 

from slave owners was causing problems. 

44AGN, Inquisici6n, vol. 283, fol. 136-187, "Copia 
de lo~ Coricie~tos que piden los Cimarrones": Miguel Angel 
Dfaz and Fructuoso Cadeza Balderas, "La Evoluci6n de 1~ 
America y el Pensamiento del Negro Yanga," (Unpublished 
manuscript). No page numbers are cited because the authors 
were reluctant to ~ermit anyone to handle the manuscript, 
They did allow notes to be taken in answer to specific 
questions, by reading from the text; Various spellings are 
given for Yanga's name. AGN, Inguisicion, vol. 283, fo~. 
18E-187, Na'ga; Ibi~., vol. 284, fol~ 715v, Nanga; Andres 
P~rez de :Rivas, Coronica y Historia Religiosa de la 
Provincia de Jesus en Nueva Espa'iia 2 vols.. {N!§x~co: Imprenta 
del Sagrado Coraz6n de Jesfis, 1896), 1:285, Yanga; Cabrera, 
El Monte, p. 118, reports that a Nganga was an Afro-cuban 
term for zombie; Joyce Leeson, "Traditional 1'1edicine: Still 
plenty to offer," Africa Report, 15-~ctober 1970): 24, 
reports a ng'anga ~n present Zambia is a "traditional 
practitioner, a witch doctor, or herbalist. 11 Yanga is 
known to have used rituals. 



Slave owne~s feared that acceding to the 

demands of the cimarrones might incite other slaves to 

follQw the same course of action and that the free Black 

settlement might serve as a center for covert cimarron 

activity. Despite these misgivings, the cost of 

suppressing the Blacks militarily made granting the 

demands the more attractive alternative. On the other 

hand,· the viceroy planned for the eventuality of a 

breakdown in negotiations. He informed the cimarrones 

that he was sending members of the clergy to see to . . 

th.eir spirtual welfare. The priests were told to 

discover the location of the palenque and the numbers 

of cimarrones living there and return as soon as 

possible with the information. It was hoped that if 

the Blacks did not surrender or negotiations broke 

down, with this information, the viceroy could send 

a military expedition against the Blacks. But the plan 

failed when the priests reported that the Blacks were 

divided into various groups scattered over a large area. 

Distrustful of the Spaniards, the Blacks would allow 

none of the priest to visit the largest of the palenques. 

On the other hand, one priest, who had spent thirty days 

among the fugitives, met Yanga, the leader of the Blacks. 
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According to the priest, the black leader was an 

"hombre de raz6n."45 

Although no peace settlement had been agreed upon 

by Deqember 1608, the Christianization of the fugitives 
·' 

had proceeded to the point that they requested the viceroy 

to have a priest permanently assigned them. The request 

was granted, and like the priests sent before him, the 

friar was ordered to see to their spiritual well being 

and spy on the cimarrones. The viceroy reported to the 
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King that this was done so that the Spaniards could "under­

stand better the means that are appropriate to surpressing 

them." 46 

Despite the truce and lack of attacks on Spanish 

property between March and December 1608 during the 

negotiation period, the Spaniards still feared a renewal 

of cimarron violence. The fears were finally realized 

45palmer, Blacks in Mexico, p. 127; AGN, Inquisicibn, 
vol. 284, tomo 20, no. 33, fol. 715v(March 24, 1609) is a 
report by Fray Alonso de Benavides to the Inquisition reporting 
the heresies uttered by the cimarrones during his stay among 
them. One of these, Francisco Ansolo also known as Francisco 
de la Matosa, was Yanga's chief military strategist. This 
cimarron explained to the priest that the marriage customs 
among the Blacks centered around the abduction of the female 
partner by her husband to be; AGN, Historia, vol. 31, 
fol. 49-50, reports Francisco's name as Angola; Francisco 
Javier Alegre, S.J., Historia de la Provincia de la Campania 
de Jesus de Nueva Espa·i'ia annot, Ernest J. Burrus 1 S. J. and 
Feliz Zubillaga, S.H., vols. (Roma: Institutum Historicum 
S.J., 1960), 2:176, declares the name to be Francisco de 
la Motosa; Perez de Rivas, Cor6nica, 1:285, gives the name 
as Francisco de la Matiza. 

46Palmer, Blacks in Mexicor p. 127. 



on December 2 when cimarrones attacked a group of carts 

transporting goods from Veracruz to .Hexico City. Bishop 

Mota ¥ Escobar, who hurried to the scene shortly after the 

attac~, reported to the viceroy that a boy had been 

ritually murdered, two women and a baby kidnapped and the 

carts ransacked. 47 

Three weeks after the attack on the carts, 
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Francisco de Loya, a free mulatto employee of the viceroy 

reported to his employer that at a party held by free Blacks 

and mulattos on Christmas Eve, the Blacks elected a king 
I 

and queen and lesser nobles. The purpose of the party 

was. said to be "to organize an uprising." The mulatto 

' reported that when the assembled Blacks shouted "long live 

the king," one nonconformist who shouted "long live King 

Philip III," was slashed in the face and roughed up by 

the crowd. Then the gathering calmed down and celebrated 

the occasion.48 

The viceroy reacted to the information by arresting 

twenty four of the males and seven females who had attended 

the gathering. Nineteen others who had not participated 

in the affair were implicated in the conspiracy. 

47P~rez de Rivas Coronica, 1:283-284, presents a 
somewhat garbled version of the attack reported by Bishop 
Mota y Escobar in Cerro R., Cimmarones en-Veracruzf pp. 10-11: 
David R. Ringrose, "carting in the Hispanic- World,' HP.HH, '50 -(February 1970): 44-49, provides an intersting description 
of the carts and the importance of the Mexico City-Veracruz 
road. 

48Palmer, Blacks in Mexico, pp. 135-136, 



Two of thes.e we.t;'e Spania.t;"ds. Some masters of those 

accused and arrested ridiculed the escalation of the 

incident into a conspiracy by declaring that kings were 

often chosen by Blacks for festive occasions and that in 
r,; 
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this instance they were also drunk. The Alcalde del crimen, 

don Luis L6pez de Azoca, took a more alarmist view and tried 

to hold the slaves culpable for the crime of treason. 

Although it is not certain if anything was done to the 

implicated Blacks 1 a series of restrictions were issued 

against the black population. But since Spanish hysteria 

conti~ued to mount, the viceroy tried to allay the growing 

panic by having scapegoats chosen from the arrested Blacks 

t~ken from their cells and publicly lashed. 49 

On January 2, 1609 Blacks were prohibited from 

holding assemblies or dance anywhere but in the plaza 

publica of the city. These dances were to be held only 

on holidays from noon until six in the evening. When the 

fiesta ended, the Blacks were ordered to return to their 

49Mariano Picon Salas, De La Conquista a la 
Independencia (Mexico: Fondo de la Cultura Economica, 1944}, 
p. 111; declares that the revolt was caused by prohibitions 
placed on the wearing apparel of the Blacks. This is doubtful 
since these restrictions were notoriously not enforced; 
Torquemada, Monarqu{a Indiana, 1:759, declares the conspiracy 
had no basis in fact; Gonzalez Obreg6n, Rebelliones Indlgenas, 
p. 336, believes that there was a widespread conspiracy; 
Vicente Riva Palacio, Mexico a Traves de los Siglos 5 vols. 
(Mexico: Ballesca y Comp., 1887-1887}, 2:549, also believed 
in the conspiracy; Palmer, Blacks in Mexico, pp. 135-138, 
provides the only information about the "Christmas Eve 
Plot," The others make no mention of it. On the other 
hand, Palmer makes no mention of the punishment of the 
scapegoats. 



homes under penalty of being jailed, given two hundred 

lashes or fined four gold pesos.SO In January a bando 

ordered all Blacks and mulattoes having licenses to 

carr~weapons to present them to the authorities within 

six days.Sl It was hoped that the prohibitions would 

calm the fear of Spaniards of massed groups of Blacks 

and prevent any plots from being organized. 

Military preparations begun by the viceroy in 1608 

as a precaution against a breakdown in the negotiations 

which had resulted in the preliminary capitualciones of 
/ 

March 24, 1608 were speeded up. Don Pedro Gonzalez de 
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He~rera, captain of the Alabarderos of Puebla had requested 

' and received the appointment as the leader of the military 

force because his fiancee had been abducted in 1697 by 

Francisco de la Matosa, the military strategist of the 

Yanga cimarrones. Preparations had been held up when 

/ 
Gonzalez de Herrera was hurt in a training exercise. Now 

that he had recovered and the cimarrones had attacked the 

carts on the road from Veracruz causing rising tensions( the 

viceroy decided to crush the cimarrones militarily. 52 

50Gabriel Saldivar and Elise Osorio Bolio, Historia 
de la MUsica de Mexico (Mexico: Secretaria de Educacion 
Publica, Publicaciones del Departmento de Bellas Artes, 
1934) pp. 220-221. 

51AGN, Ordenanzas, tomo 1, fol. 126v. no 136. 

52Fructuoso Cadeza Balderas, Letter, July, 1971. 
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The Jesuit priests Juan Laurencio and Juan P~rez were 

added to the expedition to care for the spiritual well-being 

of the Spaniards. Of equal importance was the aid they 

could render the expedition because of the linguistic 
,> 

t;: 

skills and work of the Jesuits among the Blacks and castes. 

It was hoped that the priests might prove helpful in 

direct dealings with the cimarrones. Now, with the final 

preparations completed, the largest troop movement since 

the Conquest, comprising 150 Indian bowmen, 100 Spanish 

soldiers, 100 "adventurers" and 200 members of the castas, 

set out from Mexico City on January 26, 1609, in search 

of'the cimarron palenque.53 

53The only written account of the expedition extant 
is that of Father Juan Laurencio. This in turn was para­
phased by Andres Perez de Rivas in his Coronica. A 
manuscript copy of the Cor6nt.~ is in the AGN, Historia, 
vol. 31, fols. 47-55 gnd a microfilm of a typewritten 
transcript of the Coronica is located in the microfilm 
collection of the Pius XII Memorial Library, St. Louis, 
Missouri. The original transcript is located in the Library 
of Congress, Washington, D.C. Of particular importance 
are the 1841 Bustamente and 1960 Burrus and Zubillaga 
editions of Alegre's Historia .. The Burrus and Zubillaga 
annotations of this work are of great value. Other sources 
cited concerning the expedition used either the Bustamente 
edition of Alegre or Riva Palacio's version of the Bustamente 
work: AGN, Historia, vol. 31, fol. 4, reports that a force 
of 150 Indian bowmen, 100 Spanish soldiers and 100 adventurers 
and 200 members of the casta set out on January 26, 1609 
from t-1exico City; P~rez de Rivas, c6ronica, 1: 2 8 5, gives 
the figures as 150 Indian bowmen, 100 royal soldiers and 
an undetermined number of estancieros and herdsmen among 
whom were included Blacks, mulattoes and mestizos; Corro R., 
Los Cimarrones, p. 12, reports the departure date as January 
26, 1609, from Puebla; Antonio Carrt6n, Historia de la 
Ciudad de Puebla de los Angeles 2nd ed. 2 vols. (Puebla: 
Editorial Jose ~1. Cajica Jr., S.A., 1970), 2:21, declares 
the total number of men was 550 and states that they left 
Puebla on February 26, 1609; Riva Palacio, Mexico_Atrav~s 
de los Siglos, 2:549, reports that the expedition was 
"composed of 200 !!len ... among them Spaniards and mestizos." 



Worried that the cimarrones would be warned 

that a force was proceeding against them, an edict 

was ~ssued before the troop movement began. It prohibited 

all ~orenos, under pain of death, from leaving the 

city. The precaution proved useless. Yanga received 

word from the horros, or free Blacks, that the army 

was on the move. The cimarron leader ordered out a 

scouting party to gather information about the army 

from Spaniards living and working in the area. The 

cimarron patrol attacked and burned and estancia, 

but were unable to capture any of its fleeing in-

habitants. They were more successful at a Eastoria 

' where two Spaniards and some Indian women were captured. 

Angered by the lack of information the captives could 

give, one of the Spaniards was ritually murdered and 

scalped and the survivor taken to the main palenque. 54 

54Although there appears to be no precedent for 
scalp taking by cimarrones, this was a common practice 
among the Chichimec Indians. The question arises, did 
the cimarron who took the scalp commit the deed in the 
heat of the moment, or did he learn the technique while 
a member of the cimarron bands who raided in the Gran 
Chichimeca area pacified by Velasco during his first 
administration? 
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At the stronghold Yanga, who was reported to be of 

African royalty, made his appearance with great ceremony. 55 

The ~rightened Spanish captive was ordered to take down 
.. 

a le~ter which he was to deliver to Gonzalez de Herrera. 

The letter was a protest against enslavement and mis-

treatment by the Spaniards and a challenge to follow the 

bearer of the letter back to a military confrontation with 

the cimarrones. The Spaniard was then shown the general 

direction towards the vicergal army and set free.56 

SScimarron leaders appear to have often been of 
AfFican nobility. Roger Bastide, Las Americas Negras, 
Las Civilizaciones africanas en el Nuevo Mundo (Madrid: 
Alianza Editorial, S.A., 1969), p. 170, declares that the 
custom of electing kings and queens and their court was 
an "old luso-hispanic custom (in the Iberian Peninsula it 
only filled a religious function) that was used principally 
by black cofradias imported into Europe." On the other 
hand, the author declares that it could be traced also to 
the Congo and was used in Latin America as a means of slave 
control. If this is the case, one wonders why the election 
of kings and queens by the Blacks caused such fear in so 
many colonial Spaniards; Cabrera, El Monte, p. 24, reports 
that peaceful Blacks usually organized themselves into 
quasi-governments and elected leaders and queens because 
those chosen had been royalty in Africa; Gardner, History 
of Jamaica, pp. 132, 135, reports a black woman named Cuba, 
who dressed in "what were supposed to be royal garments," 
was a leader in a widespread revolt in Kingston in 1760. 
Six hundred Blacks involved in the plot were transported and 
sold to logwood cutters in the Bay of Honduras. Although 
Cuba was also transported, where she sent is not known; Dfaz 
Soler, Historia de la Esclavitud, pp. 19-20, states that a 
bozal Black about twenty five years old, was noticed being 
treated with great respect by other Blacks. On interrogation, 
the Blacks declared that he had been a prince in Africa. 
Reportedly, the slave refused an offer to be returned to 
Africa. 

56Alegre, Historia de la Provincia, 2:177; Perez de 
Rivas, Cor6nica, 1:285, paraphrases the letter making Yanga 
appear a boastful braggart. 
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Within a short time, guided by the former cimarron 

captive, Gonz,lez de Herrera and his force attacked the 

pal~nque. A fierce bloody battle ensued and the 

palengue was taken. But Yanga and most of his followers 

escaped. Although the Spanish expedition had victoriously 

taken the palenque, they soon found that they were trapped 

within its walls as the cimarrones began shooting flaming 

arrows into their midst. Reacting quickly, the Spaniards 

counterattacked and routed the cirnarrones, but a complete 

victory was still far off.57 
I 

During the next two weeks the Spaniards alternately 

pursued the cimarrones or tried to negotiate a surrender. 

Instead of gaining a peace, a prolonged guerrilla war of 

attrition ensued. Yanga hoped to conduct a delaying action 

to enable his survivors to move southward to the Mixtec 

Indian area. The climate, casualties, lack of supplies, 

and difficulties controlling the rowdy adventurer element 

of the army finally forced the Spaniards to seek a negotiated 

peace. The cimarron leader agreed, on the condition that 

the peace settlement receive crown sanction, and that the 

57Palmer, Blacks in Mexico, pp. 52-53, reports the 
palenque had 500 residents at its peak; Perez de Rivas 1 r 
Coronica, 1:289 and Alegre, Historia de la Provincia, 
2:180, report that the palengue had more than seventy 
houses. 



demands listed in the preliminary capitulaciones of 

March 1608 were granted. 58 
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The military solution had failed in destroying the 
-

Yanga. cimarrones in Veracruz. In May, three hundred other 
,> 

t;; 

cimarrones were operating around Acapulco.59 Thus 

communication between the capital and its two seaports 

were imperilled. Faced by a menace on both coasts, 

Velasco requested advice from the King on May 24, 1609. 

Apparently, the viceroy was hoping to speed up the 

finalization of the royal decree needed for acceptance of . 
the Yanga capitulaciones. Sometime between May and 

September, it appears that the decree arrived, for at 

this time the Blacks were settled on their lands. Gonzalez 

de Herrera took his army to Puebla, where it arrived and 

\vas disbanded on September 20, 1609.60 

Yanga and his people settled peacefully in the area 

allotted them. Although living in peace, their settlement 

• 58oavidson, Negro Slave Control, pp. 249-250. f. 74, 
declares that the date of March 24, 1608 on AGN, Inquisicion, 
vol. 283, fol. 186-187, should read March 24, 1609. He 
bases this assumption on the fact that this was the capitula­
cion eventually granted for peace. Actually, the date on the 
document is correct. In 1609 Velasco granted the previously 
discussed terms. 

59Palmer, Blacks in Mexico, p. 128 

60carrion, Historia de la Ciudad de Puebla, 2:24; 
Cadeza Balderas, Letter, declares that Gonzalez de Herrera 
did not try to seek total vengeance against the abductor 
of his fiancee because the woman requested she be allowed 
to remain with the cimarrones with her mulatto child born 
during her capitivity. 



could not officially be designated a town until they 

fulfilled royal regulations which required each villa 

to have a church, town hall, streets and roads, a plaza 

de ar~as and regular collection of taxes. In 1612, Yanga, 

against the advice of his councilors who distrusted the 

Spaniards, went to Mexico City to petition the viceregal 

authorities for official recognition of their settlement, 

which .came to be called San Lorenzo de los Negros. He 
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arrived in the capital during a time when a black conspiracy 

had been discovered and the capital was in turmoil. Soldiers. 

suspecting him to be involved in the conspiracy tried to 

ar~est him. The black leader was able to escape to the 

' house of a Spanish nobleman. But there, rather than 

surrender, he hanged himself with his ceremonial sash. 

The soldiers finally broke into the room where he had 

bar'ricaded himself, dragged the body to the Plaza r-1ayor 

where the corpse was quartered, decapitated and the skull 

placed on a spike for public display.61 

vlhen the report of his death reached his followers, 

bitterness was great, but it was decided to continue carrying 

out the peace agreement. Their frustrations were taken out 

on the Indians of the area in revenge for their help to 

the Spaniards in the capture of the original cimarron palenque. 

61 / d d ld ] . / d 1 " . D1az an Ca eza Ba eras, Evo .uc1on e a Amer1ca. 



Except for their hatred of the Indians, the Blacks lived 

as good citizens and peaceful farmers.62 Although the 

Blacks lived in peace with the Spaniards, the Spanish land 

owners of the area distrusted the San Lorenzo Blacks. 

Fearing that the town would become the center of covert 
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cimarron activity, citizens of San Antonio Huatusco founded 

/ 
a new town named Cordoba on April 26, 1618, near the black 

settlement. It was hoped that the proximity of this new 

town would deter the Blacks from law breaking. Instead 

the mutual suspicion between the two towns would develop 

animosities that would continue into the late twentieth 

century. 63 

Despite the fear and suspicion the Spaniards felt 

toward the Blacks, there was little to fear. In 1698 

John Francis Gemelli Careri, the noted Italian traveler, 

spent some time in the town of San Lorenzo de lo' Negros and 

62John Francis Gemelli Carreri, A Voyage Round the 
World, A Collection of Voyages and Travels 3rd ed. (London: 
Awnsh~~ Churchill, 1745), 4:520; Manuel Orozco y Berra, 
Historia de la dominacion Espanola en Mexico (Mexico: Antigua 
Libreria Robredo de Jose Porrua e Hijos, 1938), p. 93. 

63nfaz and Cadeza Balderasr Evolucion de la Am~rica, 
The interviewees were bitter of efforts by the townspeople 
of Cordoba to obtain a federal grant to raise a monument 
to Yanga in their town. In this manner, benefits would 
accrue to the historical enemies of the San Lorenzo Blacks. 



and described the place as "inhabited by Blacks, looks 

like some part of Guinea." He went on to say that the 

people were "handsome and apply themselves to husbandry." 

He also noted that they religiously observed the peace 
~ 
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agreement and even restored fugitive slaves to their 

masters. 64 The same sentiments were echoed by Father 

Francisco Ajofrfn in 1766. Ajofrin also pointed out that 

Spanish merchants as well as Indians resided in the town. 65 

Within almost one hundred and sixty years, the Blacks were 

becoming amalgamated into Mexican society. 

The aforementioned 1612 Black conspiracy that had 

frightened the capital and caused the death of Yanga had 

~een occasioned by the mistreatment and death of a slave 

by her owner and overreaction by Blacks and Spaniards. 

The members of a black cofradia, or social and religious 

brotherhood, incensed over the death of one of their 

64Gemelli Careri, Voyage Round the World, 4:520; 
Palmer, Blacks in Mexico, p. 130 maintains that the offer 
made by the Yanga Blacks "to return future runaways was 
an empty gesture, impossible to enforce and doubtless 
designed to placate the Spaniards." This seems in error 
since their help in capturing fugitives is known and other 
cimarrones pacified by capitulaciones were a great aid 
in maintaining peace. 

65Francisco Ajofrin, Diario del Viage gue~ 
arden de la Sagrada Congregacion de Propaganda Fide Hizo 
a la America Septrional en el Sigle XVIII 2 vols. (Madrid: 
Real Academia de Historia, 1959), 2:33, reports the town 
was founded for the Blacks in the area who obtained their 
freedom. He does not elaborate on this, but since he only 
stayed overnight, his observations are superficial; 
William B. Taylor, "Documents: The Foundation of Nuestra 
se1lora de Guadalupe de los Morenos de Amapa f II The Americas 1 

26(April 1970): 440. 



female members staged a demonstration before the 

viceregal palace and attempted to storm the home of the 

accu~ed slave killer. The viceroy reacted by having the 

mayoi of the cofradia and other Blacks arrested, beaten 

and transported.66 
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The Blacks viewed this as intolerably unfair because 

the Spaniard who had killed his slave had not been punished. 

Blacks of the brotherhood began meeting secretly with other 

cofradias of the capital to plot their revenge. A king and 

queen were chosen and plans were made to revolt on 
I 

Ch~istmas Day 1611.67 

The appointed day came and passed without incident, 

as black leaders postponed action until four companies of 

infantry bound for service in the Philippines landed at 

Veracruz and made their way over land to Acapulco for 

reembarcation. While the postponment of the revolt seemed 

the most practical course, it proved to be the undoing 

of the plot. During the postponment the Spaniards dis-

covered the conspiracy. This occurred when authorities 

were notified of the conspiracy by two Portuguese slave 

dealers who overheard and understood Blacks conversing 

about the plot in the Angola language.68 

66Querol y Roso, Negros y Mulatos, pp. 127-128, 
145-146, the cofradia had 1,500 members. 

67Ibid., pp. 128, 130, 148. 

68 rbid., pp. 128, 131, 148. 



The Portuguese reported to the authorities that 

the revolt was rescheduled for Holy Week 1612, when a 

gen~ralized massacre of the Spanish population was to 

beg!n. This information was corroborated by Fray Juan 

de Tobar who reported to the dean of the Audiencia that 

the revolt was to begin on Holy Thursday when the 

churches were full.69 The Audiencia reacted by ordering 

all the churches of Puebla and Mexico City closed on 

Holy Thursday and that no religious processions be 

allowed.70 Underthe pretext that the cofradias had not 
I 

held memorial services in honor of the death of the Queen 

o~ Spain, leaders of the cofradias were arrested and 
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spies were placed among the Blacks to ferret out information 

about the plot.71 

Tensions mounted to the point that a herd of 

rutting swine that ran through the city one night caused 

the people to believe that the running feet, wild squeals 

and loud grunts of the mating pigs were cimarrones 

attacking the city. Afraid to unlock their doors and 

69rbid., pp. 128-132, 148-194; 

70rbid., pp. 132-133, 148-149; valle Arize, 
cuadros de Mexico, pp. 252-253; Pedro Lopez de Villasenor, 
Cartilla Vieja de la Nobilisima Ciudad de Puebla(l781} 
(Mexico: Imprenta Universitaria, 1961), pp. 79-82, 
describes the fear generated in Puebla and the precautions 
taken by the Audiencia. 

71Querol y Roso, Negros y Mulatos, p. 150. 



shutters to verify the situation, the population spent 

a frightened, prayer-filled, sleepless night~ Although 

the ~ruth was discovered at dawn, it did little to 

reassure the frightened populace.72 For this reason, 

the Audiencia ordered that all unemployed Blacks and 

mulattoes were to obtain employment. They were also 

prohibited from being self-employed, from using gold 1 

silver, pearls or luxury items, and from gathering in 

groups numbering more than three persons. All cofradias 

were disbanded and licenses for Blacks to carry weapons 
I 

were suspended.73 

The authorities became even more alarmed when 

spies reported that a black brujo y hechicero or witch-

doctor was planning to use witchcraft and poison on the 

Spanish food and water supplies. Information was also 

received that two Spanish women had overheard Blacks dis-
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cussing plans to attack the jail to free the prisoners and 

contingency plans if the jailbreak was unsuccessfu1. 74 

72Gonzalez Obregon, Rebelliones Indigenas, p. 340; 
Valle Arizpe, Cuadros de Mexico, pp, 252-253; Irving A. 
Leonard, Baroque Times in Old Mexico (Ann Arbor: The 
University of Michigan Press, 1966) 1 p. 19; Querol y Roso, 
Negros y Mulatos, p. 129. 

73AGN, Ordenanzas, tomo 1, fol. 146, nos. 163 and 
164; Belena, Recopi1acion Sumario, 1ibro 2, auto 83-4-6 
and autos 135 and 137. 

74Querol y Roso, Negros y Mulatos, p. 150. 



The arrest of the plotters of the jailbreak 

and additional reports that the rebellious mood of 

the Blacks was gaining strength caused the Audiencia 

to m~ve to smash the plot once and for all. Moving 
( 

quickly, the Audiencia ordered that no Blacks or 

mulattoes could gather in any size group, be sold 

weapons or more than two accompany any Spaniard at 

any time.75 A curfew between 8 P.M. and 5 A.M. was 

imposed on Blacks and mulattoes. 76 ~vhen these measures 

seemed insufficient to placate the populace, all Blacks 

and mulattoes were ordered to turn over their weapons 

to.the Corregidor. 77 Spaniards were forbidden from 

being accompanied by or to leave unattended armed 

slaves.78 

The jailed leaders of the plot were tortured 

to discover the location of the stores of munition 

and weapons, then they were sentenced to death 

and their property confiscated. On May 2, 1612, 

75AGN, Ordenanzas, tomo 1, foL 147, no. 167. 

76 rbid. I tomo 1, fol. 148, no. 168. 

77rbid., tomo 1, fol. 149, no. 171. 

78 rbid. , tomo 1, fol. 149v, no. 172. 
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thirty five Blacks and mulattoes were hanged in the 

Plaza Mayor of Mexico City. 79 After hanging over-

nigh~ in the Plaza, the corpses were quartered and the 
( 

pieces placed on the main roads leading into the city 

as a warning to the rest of the black population.80 

Others implicated in the plot were exiled from the 

viceroyalty and all neighboring islands. Martial 

law was declared and all churches were ordered to 

close their doors at nightfall and cancel all Holy 

Week services both in Mexico City and Puebla, for 

fear of being trapped by a renewal of the plot. 

Don Fernando Altamirano y Velasco, the grandson 

of the viceroy who had pacified the cimarrones in 1609 
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79Querol y Roso, Negros y Mulatos, Po 135. Among 
those hanged were seven women; Riva Palacio, Mexico A traves 
de los Siglos, 2:256, reports that twenty-nine black males 
and four black females were hanged; Valle Arizpe, Cuadros 
de Mexico, p. 253, declares that twenty-six black males and 
seven black females were executed; Torquemada, Monarqu1a 
Indiana, tomo 1, libro 5, capftulo 74, asserts that twenty­
nine male and seven females were hanged; Carri~n, Historia 
de la Ciudad de Puebla, p. 24, states that twenty-four males 
and four females were hanged on gallows especially constructed 
for the occasion. He also notes that some "un-named historian" 
declared the numbers to be nine males and seven females. 

80Querol y Roso, Negros y Mulatos, pp. 135,152, 
does not describe the disposition of the pieces of the 
cadavers. He does indicate that the other decapitated 
bodies were buried; Torquemada, Monarquia Indiana, tomo 1, 
libro 5, cap{tulo 74 indicates that the heads were left 
hanging until the stench became unbearable; ValJe Arizpe, 
Cuadros de Mexico, p. 254, and Riva Palacio, M'xico A 
Traves de los Siglos, 2:562, echo Torquemada. 



was named commander of one of the two military units 

organized to guard and patrol the capital.8l The 

patrqls and the restrictions helped calm the Spanish 

population, but the Spaniards did not seem to realize 

that transporting of the conspirators only served to 

transfer problem Blacks to other areas and spread the 

danger of revolts. 

Although the urban 1612 conspiracy was eliminated 

with no harm befalling the Spaniards, the rural areas 

were dangerous because of the cimarrones. The Marques . 
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de. Guadalcazar, viceroy of New Spain, noted on March 3, 1618 

that one Spaniard was killed and twelve Indian women 

abducted by cimarrones.82 other cimarrones were reported 

by the Audiencia as operating around Rio Blanco and 

Orizaba.83 By October more than three hundred were 

said to be living in about one hundred houses in the Rio 

Blanco area. An attack was launched against them in 

which the leader and thirty five of the 11 most belicose" 

fugitives were captured.84 

This success is less than impressive when one 

notes that no mention is made of the other two hundred 

sixty fugitives of the area. 

81Querol y Roso, Negros y Mulatos, pp. 136, 153. 

82palmer, Blacks in Mexico, p. 130. 

83rbid. 

84rbid., p. 141. 



Revolts of varying importance occurred in the 

viceroyalty of New Spain throughout much of the first 

half of the seventeenth century. Durango suffered an 

uprising in 1616.85 A revolt planned for Holy Week, in 

1626, involving 2,000 Blacks in San Salvador was quickly 

put down.86 The Marqu~s de Cerralvo reported in March 

1636 that large numbers of cimarrones had been active, 

but that they had been pacified by "instilling fear in 

them" by sending armed forces into the affected area. 

Cerralvo declared that he had resettled cimarrones in 

towns under ciertas ordenanzas approved by the King. 

These ordenanzas or capitulaciones, declared by the 

Marques as having a beneficial effect on the Blacks, 

was granted sometime between 1630 and 1635~ The town 

was named San Lorenzo Cerralvo in honor of the Marq~s 

and was established "a considerable distance" from 

Cordoba, Veracruz.8 7 

85Ibid., p. 141. 

86Rosenblatt, Poblacion Indigena, 1:223. 
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87Mariano Cuevas, ed., Descripcion de la Nueva Espan~ 
en el Sigle XVII, por el Padre Fray Antonio vasquez de 
Espinosay otros Documentos del Sigle XVII (Mexico: Editorial 
Patria, 1944), p. 230; It appears that this referred to the 
final disposition of the Yanga Cimarrones. Taylor, Foundation 
of Nuestra Senora de Guadalupe, pp. 440, 442, declares that 
the cimarron problems continued because some of the fugitives 
refused to settle there; Eugenio del Hoyo, Indice del Ramo 
de Causas Criminales del Archive Municipal de Monterrey 
(1621-1834), (Monterrey: Institute Tecnol6gico y de Estudios 
Superiores, 1963), tomo 1, exp. 6(1627), contra Gaspar 
Francisco, nulato, tomo 6, exp. 86(1653) Contra Dionisio 
LOpez, esclavo, legajo A. exp. 966(1709) Contra Pascual, 
mulato, report what appear to be cimarron crimes. 
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Besides the generalized cimarron problem during 

the seventeenth century, there were innumerable conspiracies 

or incidents involving Blacks and mulattoes which 

endangered the peace of the colonies. The Inquisition 

played a major role in investigating some of these. 

This does not mean that the Inquisition was used as an 

instrument of slave control, but rather as an adjunct 

to the political structure with an emphasis on the 

religious welfare of the colonial population. As the 

religious guardian of the population, the Inquisition 

recorded many instances of Black and mulatto laxity in 

religious matters. But in the course of some of these 

investigations, conspiracies and simple cases of desire 

to flee from Spanish control was noted. An example of 

the latter is seen in the 1652 investigation of a slave 

accused of making a pact with the devil to help him 

escape from his master. 88 An investigation of much 

greater importance was that conducted on the conspiracy 

of don Guillen de Lampart in the 1640s. In essence, 

de Lampart conceived a grandiose plan to revolt against 

Spain and take over control of Mexico. This was to 

have been accomplished by gathering the disaffected 

members of the castes under his banner. De Lampart 

88clevy Lloyd Strout, A Catalo~ of Hispanic 
Documents in the Thomas Gilcrease Inst1tute (Tulsa: The 
Thomas Gilcrease Institute of American History and Art, 
19 6 2 ) , p • 18 , doc . 4 4 • 



hoped to attract the castes by abolition of slavery, 

removal of tribute payments, and opening of all viceregal 

political offices to the mixed races.89 He was so sure 

of his ties to the cimarrones that, despite having been 

imprisoned by the Inquisition, de Lampart counted on 

the Blacks to provide sanctuary for him after a planned 

escape. He believed he would be safe if he reached a 
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certain Pueblo de San Antonio, a center of Black rebellion 

located between the capital and Veracruz. Although the 

plan did not succeed, the grandiose plans and threat 

of a race war caused concern all the way to the throne 

of Spain itself.90 

Social discontent of the mixed races manifested 

again in 1665. An investigation by the Inquisition 

showed that the Blacks and mulattoes had organized a 

conspiracy which planned to take over the viceroyalty in 

1666.91 Unfortunately, little information is available as 

to its resolution or the fate of the conspirators apprehended. 

89Leon Portilla, et al, Historia documental, 1:260-
261; Gonzalez Obregon, Rebelliones Indigenas, pp. 241-
242, 246; Richard Boyer, "Mexico in the Seventeenth 
Century," HAHR 57(August 1977) :474-475. 

90Gonzalez Obregon, Rebelliones Indigenas, 
pp. 294-295. 

91Ibid., pp. 350-365. 
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In 1646 Blacks in the infantry companies of Veracruz 

were involved in a race riot,92 and a revolt is mentioned 

as having threatened San Salvador in 1688.93 

The threat of an alliance between foreigners 

and cimarrones was a possibility which frightened the 

Spaniards, but except for rare instances, these alliances 

did not occur or were of relatively short duration. It 

must be noted that Blacks and mulattoes did join in 

Horgan's attack on Panama (1671), 94 and the sack of Veracruz 

(1683) by Nicolas Grammont and Lorenzo Jacom~.95 But 

these and similar acts were isolated occurrences committed 

solely to gain plunder or revenge themselves on the Spaniards. 

A more worrisome problem developed in the area called 

Mosquitia on the northern coasts of Nicaragua and Honduras. 

Large numbers of Blacks fled to this area and either set 

up their own palenques or mixed with the unconquered Indians 

living there. The unions between these races developed 

a new group called the Zambos Mosquitos.9 6 This cimarron 

92Palmer, Blacks in Mexico, pp. 141-142. 

93Boletfn del Archive General del Gobierno (Hereafter 
cited as BAGG), Indice del Archive General d.el Gobierno 
(Guatemala) cifra Al, 1, leg, 25, exped. 

94Bancroft, History of Central America, 2~493. 

95Agustin de Vetancurt, Teatro Mexicano (Madrid: 
Jose Porrua Turanzas, 1961), pp. 191-192. 

96serrano y Sanz, Relaciones Historicas, 8:pp. xxxii, 
xxxiv; Rosenblat, Poblacibn Indfgena, 2:168. 



racially mixed group was actively courted by the 

English to provide an ally for their designs on Central 

America. 97 On the other hand, since this area is worthy 

of many studies in itself, it will suffice to mention 
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that the threat of an Anglo-Zambo Mosquito alliance would 

trouble the Spanish in the succeeding centuries of 

colonial life. 

Cimarron problems flared up in the Veracruz 

province of Mexico with large scale uprisings in 1725, 

1735, 1748, and 1750. 
/ ~ 

Led by two Blacks, Jose Perez 

and Jos~ Carpintero, and Miguel de Salamanca, a mulatto, 

the cimarrones took over the hacienda of Omealca and 

quickly attracted great numbers of new recruits, as 

slaves working in the area fled their capitivity to join 

them. Area slave owners organized small groups of 

fighting men to engage the cimarrones and minor 

skirmishes resulted which had little effect on the uprising. 

Finally a six-hundred man force was able to engage the 

cimarrones, defeat and kill the leaders. But the victory 

was not a complete success. The cimarron war cost 19,000 

pesos in military expenditures alone.98 This loss in 

life, private property and revenues is not known. 

97nancroft, History of Central America, 2:600-630. 

98corro, R., cimarrones en Veracruz, pp. 19-20. 



Some were able to escape, regroup themselves, and renew 

their attacks of Spanish holdings. Despite the unrest 

in the area, the Blacks at San Lorenzo de los Negros 

remained at peace and aided the authorities by sending 

men to fight against the cimarrones.99 

The continued cimarron problems prompted the 

alcalde mayor of Teutila, don Andr~s Fern~ndez de Otahez 
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to try pacifying the cimarrones by means of capitulaciones 

as had been done with the San Lorenzo Blacks. Negotiations 

were initiated with the cimarrones but inaction by the 

viceroy and a treacherous attack on the truce meeting by 

Spanish slave owners caused the peace effort to fai1. 100 

Little success was achieved in pacifying the fugitives 

until 1760 when the Blacks split into opposing factions. 

The opponents of peace were led by a Black called Captain 

Macute. His chief lieutenant, Fernando Manuel, headed 

the group which sought to gain peace with the Spaniards. 

Tensions between the factions led to armed conflict 

which resulted in the capture of Captain Macute and 

eighteen of his followers by the supporters of Fernando 

Manuel. The peace seeking cimarrones then turned the 

dissidents over to the authorities in an effort to show 

good intentions. They then established three settlements 

99 rbid., pp. 19-22. 

lOOrbid., pp. 22-23. 



on the Rivadeneyra hacienda and set up palenques in a 

rugged area away from the settlements to be used if the 

Spaniards broke the truce.101 

Although the reformed cimarrones lived in peace, 

they received no capitulaciones nor did they receive 

official sanction or protection for their c~nmunities. 

vlhen the English attacked Veracruz in 1762, they again 

tried to show their loyalty by offering to fight the 
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invaders. The offer was accepted and they were incorporated 

into the lancer corp of Veracruz. When the peace returned, 

the Blacks went back to their settlements only to find 

that the trapicheros or sugar mill owners of the area 

were attempting to eliminate the co~nunities through the 

courts and reestablish the Blacks on their own haciendas. 

Although the case was rejected by the authorities, tensions 

were aggravated between the Blacks and the Spaniards. 102 

In 1787 the Blacks petitioned Fernandez de Otanez, 

the Alcalde Mayor of Teutila, to renew his previously 

unsuccessful effort to gain legal recognition for them. 

Despite his previously mentioned unsuccessful attempt to 

pacify this group by the implementation of capitulaciones, 

his efforts were finally rewarded. On January 12, 1768, 

lOlTaylor, Foundation of Nuestra Senora de 
Guadalupe, p. 442. 

l02rbid., p. 444. 



capitulaciones between the Blacks and viceregal 

authorities were established. These were 

1. The protection from reenslavement. 
2. The exemption from tribute payments. 
3. The right to establish in a town at Amapa. 
4. The right to appoint their own alcaldes and 

regidores. 
5. The distruction of the cimarron palenques at 

Mazateapan. 
6. The bearing of arms in the service of the 

King and the country. 
7. The capture of fugitive slaves for a bounty 

of twenty five pesos per captive. 
8. The prevention of the establishment of new 

palenques. 
9. The living under the jurisdiction of Teutila. 1 03 

Despite the official sanction for the town, the 

slave owners of the area continued in their attempts to 

place obstacles in the path of the pacification endeavor 

of Fernandez de Ota~ez. On May 21, a writ obtained from 

the alcalde of Cordoba force the Blacks to give up their 
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town and move to a new area. Although the Blacks relocated 

themselves peacefully, the trapicheros were not satisfied. 

They were hoping that the Blacks would revolt so that 

they might be reenslaved. But the Blacks did not respond 

with force and instead followed legal channels. In the 

·legal struggle which followed, the Audiencia, sided with 

the Blacks and declared that they were to be accorded 

privileges under the fuero militar since they were soldiers, 

103corro, R., Cimarrones en Veracruz, p. 26, reports 
the location of the palenques as Mazateapan; Taylor, 
Foundation of Nuestra Senora de Guadalupe, p. 445, declares 
it to be ~lazateopam. Those exempted from tribute payments 
were listed by name. It is uncertain if their descendents 
were also to be included. 



had fought in the war against the English, and were 

defenders of the realm.l04 Finally the Blacks received 

their rights. / The town, named Amapa, was officially 

established in September 1768.105 

Father Jos~ Antonio Navarro, the celebrant of 

the first Mass in the town, noted in an introduction to 

the church baptismal record that with the establishment 

of the town, cimarron problems of the area ceased.I06 

The usefulness of capitulaciones as a medium for peace 

was again proven. On the other hand, there were still 

many revolts in the viceroyalty which were put down 

without capitulaciones. 

In 1610, seven leagues from the city of Guatemala 

in the corregimiento of Esquintepeque was a town of free 

Blacks and mulatos who chose their own alcaldes and 

regidores from among their own ranks. These Blacks were 

responsible for the administration and peace of the area 

and captured and returned fugitive Blacks for a bounty. 

Since these Blacks parallel the type of situation set up 

by capitulaciones with cimarrones in other areas, 

104Taylor, Foundation of Nuestra Senora de 
Guadalupe, pp. 440, 444 

105rbid., p. 446. 

106rbid 
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it is probable that they also were reformed cimarrones.l07 

The cabildo of Guatemala noted on April 29, 1617 

that large numbers of fugitive Blacks were living in the 

area around the road to the "Golfo."l08 Four thousand 

thirty tostones were reported having been spent by August 

27, 1627 on expeditions against the cimarrones.l09 No 

128 

information regarding success is mentioned, although Miguel 

de los Rios reported in 1649 that shortly before that date, 

he led and paid for an expedition that destroyed three 

black cimarron towns on Cosiguina mountain. De los Rios 

may have had success, but more often than not the cimarron 

problem was not resolved.llO 

In the early 1700s the mulattoes of Chipilapa in 

Guatemala revolted over what they believed to be political 

wrongs. An expedition sent by the Audiencia was c6mpletely 

routed. The reasons for the revolt and the methods used 

to pacify the mulattoes are sketchy. But it is reported 

that success was achieved by using harsh measures and eventual 

107v&zquez de Espinosa, Compendia y Descripcion, no" 
639; Garcfa Pelaez, Memorias para la Historia, 1:215, 
mentions a town called Gomara founded in 1611 for mulattoes 
and Spaniards. This does not seem to be the one mentioned 
by Vazquez de Espinosa. 

108Garcfa Pelaez, Memorias para la Historia, 2:27. 
It is unsure whether this refers to the Gulf of Honduras 
or the Gulf of Fonseca. 

109Ibid. 

llOibid. 



pardon with some "light punishment" given to those who 

accepted the peace.lll 

Two free Blacks of Costa Rica were accused in 1755 
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of trying to foment rebellion among bozal or recently imported 

slaves. The Blacks were said to have planned to capture the 

royal weapons depot and set up a palenque in the mountains. 

At their trial, the accused leaders were found innocent 

because of lack of evidence. Apparently the authorities were 

not completely satisfied with the decision. As a precaution 

against their further involvement in plots, the Blacks were 

separated and exiled from the city of Cartago.ll2 

A revolt of the militia company of Pardos of Nicaragua 

was feared in 1741. Although the Blacks were involved in 

minor civil disturbances, the problem proved to be political 

rather than racial.ll3 In this instance as so often happened, 

armed Blacks serving as colonial law or peace officers were 

suspected of seeking to overthrow Spanish control. During 

civil disturbances in Guatemala in November 1766, these 

suspicions flared. Mulattoes were armed to serve in patrols 

lllpray Francisco Ximenez, Historia de la Provincia 
de San Vicente de Chiapa y Guatemala de la Orden de Predicadores 
3 vols. (Guatemala: Tipografia Nacional, 1929-1931), 3:340. 

112"Indice de la Seccibn Colonial," Revista de los 
Archives Nacionales (San Jose, Costa Rica), documento no 6231, 
fol. 28. 

113~suplemento," Revista Conservadora del Pensamiento 
Centroamericano (Managua, Nicaragua) 5(January 1963): 1:100-110. 
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to keep order in the capital and were continued into the 

New Year because of unstable conditions in the city. During 

the first few days of the New Year, the mulattoes were accused 

of planning to use the weapons given them to revolt. 

Although an investigation was conducted, no result is known. 114 

The area encompassing Mexico and Central America 

suffered innumerable revolts by Blacks between 1503 and 1800. 

Because these revolts were a threat to the safety and 

tranquility of these areas, colonial authorities tried to 

suppress the revolts by means of restrictive legislation, 

bounty hunters, armed confrontation and missionary work by 

the clergy. If none of these methods proved successful, 

on occasion, mutually beneficial terms or capitulaciones 

were agreed upon between the cimarrones and the crown. The 

paradigm for cimarron pacification by these methods was 

the Enriquillo Indian cimarron war in Hispaniola between 

1519 and 1533. By 1800 black cimarrones were pacified by 

the implementation of capitulaciones on two occasions in 

the area encompassing .Hexico and Central America. These 

were Yanga (Mexico 1609) and Amap~ (Mexico 1768). Although 

colonial officials saw the value in the implementation of 

capitulaciones, they were not applied indiscriminately. The 

emphasis was on the eradication by force of arms. On the 

114 "Indice del Archive General del Gobierno," 
~, cifra Al, 1. leg. 1975, exped. 13429. 



other hand, capitulaciones had proven their value as a 

medium of pacification and in making unconquerable 

cimarrones peaceful citizens and staunch defenders of 

the empire. 
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CHAPTER V 

Cimarron Revolts And Cimarron Pacification 
In The Isthmus of Panama 

The first known revolt of black slaves in the isthmus 

occurred in the city of Panama in 1525. Although the revolt 

was suppressed and the cimarrones executed, the danger was 

not eliminated.! Where ever there was a black slave popu-

lation, the potential for cimarron problems were present. The 

next serious slave uprising occurred in the town of Acla in 

1530. The fugitives fled to the abandoned town of Santa 

Maria la Antigua where they established a palenque and began 

attacking Spanish settlements in the surrounding area. The 

problem continued until 1532 when a Spanish expedition 

attacked and destroyed the palenque. Many cimarrones were 

killed, others captured and punished·, but some suvivors 

escaped to the jungle.2 There they regrouped and increased 

their numbers as more Blacks fled to join them. 

While the colonists at Acla were having their problems, 

don Antonio de 1a Gama, the governor of Panama in 1531, was 

lGuillot, Negros Rebeldes, p. 136. 

2Ibid., p. 137. 
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able to prevent a large scale revolt by issuing ~rdenanzas 

which mitigated slave life.3 As a precaution, he also ordered 

increased security measures. It was hoped that the mitigating 

ordenazas could make the slave more readily accept his status 

in society. If these did not prove effective, the security 

measures would protect the Spaniards. The crown also tried 

to lessen the slave problems by ordering that no white, Black 

loro or mulato slaves be allowed to go to the Indies from 

Europe without permission of the Casa de Contrataci6n.4 It 

was feared that these European slaves would be more trouble-

some than bozal or unaccul turated Blacks brought straight 

from Africa to the Indies. Other prohibitions were issued 

to prevent slaves merchants from going to the Moslem controlled 

area of Sardina, Mallorca and Minorca where slaves were 

relatively inexpensive.5 

Their lower cost was outweighed by the potentially 

dangerous cultural or religious beliefs which they might 

3Herrera y Tordesillas, Historia General, 9:297-298. 
This may be the revolt reported by Saco, Esclavitud de la 
Raza Africana,· 1:242-243; Escalante, Negro en Colombia, 
p. 112, repots that Panama was in a continual state of 
fear of cimarrones long in a continual state of fear of 
cimarrones long before 1530. 

4Rafael Guevara Bazan, "La inmigraci6n musulmana , 
a la America Espanola en los primeros anos de la coloniazcion, 
"Boletin Hist6rico, 10 (1966}: 41; Recopilacion, libro 9, 
titulo 26, ley 29; Rosenblat, Poblaci6n Ind!gena, 2:179n, 
believes that a loro was a mulatto or person of Black 
ancestry; Martin Delgado and Cruz Santos, Historia Extensa, 
2:163, declare the loros were descendents of the Guanches, 
the indigenous population of the Canary Islands. 

5 ,. . . /' 1 Guevara Bazan, Inrn~grac~on Musu mana, p. 46, 
law of 1550. 
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carry from the Moslem areas and spread among the Blacks and 

Indians of the New World. Despite these efforts by the crown, 

fulfillment of its orders was another matter. Various prohi-

bitions were issued but their.reiteration shows that they 

were little obeyed.6 

Taxes to pay for the suppression of the cimarrones 

were imposed in Nombre de Dios in 1537.7 Although the tax 

had been levied in Hispaniola almost ten years before, neither 

area was able to apply the money collected in such a manner 

that the cimarrones were eliminated. The eradication of the 

cimarrones in Hispaniola was important for the development 

of the island, but in the Isthmus it .was vital. The isthmus 

was the essential link between the Caribbean and the Pacific 

coast colonies of western South America. The development of 

this area and the exploitation of the wealth of Peru involved 

the shipment of large numbers of Blacks to both the Isthmian 

and the Pacific coastal areas. As their numbers increased, 

the cimarronproblemsgrew accordingly. Although Mexico and 

the Caribbean islands were important, the loss of control of 

the Isthmus to the cimarrones meant that traffic and communi-

cations would be cut off with the rich Peruvian area. Efforts 

were made to eliminate the growing numbers of cimarrones but 

little success was achieved. The problem intensified with the 

6Ibid., p. 46; Recopilaci~n, libro 9, tftulo 26, 
leyes 18 and 19. 

7saco, Esclavitud de la Raza Africana, 2:10 

r 
I 
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revolt of the black slave divers in the Pearl Islands of 

the Gulf of Panama in 1549. Under the leadership of a Black 
,__.-

!' 

named\'~-e:lipille, the Blacks set up a palenque on the Gulf of 

San Miguel which attracted many fugitives from Panama and 

the surrounding area. Fearful because so many slaves were 

fleeing to join Felipillo, the Spaniards sent a force to 

destroy the cimarron stronghold. After a fierce battle, 

Felipillo was captured and the palenque destroyed. The 

cimarron leq,der \Vas taken to Panama where Governor Clavijo 

had him publicly quartered and the rest of the captured 

cimarrones resold into slavery.a 

The defeat of the Felipillo cimarrones did not 

signal the end of the problems in the Isthmus. Fear of 

the cimarrones had caused so much of the population of the 

town of Acla to move to the larger cities that by '1552 it 

had been reduced to three or four vecinos. This prompted 

the governor of Nombre de Dios to request permission from 

the King to abandon the site.9 The following year, Nombre 

de Dios was having serious difficulties. Eight hundred 
"=:;>'" 

black cimarrones, along with some Indian allies, attacked 

traffic with impunity on the roads between Nombre de 

Dios and Panama and boat traffic on the Chagres River. 10 

8Guillott, Negros Rebeldes, p. 139, reports that the 
profits of the sale were kept by Governor Clavijo; Fray Pedro 
de Aguado, Historia de Venezuela annot. Jer6nimo Beker, 2 
vols. (Madrid: Imprenta y Editorial Maestre, 1950), 1:195 
makes no mention of the sale nor identifies those quartered. 

9saco, Esclavitud de la Raza Africana, 4:30. 

10 Ibid., 4:31 



Since three Spanish military expeditions sent out 

against the cimarrones proved unsuccessful, the governor 

of Nornbre de Dios suggested that the crown assign fifty 

or sixty men to live in a fortified settlement to be 

built in the area of greatest cimarron concentration. 

Half of these men were to be trusted black slaves who 

would be promised their freedom if they fought against 

the cimarrones.ll Apparently, this suggestion, made 

in early 1555, met with no success. On the other hand, 

the governor had not completely failed in his attempts 

to put down the cimarrones. One force sent out by 

him was able to launch a surprise attack on the palenque 

of the ci{tla:);"J;:Q!'_l<!'-eader named Ballano .12 During the 
\ 

battle, .Ballano, of Black African royalty, was captured • .. 

He was taken before the governor who signed a peace 

pact with the cimarron leader in hopes that he would 

return to the cimarron area and pacify his followers. 
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llRAH, tomo 69, doc. 1499, fol. 40.331; Guillot, 
Nesros Rebeldes, p. 144, reports that the Black slaves 
were to be the "most bellicose," who once they reached the 
area, ran away to join the cimarrones; Saco, Esclavitud 
de la Raza Africana, 4:31-32, declares them to be "negros 
de confianza.n; Lucas Fern&ndez Piedrahita, Historia General 
del Nuevo Reina de Granada 4 vols. (Bogota: Biblioteca 
Popular de Cultura Colombina, 1942), 4:174, states that there 
were "more than six hundred Blacks." 

12Aguado, Historia de Venezuela, 2:167, 174, 194, 
reports the name as Bayamo, Vayamo and Bayano; Saco, 
Esclavitud de la Raza Africana, 4:33-35; Bowser, African 
Slave, p. 178 and CDI~ 9:111, 119-120, declare it to be 
Ballano. This last is the accepted modern spelling. 



Instead, Ballano rejoined his people and led them i1. 
greater attacks against the Spaniards.l3 

Complaints soon reached the King in late 1555 

that cimarrones freely entered Nombre de Dies under cover 

137 

of night. These complaints were accompanied by a suggestion 

that a general call up of all male citizens of Uraba, 

Cartagena and Panama be made. Once men and supplies were 

gathered, an all out war could be conducted against the 

Blacks and remove forever the Isthmian cimarrones.l4 These 

suggestions had merit, but the war plan was never carried 

out. Apparently, this was because attention was drawn 

to French pirates who began attacking shipping and coastal 

settlements on the Isthmus and in northern South America.l5 

Although the King would continually receive 

complaints about the Isthmian cimarrones, the problems did 

not really receive attention until 1556. At that time the 

:Marques de ca~ete, Andres Hurtado de Mendoza arrived in the 

Isthmus on his way to assume the office of viceroy of Peru. 

~vhen he was made a\vare of the danger to his safe passage 

across the Isthmus, cimarron disruption of commerce and 

13Aguado, Historia de Venezuela, 2~195n 

14RAHr tome 69, doc. 1499, fol. 333, Francisco de 
Pradanos to K1ng, December 22, 1555; Saco, Esclavitud de 
la Raza Africana, 4:32-33. 

15RAH, tome 69, doc. 1499, fol. 333-333v. Dn. de 
Penalosa, report, December 25, 1555. 
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communication and the lack of control, the Marques decided 

to seek a resolution of the problem rather than allow the 

matter to rest in the hands of the officials of the 

affected areas. He appointed an experienced soldier, don 

Pedro de Ursua to command a military campaign to make 

an all out effort to eradicate the Isthmian cimarrones. 

Seasoned soldiers were recruited when the Marques granted 

pardons to all those guilty of taking part in the Peruvian. 

civil wars if they would serve in the Campaign.l6 The 

necessary supplies were gathered and the search began for 

the stronghold of the cimarrones. 

Information about Ballano is sketchy. Since. he 

was known only a non-Christian name, he was probably 

brought to the Indies as a bozal slave. On the other hand, 

many of his followers were ladino or acculturated Christian 

Blacks. This is apparent from the frequent use by them of 

the Spanish battle cry of Santiago when they clashed with 

Spanish expeditionary forces.l7 Ballano was able to attract 

both ladino and bozal Blacks by virtue of his royal African 

descent.l8 The ladino cimarrones were of particular value 

16saco, Esclavitud de la Raza Africana, 4:33, declares 
he received his commission from the v1ceroy; Aguado, Historia 
de Venezuela, 2:157, reports that it was the merchants. 

17Aguado, Historia de Venezuela, 2:160, 163. 

18Ibid., 1:170. 
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to Ballano since they often served as spies by slipping 

into the cities and port areas to mix with the great 

numbers of free Blacks. In this manner, they gathered 

information which served to warn Ballano of any military 

expeditions which might be organized against him. Despite 

the warnings from followers spying on the preparations 

of the Ursua expedition, Ballano was unprepared for the 

new campaign of the Spaniards. The first encounters between 

the opposing sides found the Spaniards winning some minor 

skirmishes, but travelers on the roads continued coming 

under cimarron attack. The situation seemed to be 

developing into a war of attrition when Ursua decided to 

use any means, fair or foul, to end the war quickly.l9 

Emissaries were sent to convince Ballano that the 

Spaniards wished to discuss a negotiated peace s~ttlement, 

Once the suspicions of the cimarrones had been allayed, 

gifts were sent to the cimarrones as a sign of good faith 

and a banquet was organized. At the banquet, the Spaniards 

poisoned or stabbed to death most of the leadership of 

the cimarrones, and Ballano was captured. In this manner 

the principal chieftains were captured or killed, but 

many cimarrones escaped to the bush.20 

19Fern~ndez Piedrahita, Historia G~neral, 4:174, 
states the war lasted two years with great losses to the 
cimarrones. 

20Aguado,. Historia de Ven·ezuela, 1:144-185 ( declares 
that any means was justified to return them to the slavery, 
"a que est'n obligados y ellos antes ten!an." 
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The Spaniards realized that once the cimarrones 

had reorganized themselves, the problem would begin again. 

It was then decided to spare Ballano's life if he could 

convince his people to give their belligerant status and 

live in peace in a town of their own under Spanish 

supervision. The cimarron leader agreed to the proposal 

and, after a period of negotiation, capitulaciones were 

made with the comarrones. 

Under the terms of the capitulaciones 

1. Blacks who had been fugitives before a specific 
date would be considered free~ 

2. Blacks who became fugitives after that day 
would be captured by the Ballano cimarrones 
and returned to their masters. If the 
cimarrones did not wish to return the fugitives 
captured, the Ballano cimarrones would pay 
the original price. 

3. All black slaves who were mistreated by their 
masters could buy their freedom upon paying 
their original price. 

4. The followers of Ballano were to live in towns 
that were to be established as free "natives" 
of the area and no longer live scattered through 
the bush areas.21 

Since the peace agreement treated the cimarrones 

lightly rather than harshly, Ballano thought that he also 

would be pardoned. Ursua had kept him as a hostage during 

the early period of resettlement of the cimarrones, but had 

giyen the black leader the run of the Spanish garrison area. 

21saco, Esclavitud de la Raza Africana, 4:33; Aguado, 
Historia de Vene~uel~, 1:193, r~~brts· that the fugitives 
captured were returned to their masters! but makes no 
mention of their being sold. He also states that the 
Blacks were to sell supplies to travelers and pack trains, 
when requested. 



When Ursua was ordered back to Nombre de Dios, Ballano 

was also taken along. There the cimarron leader was put 

in chains and taken before the viceroy in Lima. Once he 

arrived there, the viceroy ordered his chains struck off 

and the cimarron leader heaped with honors. Although he 

141 

was honored as a worthy opponent and brave warrior, the 

Spaniards deemed it prudent to keep Ballano in custody.22 

He was then taken to Panama and from there sent to Spain.23 

In Seville he was granted a royal pension and lived out 

his life.24 

The followers of Ballano, although without their 

leader, settled in peace on the land allotted them near 

the Francisca river, but not all cimarrones joined them. 25 

22Aguado, Historia de Venezuela, 2:193, 195n-196n; 
CDII, 4:215, makes it appear that when Ursua went to Peru 
to lead the expedition of the Haranon River, he took the 
black leader with him as a captive; Vazquez de Espinosa, . . . ""' Compend1o y Descr1pc1on, cap. 1214, quotes an accoun·t 
written by a survivor of the ill-fated expedition. No 
mention of Ballano is made, but 500 Black and Indian 
piezas de servicio were reported to have lost their lives; 
Guillot, Negros Rebeldes, p. 60, declares that Ballano had 
been promised his life, freedom, and rank as a king if 
he convinced the cimarrones to become peaceful. 

23Fern~mdez Piedrahita, Historia General, 4:174; 
Aguado, Historia de Venezuela, 2:19n, 196n; CDII, 4:215. 

24Aguado, Historia de Venzuela, 2:195n, 196n; 
Garcilascde la Vega, Royal Commentaries, 2:1422. 

25Garcilaso de la Vega, Royal Commentaries, 2:1422, 
declares he was taken to Spain where he died; Aguado, 
Historia de Venezuela, 2:196n. 
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By 1562 other Blacks began an uprising in the same area.26 

tvhile it was said that this was a "very dangerous war", the 

followers of Ballano continued living in peace. They were 

assigned a Spanish juez to watch over them. They continued 

fulfilling their part of the original Ballano capitulaciones 

and aided in capturing cimarrones who ventured into their 

territory.27 Despite their aid, the cimarron problem was 

not completely eliminated. An agreement was signed between 

viceroy Toledo and a Spaniard who promised to eliminate 

the black cimarrones, again causing destruction around 

Nombre de Dios and Panama.28 The following year, Toledo 

wrote to the King requesting a copy of a capitulacion the 

crown had made with an unnamed soldier who also promised 

to rid Tierra Firme of black cimarrones.29 Apparently 

the campaign was never carried out or met with failure 

because in the spring of 1572 the viceroy again wrote to 

the King complaining of the large numbers of cirnarrones 

in Tierra Firme committing robberies and attacking traffic 

on the roads. He asked for permission from the King to 

26 CDII, 9:104. 

27vazquez de Espinosa, compendio, capl'tulo 896, 
CDI, 9:111; Wafer, New Voyage, pp. 14, 200, declares the 
town was located fifteen miles up the Chepo River and 
that there was another town up the Yavisa. 

28Guillot, Negros Rebeldes, p. 165, Escalante, 
Negro en Colombi;a, p. 112, reports that in 1569 1 of the 
thousands of B.lacks imported, 300 or more beca,me fugi..._tives, 

29zavala, Instituciones Jurfdicas, p. 476. 



mobilize the manpower in the affected areas so that 

the cimarrones could be eliminated,30 Hhether permission 

was received is not known, but an even greater problem 

arose in the fall of 1572. 

Francis Drake led a group of pirates into the 

Caribbean in the late fall of 1572 to revenge his losses 

at Veracruz during the John Hawkins defeat by the 

Spaniards in 1567. On the Isthmus, Drake captured an 

anchored ship being loaded with lumber by slaves. One 

of these Blacks informed Drake that the cimarrones would 
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gladly aid any enemy of the Spaniards. Convinced that the 
- - ------._ 

cimarrones would be of inestimable-value, Drake accepted 

the suggestion of an English-cimarron alliance. He sent 

the Black as go-between to arrange a meeting with the 

cimarrones and eventually made a pact of mutual assistance 
/ . 

with( :Pedrq, 
~~' 

the pi~c!.tes 

the chief of the cimarrones. This pact gave 

unexpected help when it was discovered that Pedro 

could put 1,700 men on the field of battle if ,necessary. 31 

30Guillot, Negros Rebldes, p. 166. 

31Anderson, Old Panama, pp. 344-350, 353-357; 
Bancroft, History of Central America, 2:410; Francis Drake, 
Sir Francis Drake Revived Voyages and Travels Ancient and 
Modern, The-Harvard Classic (New York: P.F.- Collier and Son 
Corp., 1960), pp. xxxii, pp. 134-170; Julian S. Corbett, 
Drake and the Tudor Navy, with a History of the Rise of 
England as a Maritime Power 2 vols. (New York: Burt Franklin, 
1967), reports that the Ballano town was set up after the 
Blacks had allied themselves with Drake; Guillermo Rojas y 
Arrieta, History of the Bishops of Panama, trans. and ed. 
T.T. McDonald, C.M. (Panama: Imprenta de la Academia, 1929), 
p. 17, reports that armed female black slaves were 
instrumental in the battle against Drake's pirates. 
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Drake acted quickly. A base of operations was 

set up at a place he named Port Pheasant. From here, the 

allies attacked shipping, raided Nombre de Dios and captured 

a mule train loaded with Peruvian silver. 32 The Blacks 

proved to be invaluable in protecting the pirate headquarters 

and acted as spies by freely entering the surrounding towns 

and cities and obtaining information from peaceful slaves.33 

When spring came, Drake broke camp and returned to 

England, with the information that cimarrones would willingly 

help :foreign intrude;rs. Although Drake's alliance lasted 

a short time, other buccaneers would soon return, and try 

to use the cimarrones in their raids. The Spaniards were 

now confronted by an even more dangerous menance, that of 

internal plus external enemies working in concert. For this 

reason, the Church tried to help stem the growing danger 

of the cimarrones. 

During the term of office of don Manuel de Mercado 

Alderete, bishop of Panama (1577-1580), priests were sent 

out to try to pacify some of the cimarrones of the area.34 

Although some success was achieved, the treacherous defeat 

of Ballano caused some cimarrones to be come intransigent 

in their attitudes toward the Spaniards. They rejected all 

32Drake, Sir Francis Drake, pp. 131. 174-176. 

33Ibid., pp. 165-166, 169, 172. 

34Rojas y Arrieta, History of the Bishops, pp. 19-20. 



overtures from the priests, and refused to allow them near 

their palenques. They also accused the priests of being 

spies and renewed their resistance to the Spaniards.35 The 
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cimarrones also rejected a general amnesty issued by the King 

in January 1574. The amnesty had been granted on the 

recommendation of the Procurador General of Tierra Firme 

who thought that this 'IJ!Jould lure the cimarrones out of the 

jungle.36 That same year, Panama was granted a royal exemption 

from paying duties on all flour and supplies imported from 

Peru because of its efforts in the campaigns against the 

cimarrones. 3 7 It would appear that Panama's reward had been 

given for its efforts rather than for results, since the 

cimarronesw-ere still active. 
·~ ---

John Oxen~m, Francis Drake's lieutenant during the 
/ 

1572-157-.i,clma:Y~on alliance returned, in 1575, to the 

Isthmus to renew the pirate-cimarron friendship. Guided by 

Blacks, Oxenham and his men made their way overland to the 

Pacific. A boat was built and the allies began raiding and 

the unsuspecting towns of the Pacific coast.38 After many 

35Ibid. 

36Guillot, Negros Rebeldes, p. 191. 

37serrano y Sanz, Relaciones Historicas, p. 162 

38Rojas y Arrieta, History of the Bishops, p. 20; 
Garcia Pelaez, Memorias para la Historia, 1:190n, reports 
a boat able to carry seventy men was built. 



misadventures and some successes, the pirates and the 

cimarrones had a falling out. The difficulties between the 

pirates and the cimarrones arose because Oxenham would not 

turn over a captured Spanish female. This was done 

despite an agreement that all prisoners were to be given 

to the Blacks. For this reason, the cimarrones abandoned 

the pirates. 39 Deprived of their black allies, Oxenharn 
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and his men were captured and taken to Lima where all except 

five ship's boys were executed.40 

If Oxenham's Pacific raid was not enough to worry 

the Spaniards, the French pirate Silvestre attacked the 

mines in the province of Veraguas not far from Panama during 

the same period.41 In 1576 Andrew Barker, a pirate out of 

Bristol, landed near the mouth of the Chagres River._ He 

made an unsuccessful search for friendly cimarrones and 

eventually continued up the coast to raid the Honduras area.42 

His fruitless attempt at linking up with the cimarrones may 

have been caused by the breakdown of the pirate-cimarron 

relations during the Oxenham fiasco. On the other hand, 

39Peter Gebhard, Pirates on the West Coast of New Spain, 
1575-1742 (Glendale, Calif.~ The Arthur H. Clark Company, 1960}, 
p. 57; Anderson, Old Panama, pp. 351-352, states that the 
chief difficulty was over booty. He mentions a ''little maid" 
accompanied them, but does not elaborate. 

40Gebhard, Pirates on the West Coast, p. 60. 

41Rojas y Arrieta, History of the Bishops, p. 20. 

42Anderson, Old Panama, p. 395. 
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the Spaniards were aware of the attempts at renewal of 

cimarron-pirate alliances. Confronted by the pirates and the 

cimarrones in the Caribbean and the previously safe Pacific, 

the Spanish authorities went into a frenzy of activity. 

Don Cristobal de Erasco, General of the Armada de la Guarda 

Costa de las Indias, led an expedition which destroyed a 

large cimarron palenque on the Atlantic coast in 1577.43 

Two hundred large houses were burned and farms and orchards 

were destroyed. A large number of Blacks were killed and 

three or four English sailors living with the cimarrones 

were captured.44 The capture of the Englishmen served to 

prove that foreign pirates were aiding and abetting the 

cimarrones and increased the fear of the black element of 

the colonial society. For this reason royal decrees were 

issued ordering that the problem be ended by a war of 

extermination of the cimarrones.45 Don Pedro de Ortega 

Valencia was appointed as captain general to marshall all 

available men of the Isthmian provinces of Castilla del Oro. 

43Guillot, Negros Rebe1des, pp. 181, 191-192~ 

44Ibid., p. 181. 

45cDI, 17:496-497, C~dula Real of May 23, 1578; 
Bowser, AfriCan Slave, pp. 201, 369. 



To them were added men sent from Peru and 120 veteran 

soldiers from Spain. 46 Unfortunately the result of this 

military call up is not known. 

Alarming news also reached the King from the 

Spanish ambassador in London. He reported the Drake was 

sailing with four ships to renew his cimarron alliance.47 

More royal decrees were issued in an attempt to stave off 

this danger, and another war against the cimarrones was 

begun.48 The renewal of the alliance did not take place, 

but it was not due to the measures taken by the Spaniards. 
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Drake was not planning simple raids of the Spanish colonies. 

Instead, he was setting out to circumnavigate the globe. 

Although the Spaniards were relieved that the pirates and 

the Blacks did not renew their alliance, efforts to wipe out 

the cimarrones militarily had mixed results. More' successful 

were the efforts of Fray Manuel de Mercado Alderete, ~~ 

Bishop of Panama. 

Not all the cimarrones who had followed Ballano 

accepted the peace made with the Spaniards. The Bishop 

46cDI, 17:498-501; Biblioteca Nacional de Madridr 
"Guerra contra los negros cimarrones y nombramiento de Pedro 
de Ortega Valencia para Capitan General de la misma, May 23, 
1578, vol. 2932, doc. 167, fol. 217 and Ibid., vol. 2932 1 

doc. 168, fol. 219. 

47corbett, Drake and the Tudor Navy, p. 238. In 
reality he was setting out on his circumnavigation of the 
globe. 

48cDI, 17:475-476, 522-523, 553-554. 
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was finally able to gain the confidence of some of these 

bellicose cimarrones and begin negotiations. The Blacks { 

were guaranteed their freedom by royal decree in 1574 and 

granted capitulaciones in 1579.49 By the capitulaciones, 

the Blacks were 

1. ~iven their freedom. 
2. Possession of lands claimed by them. 
3. Guaranteed that they would not be molested. 
4. To promise to keep the peace. 
5. To live in one area. 
6. To aid in capturing other cimarrones and fugitives. 
7. To choose their civil officials from their own ranks. 
8. Assigned a garrison under the command of a Spanish 

officer to work with the chosen civil officials. 
9. Assigned a priest to care for their spirtual welfare.50 

The two hundred cimarrones pacified by the Bishop 

formed a new settlement, which was named Santiago del Principe, 

two leagues from Panama.51 Later, the town was relocated 

near Nombre de Dios so that the Blacks could better aid in 

the defense of the city. 52 When the population of Nombre 

49rbid., 9:119-120. 

50Rojas y Arrieta, History of the Bishops, p. 21; 
_CDI, 9:111, 119-120, the population of the town also included 
the Bayano Blacks; Anderson, Old Panama, p. 291; Guillot, 
Negros Rebeldes, pp. 191-192, reports that Dr. Alonso Criado 
de Castilla reduced and pacified a palenque on the Cerro de 
Cabra near Panama in 1578. This appears to be the Santiago 
del Principe group. · 

51Rojas y Arrieta, History of the Bishops, p. 21. 

52cnr, 9:120. 



de Dios was established at Portobelo, the Blacks 

also made the move in 1585 to continue .serving as 

part of the city defense.53 

Reformed cimarrones became an important element 
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in the defense of the area. The former Ballano cimarrones 

were locally known as s•ldAdos mogollanes or irregular 

soldiers. 54 During the Drake attack on the Isthmus 

in 1595, thirty eight black Ballano bowmen distinguished 

themselves in the defense of Nombre de Dios. 55 Despite 

this demonstration of loyalty to the crown, the former 

cimarrones were still viewed with suspicion by the 

Spaniards. One year after their aid against Drake, 

the Ballano Blacks were ordered to close a road which 

they had opened between the Chagres River and Venta 

de Cruces. It was feared that the pirates coming 

up the Chagres could use the road to attack Venta de 

Cruces, a station for overland traffic from Peru. 56 

Since the cimarrones were operating in the area, the 

crown also su~pected that some of the Ballano Blacks 

were involved and their town used as a sanctuary by the 

fugitives. Apparently the threat of execution for anyone 

53 Ibid. 

54v~squez de Espinosa, Compendia, cap!tulo 896, reports 
that the Blacks were "brave and loyal in his Majesty's service"; 
CDI, 9:111, reports that the Blacks were called soldados 
moqillones. 

55cDI, 17:366-368. 

56Ibid., 17:363-364. 
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using the road ended the problem and the road apparently 

fell into disrepair and was swallowed up by the tropical 

undergrowth. This did not mean that the cimarron problems 

ceased. 

In the region formerly controlled by Ballano, a 

group nQmbering three hundred, led by a Black named Anton 

Mandinga began operations which again endangered the area. 57 

Through the efforts of Bishop Bartolome Ledesma, negotiations 

were undertaken to pacify this group by offering them 

capitulaciones. In 1581 the negotiations were completed and 

received royal approval. The capitulaciones 

1. Freed the fugitives. 
2. Gave them the lands they claimed as ~heir own. 
3. Ordered that officials be appointed to govern 

them. 
4. Assigned a parish priest to see to their spirtual 

welfare. 
5. Ordered that livestock, seeds and tools, paid for 

by the royal funds, be provided to enable the Blacks 
to set up their farms. 

6. Provided that a town be established at Pacora, three 
leagues from Panama.58 

Another group of Black cimarrones were reported to 

have been pacified and allowed to set up a town know as 

Santa Cruz la Real de los Negros Cimarrones. The site was 

on the banks of a large.river one league up the coast near 

Puerto de Pericos, about one and one-half leagues from Panama. 

57Rojas y Arrieta, History of the Bishops, p. 23; 
Guillot, Negros Rebeldes, p. 191, calls him Antonio Mandinga. 

58Guillot, Negros Rebeldes, p. 191; Rojas y Arrieta, 
History of the Bishops, p. 23, reports that it was "not 
very far from Panama." 



Details concerning this group are sketchy, but they were 

reported having settled in peace "in the service of the 

King."59 
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Although the followers of Ballano, Ant6n Mandinga, and 

those of the towns of Santiago del Principe and Santa Cruz 

la Real were settled in peace by the use of capitulaciones, 

and many others were eliminated by military action during 

the sixteenth century, the cimarrones continued to trouble 

the Isthmus. A 1607 study reported that there were ninety­

four cimarrones in the area around Panama that were causing 

great difficulties. The cimarrones had small fa,rm plots 

throughout the bush areas but had set up no palenques. 

In this manner they were able to move quickly, escape 

pursuit, but always have food supplies readily available. 

For this reason, the Hermandad organized for Panama had no 

success in eliminating them. Since they had no central 

location for their homes, the Blacks were able to move from 

one farm plot to another for their supplies and elude capture. 

The 1697 study suggested that the failure to eliminate these 

cirnarrones was partly attributable to Hermandad inaction.60 

Despite the lack of success by the city of Panama, 

Portobelo organized and paid for expeditions against the 

cimarrones. These expeditions were composed of Spanish 

and loyal Black fighting men. Their supplies were brought 

59Guillot, Negros Rebeldes, p. 191. 

60serrano y Sanz, Relaciones Hist6ricas, pp. 201-202. 



to them by convoys of black slaves who were donated by 

their owners for the campaign. Although total success was 

not achieved at first, continued pressure by the Portobelan 

forces put the cimarrones on the defensive and eventually 

led to victory over the fugitives of the area.6 1 

The success of the Portobelan punitive expedition 

was not repeated in Panama. The constant problems with 

the fugitives put a severe strain on the royal treasury 

of the Audiencia of Panama. For this reason, the governor 

of the Audiencia attempted to institute a collection of 

money from the vecinos in 1637. Strong resistance to this 

tax caused the governor to complain to the King and ask 

that a decree be issued so that a cimarron tax could be 

collected as was being done in Mexico City, Cartagena 

and Havana.62 The King acceded to the request and decreed 

on November 3, 1639, that a caja de cimarrones or cimarron 

treasury be set up for the collection of money from the 

slave owners.63 How successfully the funds were utilized 
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is not known, but an even greater threat to Spanish control 

of the Isthmus was begun by a foreign intrusion into the area. 

Scottish mercha~ts and politicians, hoping to obtain 

61
rbid. 

62cor, 17:212 and 21:80. 

63rbid. 



some of the economic gains achieved by the English in the 

Indies, organized the Darien Company. The main objective 

of the Company was the establishment of a trading colony 

on the Isthmus of Panama. Almost immediately upon arrival 

in the area in 1698, leaders of the colony made a treaty 

of alliance with five cimarron Indian chieftains. One of 

these had led about three thousand warriors in attacks on 

the Spaniards for over a year. Another, who used the 

French name of Corbet, was an ally of French pirates.6 4 

The Scots hoped that the Indian alliance and Spanish 

problems with black cimarrones would serve as a safeguard 

for their colonizing attempt. They were aware that up 

to 1500 black cimarrones, supplied with ammunition and 

weapons by foreign traders, had seriously threatened 

Portobelo. No information is available about these Black~ 

other than the Spaniards were able to eliminate the danger, 

in early 1969, by granting them independence in return 
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for peace. ~Scottish member of the Darien Company reported 
-----·-~~----

that by November,l698, "hundreds of them Cthe former black 

cirnarrones_; might been ;-seen in_/ Porto Bello struting 

64Francis Russel Hart, The Disaster of Darien, 
The Story of the Scots Settlement and the Cause~ of its 
Failure, 1699-1701 (Boston: Houghton Hifflin Company, 
1929), pp 199, 204. The author quotes liberally from 
the "Journal" of a Mr. Rose, a member of the colony. 



and taking the right hand of their Master, who dared 

not say it was ill done."65 With the danger from the 

black cimarrones gone, the Spaniards turned their attention 

to the Scots and the Indian cimarrones. 
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The viceroy of New Spain, don Sarmiento de Valladares, 

alerted the commander of the fleet of the danger and noted 

that precautions should be taken to see that the Isthmus 

not fall into the hands of foreigners. It this occurred, 

the viceroy declared, the Blacks and mulattoes of the 

Pacific ports might join them in overthrowing Spanish 

contro1.66 To prevent such as event, the Council of the 

Indies recommended to the crown that the Indian cimarrones 

be attracted to the Spaniards by granting them capitulaciones. 

In this manner, the Council hoped that the Indians would be 

of assistance in expelling the Scots.67 

While there is little evidence of prolonged or 

substantial cimarron-Scot military cooperation, In February 

1699, Chief Pedro led his Indian cimarrones and one hundred 

Scots in repelling a Spanish attack.68 Despite this success 

of the allies, problems developed as the Scots began to 

65Ibid., p. 212. 

66Ibid., appendix xv, p. 258 

67Ibid., pp. ll5n, 9 May 1699. 

68Ibid., 85-86; Anderson, Old Panama, p. 495, 
declares the force consisted of forty Ind1ans and two 
hundred Scots. 



feel the effects of life in the tropics and lack of support 

from Scotland. Supplies were not sent and within a short 

time, goods used to keep the friendship of the cimarrones 

were exhausted, as were European goods needed for their 

own health and upkeep. Finally in early 1700 Spanish 

naval and land forces attacked the colony. Weakened 
I 

physically and without their allies, the Scots quickly I 
surrendered. 69 One century ended and another began with 
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the elimination of danger from foreign and cimarron collusion. 

No information concerning cimarron revolts in the 

Isthmus during the eighteen century has appeared. This 

does not mean that problems controlling fugitive slaves 

did not trouble the Isthmus. Where there was a slave 

population, inevitably there were fugitives. 

It must be noted that the Isthmian free Blacks 

received special recognition from the crown for their aid 

in defending the area. The King ordered all Spaniards 

to treat the free Blacks well and ordered royal officials 

to protect the rights granted them because of their aid 

in the defense of the Isthmus.70 Free Blacks served in 

regular army and militia units. Many of these were 

69nart, Disaster of Darien, pp. 138-139, reports 
the land force consisted of Spaniards, Blacks, Indians 
and "a few Frenchmen." 

70Recopilacion, libro 7, t!tulo 5, leyes 10 and 11. 
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former cimarrones or the descendents of those pacified 

by the implementation of capitulaciones. 

The pacification methods used by the Spaniards 

in the Isthmus of Panama were the same as those used in 

other areas of the Indies. Owners of the fugitives, 

bounty hunters, respective legislation and the clergy 

were used, but the emphasis was on force of arms which, 

at times, necessitated large scale military movements. If 

none of these methods succeeded, capitulaciones were used. 

Capitulaciones were successfully used to pacify 

cimarrones five times in the Isthmus. Ballano was twice 

offered capitulaciones. Although the first attempt ended 

in failure, they were successful the second time. They 

were also used to establish the pacified cimarron towns of 

Santiago del Principe, Pacora, Santa Cruz la Real de los 

Negros Cimarrones and pacifying the Blacks at Portobelo 

during the Darien Company fiasco. 

The value of capitulaciones as a means of eliminating 

cimarrones was recognized by officials in the Indies and 

in Spain. As has been pointed out, various officials 

suggested the implementation of capitulaciones to pacify 

cimarrones. But it must be remembered, that despite the 

success of this method, capitulaciones never became the 
-··.-..:-··· ,--··-- -~·---·"·-· -· .. . ···~--.~-- --·- ~ 

primary means of Black or Indian cimarron pacification. 

They were used when all else failed. 



CHAPTER VI 

Cimarron Revolts And Cimarron Pacification 
In Colonial Colombia 

The first known outbreak of cimarron violence in the 

territory comprising the modern nation of Colombia occurred 

on February 26, 1531. The fugitives banded together at a 

palenque known as la Ramada. When their strength had in­

creased sufficiently to enable them to attack populated areasf 

they launched a night assault against Santa Marta. Under 

cover of darkness, the cimarrones set fire to the city. At 

day-break, the only house left standing was that belonging to 

the governor. This building survived because it was the only 

one constructed of stone rather than of wood, as the others 

were. Oddly, there are no reports that the cimarrones pillaged 

the town during the confusion caused by the fire. Although 

the inhabitants of Santa Marta began rebuilding immediately, 

no information is available concerning any reprisal action 

taken against the cimarrones.l 

Cartagena, the chief seaport for northern South 

Americaf received great numbers of black slaves destined 

for other areas of the continent. Control of the large 

numbers of slaves and the free black population was a 

problem from the early years of the sixteenth century. 

1Herrera y Tordesillas, Historia General, 
7:331-332; Escalante, negro en Colombia, p. 117, reports 
that it occurred in 1529. · 
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This engendered the development of the cimarron problems, 

but little success was realized in suppressing the cimarrones 

militarily. The officials of the city, therefore, 

suggested to the King that the fugitives might be persuaded 

to live in peace if they were granted a royal pardon 

for their crimes.2 

The King acknowledged their suggestion in 1540, 

telling them that on recommendation of the Council of 

the Indies, the governor of Cartagena could begin negotiations 

with the cimarrones. The King ordered that the pardon be 

made known throughout the area so that the free and slave 

Blacks would pass on the terms to the cimarrones.3 The 

terms consisted of a pardon for any black fugitive who 

returned to work for his former master and a pardon for 

any crime committed prior to the publication of the decree.4 

The absurdity of the plan appears to have been lost on the 

Spaniards. They seemed to believe that all cimarrones 

would rather give up th_eir ;free, albe,t,t ;fuc;it.;i..ye l.;i.:~e; ;tn 

exchange for a life of slavery. 

It is not known if any fugitives surrendered. 

However, it appears unlikely, since many cimarrones were 

active the following year. For this reason, the governor 

2Friede, Documentos In~ditos, 6:27-28, King to 
the Governor of Cartagena, September 6, 1540. 

3rbid. 

4rbid. 



of Cartagena issued an ordenanza, in June 1541, giving 

the Indians the right to capture, dead or alive, any 

fugitive Black they might encounter. Those captured 

were to be brought to Cartagena for ·which the Indians 

were to receive a bounty of ten pesos.5 While no success 

is reported for the bounty plan, the antagonism between 

the Blacks and the Indians was heightened and helped lessen 

the threat of an alliance between the two groups which 

might lead to an overthrow of Spanish rule. 

Miguel Dfez Armendariz, the Juez de Residencia 

in Cartagena, reported tothe King that one group of 

Blacks had eluded capture for nine years. During that 

time, they killed many Spaniards and abducted countless 

Indians. He went on to say that a punitive force was 

sent out to defeat the cimarrones at the palenque located 

four leagues from Santiago de Tol6.6 Apparently, the 

expedition was sent out because the threat had become 

more than the usual problem of black fugitives. Four 

Blacks led forty Indians in an attack on the town of 

Tofeme, where the cimarrones killed more than twenty 

peaceful Indians and took 250 or 300 captives to their 

stronghold.? 

5rbid., 6:174-175. Ordenanzas, June 21, 1541. 

6Ibid., 8:68~69, D!ez de Armend~riz to King, 
July 24, 1545. 

7rbid. 
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In view of the ratio between the captives and 

the captors the situation is not difficult to understand. 

It is likely that some of these were not unwilling captives. 

No doubt Diez de Armendariz knew this. Fearing the spread 

of an alliance between Blacks and Indians, he ordered out 

a twenty-five man expedition, to return to Cartagena only 

after having captured or destroyed the cimarrones. He 

also promised rewards for those who killed cimarrones and 

even greater rewards for those captured, "so that they 

might be put to better use."8 Unfortunately, no record of 

the success or failure of the mission is available, although 

the leader of the Spanish expedition appears to have 

survived and later become the focus of royal lawsuits.9 

As indicated earlier, by late 1555 cimarrones were 

causing so many problems around Cartagena, Panama and Uraba 

that an official of Nombre de Dios wrote to the King 

suggesting a general call up of all male citizens of the 

three affected cities.lO There can be no doubt that this 

problem was part of that engendered by the cimarron revolt 

of Ballano in the Isthmus, but it is not known if this 

recommendation was acted upon. It must be noted that a 

9Ibid., 7:186, Real Cedula. 

lORAH, tomo 69, doc. 1499, fol. 333, Francisco de 
Pradanos to King, December 22, 1555; Saco, Esclavitud de 
la Raza Africana, 4:32-33. 



general call up was soon issued by the Marques de Canete, 

which would lead to the previously mentioned defeat and 

pacification of the Ballano cimarrones in the Isthmus.ll 

Large numbers of black slaves were used to work in 

the gold mines in what is now Colombia. The rich Zaragoza 

mines suffered a castastrophic revolt in 1598. 12 The 

Blacks killed all Spaniards who fell into their hands, 

fled the mines, and established a palenque. Juan Melendez 

de Valdes was appointed Captain General of a punitive 

expedition to destroy the rebels. Under his leadership 

the palenque was located and completely destroyed in 1599. 
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The leaders were executed and the captured survivors were 

reenslaved.l3 The revolt was destroyed; but, by reenslaving 

the survivors, the seeds of discontent were spread among 

other slaves who had never been cimarrones. 

The development of settlements in the seventeenth 

century did not lessen the cimarron problems. In fact, 

bureaucratic problems prevented the destruction of a 

palenque located on the banks of the Madalena River not far 

from Cartagena. The palenque had been known to be in the 

area for fifty years. But jurisdictional problems between 

llsaco, Esclavitud de la Raza Africana, 4:33. 

12vazquez de Espinosa, Compendia, c~p{tulos 1027, 
1028; Escalante, Negro en Colombia, pp. 118-123, declares 
the revolt was put down with tropas reales. 

13vazquez de Espinosa, Compendia, capitulos 1027, 
1028l Escalante, Negro en Colombia, pp. 118-123. 



the governor of Santa Marta and Cartagena prevented the 

destruction of the black stronghold.l4 Finally, over the 

protestations of the governor of Santa Marta, an expedition 

was sent from Cartagena which conquered the Blacks. Other 

than knowing that the area was pacified and the cimarrones 

baptized, no other information is available. 15 

The first large scale uprising of the seventeenth 

century was caused by slave mistreatment by their owner 
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Juan Gomez, a resident of Cartagena. In 1600, Domingo Bicho, 

a slave of Black African royalty, fled the Gomez property 

with three black males and four females. The fugitives 

fled to an area near Tolu and established a settlement.l6 

Gomez organized an expedition to recapture his slaves, 

14Martinez Delgado and Cruz Santos, Historia Extensa, 
3:libro 4, .p. 49 and libro 2, p. 60, report a revolt of 1603 
in which forty cimarrones were given lands and their freedom 
in exchange for settling peacefully, but no other information 
is available. 

15rbid., 3:libro 4, p. 49. 

16rbid., 3:libro 1, p. 387, give the mane as Domingo 
Bicho; Aquiles Escalante, Palenques in Colombia in Richard 
Price ed., Maroon Societies: Rebel Communities in the Americas 
(Garden City, N.Y.: Anchor Books, Anchor Press/Doubleday 1 1973), 
pp. 76-77, reports that he belonged to a merchant Juan de 
Palacios. His escape was made with thirty black men and women 
who set up a palenque in "the forests and marshy areas of 
Matuna (south of the town of Tolu''; Escalante, Negro en 
Colombia, p. 114, repeats the numbers of fugitives,. and 
declares that he was known as Domingo Bioho and Domingo el 
Rey Benkos; Angel Valtierra, El Santo que liberto una razar 
San Pedro Claver, Esclavo de los esclavos negros, Su vida y 
su epoca (1580-1654) Bogota: imprenta Nacional, 1954), p. 175 
declares his name was Benkos Biojo. 



but in the ensuing battle the slave owner was killed 

and the Spaniards routed.l 7 As news of the victory 

spread, large numbers of cimarrones, scattered throughout 

the area, joined the band led by Domingo. Within a short 

time, the cimarron group had become so numerous that they 

were forced to move to an area farther south from the 

Spanish controlled areas to a densely wooded mountainside. 

The Blacks set up a palenque and their leader discarded 

the name imposed on him by his Spanish master and took the 

title of King Benkos.l8 
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Under their leader, with their stronghold established, 

the cimarrones began attacking the areas around Mompox, 

Tolu, and Tenerife. King Benkos placed spies in Spanish 

settlements throughout the countryside surrounding the 

palenque to prevent a surprise attack by the Spaniards. 

The preparations were justified. Spies of the Cimarrones 

warned that an expedition led by Diego Hern~ndez Calvo, 

the alcalde of the Hermandad, had set out in search of the 

fugitives.l9 

When the two opposing forces finally met in combat, 

17Escalante, Negro en Colombia, p. 114; Escalante, 
Palenques en Colombia, p. 78. 

18rbid. 

19rbid. 



/ the Spanish expedition was quickly defeated and Hernandez 

de Calvo's second in command, Francisco de Campos was 

captured. 2 0 

Tradition has it that de Campos had been 

romantically involved with Benko's daughter, Princess 

Orika, during the time that she, her mother and brother 

had been his property. When Orika was reunited with the 

captive de Campos, she attempted to help him escape the 

palenque. Discovered by the other cimarrones, de Campos 

was killed and Orika executed.21 

Efforts by the Spaniards to eliminate the fugitives 

had little effect, the cimarrones attacked Spanish holdings 

for about thirteen years. Even black work crews that 

ventured out of the safety of the cities were not immune. 

Efforts to defeat the cimarrones militarily cost more 

than 36,612 pesos.22 With no end in sight to the problem 

and prompted by the prospect of continued expenditures, 

the governor, don Diego Fern~ndez de Velasco, decided 

to try and negotiate a peace settlement. The negotiations 

20Ibid. 

21Escalante, Palenques en Colombia, p. 78. 
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Delgado and Cruz Santos, Historia Extensa, 3:book I, p. 387, 
reports it to be 36,612 pesos 3 reales. 



were successful and the cimarrones were granted 

capitulaciones in which the Blacks were 

1. Guaranteed their freedom. 
2. Permitted to enter Cartagena freely. 
3. Given title to their fram lands. 
4. Permitted to establish a settlement which 

was named in San Basilio del Palenque. 
5. Promised to live in peace. 

At royal request, Benkos agreed to no longer use the 

title Rey del Arcabuco or King of the Woods.23 

The peace was shortlived. In 1619 Benkos was 

implicated in a plot to throw off Spanish control. He 

was captured and hanged.24 Although they had lost their 

leader, Benkos' subjects remained at peace. But in 

1696, descendents of the original cimarrones attempted 

a revolt which was summarily put down.25 A third 

revolt took place during the years of 1713 and 171J. 

This revolt was ended when Bishop Antonio Maria Casiani 

of Congregation of San Basilio with the aid of Francisco 

Baloco Leigrave, governor of Cartagena negotiated 

capitulaciones with the Blacks. 26 The capitulacidnes 

were that 

1. All the rebels were declared free. 
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23Martfnez Delgado and Cruz Santos, Historia Extensa, 
3: libro 1, p. 387, declares that the cimarrones sought peace 
because they were tired of a life of pillage; Escalante, 
Negro en Colombia, p. 115i Escalante, Palenques Colombia, p. 78. 

24Escalante, Palenques en Colombia, p. 79. 

25rbid. 

26rbid. 



2. A general pardon was issued for all crimes 
they had committed. 

3. The Blacks were given the power to choose 
their political leader, military leader and 
alcalde from among themselves. 

4. The Blacks promised to live in peace. 
5. The Blacks promised to allow no fuqitives to 

live amonq them.27 

Althouqh it would appear that the Blacks had attained 

self-qovernment, this was not the case. All officials 

chosen were subiect to aooroval of the aovernor of 

Cartaaena. But the aareement was satisfactory to both 

sides, and the Blacks settled in peace. 28 

In 1774 Captain Antonio de la Torre Miranda was 

comissioned to explore the interior of the viceroyalty 

and resettle scattered groups of persons living there. 

De La Torre is reported having resettled the San Balilio 

Blacks and gained their aid in building a road to'open 

communications between Cartagena and Tol6. The Blacks 

exchanged their aid for more capitulaciones. They were 

granted in 1774, 

1. The right, in perpetuity, to chose their own leader. 
2. The right to exclude all whites, except for a 

priest, from living among them.29 

While the first Benkos revolt was occurring, 

27 rbid. 

28rbid., p. 80. 
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29Jose Manuel Groot, Historia Eclesiastica y Civil 
de Nueva Granada, tomada de la 2a edici6n de Medardo Rivas, 
Bogota, 1889; 3 vols. 'lJR)gota; B1bl1oteca de Autores --­
Colombianos) 2:293: Escalante, Palenques en Colombia, P. 80. 



the slaves in the mining city of Remedios revolted, 

fled to the hills, and became cimarrones. Attacking 

from strongholds they formed in the mountains, they 

began strangling the lines of commerce and communications 

between Remedios and the rest of the viceroyalty. Their 

successes served to attract other cimarrones and caused 

peaceful slaves to run away and join them. 30 

Fearing that the Remedios and Benkos rebels 

might join forces, a large expeditionary force was sent 

out by the Presidente of the Audiencia of Santa Fe de 

Bogota. In the battle, the cimarrones were defeated, 

their leaders captured, returned to Remedios and executed. 

The survivors were reenslaved and divided among the mines 

to provide labor.31 The King was so pleased with the 

resolution of the problem, thet he sent personal con-

gratulations to the Presidente. The Crown then ordered 

that, thereafter, rebellious Blacks were to be condemned 

to serve in the galleys and sent to Cartagena.32 

Cartagena could have done without the captured 

rebellious Blacks. The Procurador General of the Jesuits 

30Martfnez Delgado and Cruz Santos, Historia 
Extensa, 3: libro 1, p. 388. 

3lrbid. 

32rbid. 
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in the Cartagena estimated in 1630 that the city annually 

received eight to nine thousand slaves. 33 Many of these 

stayed in the viceroyalty rather than being shipped to 

other areas of the continent. Despite a high mortality 

rate, the black population greatly outnumbered the whites. 

The racia,l imbalance served to increase Spanish fears 

of cimarron revolts. These fears were realized in 1634, 

when 500 Blacks of the palenques of Limon, Polini, and 

Sanaguare joined forces and retreated to isolated mountain 

valleys. There they chose Leonor as their queen and 

declared themselves independent from Spanish rule.34 
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The Spaniards were especially frightened, since 

there were at least two thousand slaves working in the area. 

Panic set in when the Blacks, from their main pal~nque at 

Menon, attacked and destroyed some isolated estancias 

killing fifty Spaniards and slaughtering great numbers of 

Indians. Hoping to prevent a generalized uprising among 

slaves, a punitive expedition of 500 veteran fighting men 

was mustered by the authorities. After a forced march, 

the Spaniards were able to make their way undetected to 

the cimarron stronghold. The palenque was encircled, 

stormed and, after a fierce battle, the Blacks routed. 

33Ibid., 3:libro 2, p. 108 

34Ibid., 3:libro 2, p. 60. 
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Many cimarrones were killed, three hundred and thirteen 

were taken prisoner and returned to Cartagena where 

t t th t d Th . 1 d 35 wen y ree were execu e • e surv1vors were reens ave • 

But as so often happened, the problem had not been eradicated. 

Some cimarrones were able to elude capture and escape 

to the bush.36 The reenslaved cimarrones took their 

resentment of the Spaniards into new areas so that the 

revolutionary process would eventually·;recur, 

Little information concerning the pacification 

of the cimarrones during the last half of the seventeenth 

century has come to light. This does not mean that cimarron 

activity ceased. Cannibal cimarrones reportedly ate at 

least one Spaniard near Cartagena sometime after 1683.37 

One group of Blacks from the Cartagena area is reported 

having fled into the province of Santa Marta to escape 

harsh treatment at the hands of the Justicias around 1650. 

Don Pedro de Zapata, the governor of Cartagena sent troops, 

defeated these cimarrones and returned them to their original 

area.38 No indication is given of the final disposition 

of the recaptured cimarrones. 

35rbid., 

36 Ibid. 

37Groot, Historia Eclesiastica, !:capitulo 20, p.595. 

38Martfnez Delgado and Cruz Santos, Historia Extensar 
3 libro 4, p. 49. Paradoxically, in 3:1ibro 2, p. 322, it is 
reported that they began the revolt within the province of 
Santa Marta. Despite the pacification of the cimarrones, 
litigation ensued because of what the governor of Santa Marta 
saw as an invasion of his jurisdictional perogatives. 
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Palenques of varying sizes were scattered throughout 

Colombia by 1703. Two of the larger ones were located in 

the Sierra Nevada and at Santa Cruz de Masinga. Fray 

Andr's ~ico, a missionary in these remote areas was able 

to gain their confidence and worked among the Christian 

and non-Christian cimarrones for an extended period. When 

he reported the receptiveness of the fugitives to his 

ministrations, the Franciscan Provincial commissioned him 

special missionary to the palenques.39 He was also 

comissioned to act as the representa~ive of the colonial 

government by don Alonso Valero Caballero, the governor 

of Santa Marta. The governor instructed Father Pice to 

offer the Blacks their freedom and the lands on which 

they lived, and to hear any proposals they might make, 

in order that "they reduce themselves to live in a Christian 

manner under royal authority."40 

Within a month after having returned to the palenques, 

Father Pice was able to return to Santa Marta with a 

delegation of the leaders of the cimarrones. The prospect 

39Groot, Historia Eclesi&stica, 1: capitulo 21, 
pp. 661-663, declares these to be the first granted their 
freedom by royal authority; Escalante, Negro en Colombia, 
p. 117, reports the reduced cimarrones were those of 
the Sierra Nevada. 

40 rbid. 



of the p~cification of the cimarrones prompted the 

citizens of the city to respond to the event by 

honoring and providing lodging for the Blacks. Two days 

after their arrival in the city, on March 14, 1704, at 

ceremonies attended by all the important dignitaries of 

the city, the Blacks were solmnly baptized. In this 

manner group of fugitives was brought under Spanish 

control by capitulaciones.41 

Cimarron revolts occurred in 1706 at Girardota, 

Marinilla, and Rio Negro. The authorities followed the 
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pattern of Father Pico, and pacified these cimarrones with 

capitulaciones. The Blacks were established in a town 

named Ure, thirty kilometers northeast of the city of 

C~ceres.42 Unfortunately, no other information is available. 

Forty Blacks revolted at Tado in 1728. The leaders 

were tricked into a meeting by the authorities, captured 

and executed. Although it seems doubtful, it is reported 

that the survivors who were able to escape to the bush 

"posed no immediate threat to Spanish domination."43 

4lrbid. 

42Escalante, Negro en Colombia, p. 118. 

43Nilliarn F. Sharp, Manumission, Libres and 
Black Resistance: The Colombian Choco, 1680-1810 in 
Toplin, Slavery and Race Relations, p. 103. 



Military campaigns were unsuccessful against a 

strongly defended palenque called el castillo, located on 

.~ 

the eastern end of the Patia Valley in the gobernac~on 

/ 
of Popayan. The Audiencia of Quito was able to gain a 

truce with the cimarrones in 1732, by offering guarantees 

of freedom and that they would be allowed to live in peace 

if the Blacks promised to allow no new fugitives to join 

them. The terms were accepted, but the agreement was soon 

broken when the Blacks began harboring fugitives and 

attacking Spanish properties. Negotiations and small scale 

military expeditions proved unsuccessful until 1745 when a 

one hundred man expedition attacked, defeated and scattered 

the cimarrones. Fears that the survivors would regroup 

and renew the problems prompted Father Jose Joaquin de 

Barrutiete to seek out the survivors. The priest was able 

to overcome their suspicjons and persuade the fugitives 

to surrender. In this manner, the danger from these 

cimarrones was finally eliminated.44 

The effectiveness of the clergy in the pacification 

of cimarrones can not be overstated. Both Indian and 

Black cimarrones, at times, sought the protective umbrella 

of the Church against the lay Spanish population. This is 

borne out again by the success of the Agustinian, Fray 

44Escalante, Negro en Colombia, p. 117 
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Francisco Javier de la Paz, who was able to pacify and 

relocate two hundred Indians and a number of fugitive 

Blacks at two settlements in Mocoa during 1739.45 The 

pacification effort of Father de la Paz was supported by 

the governor of Popayan, who saw this as a means of easily 

pacifying the cimarrones. 

Large numbers of black cimarrones were known to be 

living scattered throughout the southern part of Cartagena 

province by the 1780s. The viceroy-archbishop, Antonio 

Caballero y G6ngora, commissioned Father Joseph Palacios 

de la Vega to minister to the religious well being of the 

Indians and cimarrones in the unsettled region. The priest 
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entered the region and fearlessly confronted Indians, Blacks 

and castizos who were not always ready to accept his teaching. 

He was able to overcome their fear of the Spaniards, 

problems with jealous witch doctors and was able to baptize 

untold numbers of these people. He also destroyed palenques 

at Guamal and Palizada, with the help of his converts and 

aides.46 Despite his success, his commission was not 

renewed upon expiration. Palacios de la Vega had not 

cleared the area of scattered bands. He reported that 

45Ibid., p. 118; Escalante, Palenques en Colombia, 
p. 75, reports the date as 1793. 

46p. Joseph Palacios de la Vega, Diario de Viaje 
entre los Indios y Negros de la Provincia de Cartagena en 
el Nuevo Reino de Granada, 1787-1788 Gerardo Reichel­
Dolmatoff, ed., {Bogota: Editorial ABC, 1955), pp. 95-105. 
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many of those living in the area were involved in contraband 

trade and scattered over such a vast territory that he had 

not been able to complete his cornrnission.47 What the hard 

working priest did not seem to understand was that he had 

been given a task which could never be completed until the 

root of the problem was removed. Cimarrones would continue 

until slavery itself was abolished. 

The methods employed in pacifying the black cimarrones 

in the area comprising the modern nation of Colombia were 

similar to those utilized in the viceroyalty of New Spain 

~d the Isthmus of Panama. Punitive expeditions, bounty 

hunters, repressive legislation and capitulaciones were used 

to suppress the cimarrones. The available sources indicate 

that members of the clergy played a greater role in 

cimarron pacification in colonial Colombia than in the 

other areas studied. 48 Since Cartagena was the chief port 

of entry for Blacks into South America, this is an important 

factor for the missionary work of the clergy. Members of 

47rbid., p. 105; Sharp, "Manumission", in Taplin, 
Slavery and Race Relations, p. 98, declares that free Blacks 
joined the cimarrones because avenues for political, social 
and economic advancement were close to them. 

48Escalante, "Palenques in Colombia", in Price, Maroon 
Societies, pp. 75, 79; Groot,Historia Eclesiastica, l:capitulo 
21, pp. 661-663; Escalente, Negro en Colombia, pp. 117-118. 
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many orders were able to gain the confidence of the 

cimarrones and effect their pacification by acting as 

intermediaries with colonial officials. The clergy, 

especially members of the Jesuit order did much work 

among the Blacks in colonial Colombia. 

Two of the most outstanding of these were Father 

Alonso de Sandoval and SairttPeter Claver.49 Sandoval 
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stands out for his monumental work, Naturaliza, policia 

sagrada y profana, costumbres y rito, disciplina y catecismo 

evangelico de los etiopes. The work studied the location 

of the world black populations, their enslavement and 

Christianization. It was also a methodology and admonition 

to the Jesuits to care for the spiritual well-being of the 

enslaved Blacks.so The work was not an anti-slavery tract 

and should be considered in its historical context and not 

f,rom the twentieth century perspective. 

Saint Peter Claver actively participated in the 

Christianization of the black slaves and dedicated his 

life to alleviating their condition. Claver left no historical 

document of importance as did Sandoval, but instead left his 

imprint on the work of the Jesuits among the Blacks. His 

49valtierra, Santo gue liberto, presents a well 
researched, though at times emotional, biography of Claver. 

SOrbid., pp. 795-812, presents a brief description 
of the chapters and sometimes emotional analysis of the 
Sandoval work. 



unselfish dedication to the Blacks and the example he 

set undoubtedly helped in the pacification of the Blacks 

as well as in saving their bodies and their souls. 

Although neither Claver nor Sandoval were prominent 

in obtaining cimarron pacification by capitulaciones, 

special attention must be given to this method. Between 

1540, when the crown offered an amnesty to cimarrones 

in colonial Colombia, and 1745 when a capitulacion was 

given to the fugitives at the El Castillo palenque, peace 

by negotiation was effected eight times. Although this 

method did not always prove effective, the majority of 

times the Blacks were pacified or gained rights from the 

crown. Capitulaciones brought the fugitives into the 

mainstream of colonial life rather than allowing them to 

remain a dangerous fringe element, made them participants 

and defenders of the Spanish empire. 
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CHAPTER VII 

Conclusions 

The activities of black cimarrones began in the 

Indies in 1503 and continued through the Independence 

period. The elimination of the cimarrones followed a 

progression of methods. Initially, the owners of the 

fugitives attempted the recapture and re-enslavement of 

the fugitives. If this proved unsuccessful, bounty hunters 

known as rancheadores or capitanes de monte attempted to 

locate the cimarrones and procure their recapture. At 

times, if they had been organized, Hermandades or 

constabularies were employed. If success was still not 

attained, large scale punitive expeditions sought to locate 

and destroy the cimarrones. Members of the clergy were 

also utilized to pacify or act as mediators for peace. At 

times, when none of the aforementioned proved successful, 

the fugitives were pacified by the implementation of 

capitulaciones or peace terms. The prototype of these 

settlements was the capitulacion negotiated, in 1533, .between 

the Indian cimarron cacique Enriquillo in Hispaniola and 

the crown. 

Capitulaciones were an integral part of Spanish 

law by which the crown or its agents granted concessions to 

a private party for a specific enterprise of public service. 
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The pact between the crown and Enriquillo was the first 

application with someone other than a European. The 

capitulaciones granted to Enquillo and black cimarrones 

brought fugitives under Spanish control and made them 

useful citizens and defenders of the empire. 

The role of the clergy in pacifying cimarrones has 

never been fully explored, but its importance cannot be 

overstated. Blacks saw the priests as offering the 

protective umbrella of the Church against the cruelty of 

the slave owners and colonial officials. For this reason,, 

priests were able to negotiate with fugitives and gain 

their confidence when the members of the laity could not. 

Capitulaciones, whether offered through clerics or 

members of the laity, were the most useful method of 

pacifying the cimarrones. Under this procedure, Slacks 

were guaranteed their freedom from reenslavement, given 

lands, the right to choose their own officials, and at 

times, equipment to begin a new life in semi-autonomous 

communities. In return, the cimarrones agreed to keep the 

peace, prohibited other fugitive slaves from joining them 

and became professional fugitive hunters for the colonial 

authorities. In this manner, the former fugitives used 

their knowledge of the cimarron psychology and warfare 

techniques to become an important adjunct of the colonial 

peace keeping apparatus, and served as a deterrant to 

black slave revolts. The crown recognized the importance 
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of obtaining and maintaining the peace and permitted the 

establishment of at least ten communities of former 

cimarrones. These were Enriquillo(Hispaniola, 1533), San 

Lorenzo de los Negros-Yanga(Mexico, 1609} p Amapa(Mexico, 1768), 

Ballano(Panama, 1550s), Santiago del Principe(Panama, 1579), 

Santa Cruz la Real de los Negros Cimarrones(Panama, 1580s), 

San Basilio del Palenque(Colombia, 1600s), Santa Cruz de 

Masinga(Colombia, 1704), Ur~(Colombia, 1706), El Castillo 

(Colombia, 1732). Capitulaciones allowed these reformed 

cimarrones a degree of social mobility by becoming 

officials within these communities, landowners and small 

businessmen. As productive members of the colonial society 

these Blacks often became staunch supporters of the crown, 

since they believed that their status was owed to the King 

who protected them from the machinations of the colonials~ 

As the colonial period progressed,the crown took note of 

this and actively sought to build closer ties with those 

of black African ancestry. This was especially true 

during the Bourbon period. 

During the period of Bourbon reforms, a Black 

Code was issued for the Spanish colonies in 1789. The 

Code was a manifestation of an humanitarian view of 

slavery and attempt at organizing and regulating slave life. 

Its provisions served to regulate colonial authorities, 

slave owners, and slaves. The code also formulated the 

legal status of the slaves, which had become difficult to 



understand because of the great quantity of legislation 

promulgated by the crown and various colonial governmental 

bodies. Although the Black Code was a forward step for 

the slaves, it was issued at an inopportune time. The 

French Revolution, black revolts in Haiti and British held 

Jamaica served to fuel denunications of the Code by its 

opponents who saw it as a weakening of slave control. 

Fearful of repercussions from a vocal and increasingly 

rebellious creole element, the Black Code was suspended 

in 1794.1 The Blacks did not see the lack of enforcement 

of the Code as a betrayal by the crowno Instead, the 

members of the race saw their enemies to be the creoles. 

This was reinforced by repeated creole attempts to prevent 

social mobility and to impose restriction of pri vi'lege. 

relative to those of African ancestry. 

The growth of the population of mixed races saw 

some of these persons rise to such affluence that they 

were able to petition the King for dispensations from 

certain restrictions and even allow their release from the 

classification of "colored" to that of a white. The 

lMellafe, Rolando, Negro Slavery in Latin America, 
trans. S.W.S. Judge, (Berkeley: University of California 
Press, 1975), pp 107-108; Saco, Esclavitud la Raza 
Africana, 3:8-16. 
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great numbers of petitions caused the crown to formulate 

the Gracias al sacar law which allowed this change of classi­

fication.2 Promulgated in 1795, the law set the schedule of 

prerequisites which had to be fulfilled and the tariffs to 

be charged before the change could be recognized. The law 

met with stiff opposition from the creoles. The monarch 

ignored the creole opposition and strong efforts to have the 

law rescinded or suppressed, and instead, issued a more far 

reaching Gracias al Sacar in 1801 

The efforts made by the crown to provide avenues of 

social mobility, slave protection, and the granting of 

capitulaciones with their resultant free Black communities, 

bore fruit in the nineteenth century. When the wars of 

Independence began, those of African ancestry were often 

those who were the greatest partisans of the monarch.3 

Thus it was that capitulaciones, originally granted to 

indominable black fugitives fighting against the interest of 

the crown, served to make them productive citizens and 

ioyal defenders of the King. 

2Related studies can be found in the previously cited 
King, Jose Ponciano and Tate, Jose Ponseano. 

3Related studies are found in Jose H. Capdequ{, "The 
Impact of the Wars of Independence on the Institutional life 
of the New Kingdom of Granada" '!'he Americas 17(January 1961), 
pp. 111-222; Juan Bosch, Bolivar y la Guerra Social (Buneos 
Aires; Editorial-J. Alvarez, 1966); German Carrera Damas, 
Boves: Aspectos Socio-Economico (Caracas: Hinisterio de 
Educac1~n, direcci6n tecnica, departmento de Publicaciones, 
1968); James F. King, "A Royalist View of the Colored Castes 
in the Venezuelan War of Independence" HAHR 33(November 1953), 
pp. 527-537. 
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Glossary 

Adelanto or adelantado mayor: the governor of a large district 
having military, judicial and administrative powers. 

Alabarda: a halberd or combination spear and battle-axe 

Alabardero: soldier assigned to use a halberd 

Alcabala: sales tax 

Alcalde or alcalde ordinaria: official having immediate 
superintendency of a town or city and having knowledge 
of judicial matters. 

Alcalde del crimen: judge of criminal cases 

Alcalde mayor: chief judge in a municipality having several 
alcaldes. 

Alferez real: a royal second lieutenant 

Alguacil: a bailiff or constable 

Alguacil mayor: chief constable or high sheriff who also 
led municipal levies in war. 

Almojarifazgo: import tax 

/ 
Arcabus: an early type of firearm 

Arcabucero: soldier assigned to use an arcabus 

Asentista: contractor 

Asiento: a contract 

Audiencia: royal court having supreme jurisdiction over 
a kingdom. 

Auto: a judicial decree or sentence 

Ayuntamiento: local council of property owners and heads 
of important families who elected the cabildo. 

Banda: an edict or proclamation 
. ,.,. 

B1sono: a new soldier or fresh recruit 
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Caballerfa: the amount of land given to a cavalryman 
measuring 600 by 14,00 pasos or about 174 acres. 

Caballero: a knight, gentleman, or member of the lesser 
nobility 

Cabildo: a town government 

Cabo: a corporal or non-commissioned officer 

Capit~n de monte: expert tracker or bounty hunter 

Capitulaciones: agreements between the crown and a private 
party for a specific undertaking. 

Carga: a load of about two fanegas 

Cargadores de negros: slave shippers 

Carro: a cart 

Casas reales: principal political buildings of a town 

Castas: the castes or persons of mixed racial ancestry 

Castizo: a member of the castes 

Cepo: a punishment stock 

Cima: a mount top or summit 

Cimarr6n: a term to describe something wild, untamed or 
unruly, applied to geographic areas, animals or fugitive 
Indians and Blacks. 

Cofradfa: a sodality, religious brotherhood, or mutual aid 
society 

Colono: a planter 

Consulado: a commercial guild for development of trade 

Corregidor: a magistrate having civil and jurisdiction 
over a given area. 

Corregimiento: jurisdictional area of a corregidor. 

cuadrilla: a work crew or gang or armed men 

Dean: the presiding official of a cathedral 

Dias de fiesta: holidays 
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ofas feriados: days when the courts or tribunals were 
not held 

Escudero: squire 

Estancia: a farm, ranch or stock raising establishment 

Estanciero: an estancia owner. 

Explotaci6n: an exploitation, operation or factory 

Fanega: a grain measure of about 1.5 bushels or a land 
measure of about 1.6 acres. 

Fiscal: prosecuting officer 

Flota: the annual fleet from Spain to Veracruz 

Fuero: a charter, constitution or code of laws or privileges 
granted by the crown in a group or area. 

Gente de servicio: common laborers 

Gobernaci6n: a political area 

Grumete: ships boys or cabin boys 

Hacendados: owners of haciendas 

Hacienda: finance, landed property or ranch 

Hombre de casta: see castizo 

Horro: free Black 

Iglesia de visita: subordinate church visited by non­
residentclergy. 

Ingenio: a sugar mill 

Interrogatorio: a survey 

Juez de apelacion: an appeal judge 

Juez de residencia: judicial review judge 

Justicia: a magistrate 

Justicia Mayor: a chief magistrate 

Ladino: an hispanicized Black or Indian 

Legua: 4.18 kilometers 
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Letrado: a lawyer, legist, person learned in law 

Libra: a unit of money in fourteenth century Castile 

Maese de Campo: second in command, person usually in 
charge of supplies and tactics. 

Mayoral: a type of leader, spokesman, or overseer 

Mestizo: a person of Spanish and Indian ancestry 

Monte: mountain, hill, woods or forest 

Moreno: brown, brown skinned person, or free born Black 

Municipio: township 

Nostalgia Banzo: melancholy state when slaves seemed to 
simply stop living an die for no apparent reason. 

Obraje: textile factory 

Oidor: magistrate of an Audiencia 

Ordenanza: ordinance or law 

Oro de Tipuzque: gold debased with copper used by the Aztecs 

Palenque: palisade, fortress, or stronghold 

Pastoria: a group of shepherds or livestock camp 

Pechero: a taxpayer 

Peon: a footsoldier or peasant 

Peon{a: tha amount of land given to a peon, about half 
that of a caballeria. 

Pesquisidor: a special judge 

Plaza de Armas: the garrison or parade ground of a city 

Plaza p~blica: the market place or public square 

~ 

Portero de Camara: a chamberlain 

Presidente: a presiding officer 

Presidio: garrison 

Procurador: the chief deputy to a town or city assembly 
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Provisi6n Real: a royal decree 

Rancheador: an expert tracker or bounty hunter 

/ Rancher1a: a settlement 

Rancho: a ranch, small settlement or camp 

Reconter!a: a form of extortion 

Regidor: a councilman 

s!ndico Procurador: an official of the municipal council, 
enforcer of city ordinances, or chief city attorney 

Tost6n: a coin 

Trapiche: a sugar mill smaller than an ingenio 

Trapichero: a Trapiche owner 

Vagabundo: renegade Spaniards and castizos 

Vecino: a head of family, householder or property owner 

Veragua: Costa Rica 

Vientre Libre: a principle of the Siete Partidas whereby 
a child of a slave father and a free mother was born 
free. 

Villa: a town 

Zambo: a person of Negro and Indian ancestry 

205 



APPROVAL SHEET 

The dissertation submitted by Frederick Rodroguez has been 
read and approved by the following committee: 

Charles Eo Ronan, S.J., Director 
Professor, History, Loyola 

Dro Joseph A. Gagliano 
Professor, History and 
Assistant Dean, Graduate School, 
Loyola 

Sister Margaret Thornton, B.V.M. 
Professor, History, Mundelein 

The final copies have been examined by the director of the 
dissertation and the signature which appears below verifies 
the fact that any necessary changes have been incorporated 
and that the dissertation is now given final approval by 
the Committee with reference to content and form. 

The dissertation is therefore accepted in partial fulfillMent 
of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy. 

206 


	Cimarron Revolts and Pacification in New Spain, the Isthmus of Panama, and Colonial Columbia, 1503-1800
	Recommended Citation

	img002
	img003
	img004
	img005
	img006
	img007
	img008
	img009
	img010
	img011
	img012
	img013
	img014
	img015
	img016
	img017
	img018
	img019
	img020
	img021
	img022
	img023
	img024
	img025
	img026
	img027
	img028
	img029
	img030
	img031
	img032
	img033
	img034
	img035
	img036
	img037
	img038
	img039
	img040
	img041
	img042
	img043
	img044
	img045
	img046
	img047
	img048
	img049
	img050
	img051
	img052
	img053
	img054
	img055
	img056
	img057
	img058
	img059
	img060
	img061
	img062
	img063
	img064
	img065
	img066
	img067
	img068
	img069
	img070
	img071
	img072
	img073
	img074
	img075
	img076
	img077
	img078
	img079
	img080
	img081
	img082
	img083
	img084
	img085
	img086
	img087
	img088
	img089
	img090
	img091
	img092
	img093
	img094
	img095
	img096
	img097
	img098
	img099
	img100
	img101
	img102
	img103
	img104
	img105
	img106
	img107
	img108
	img109
	img110
	img111
	img112
	img113
	img114
	img115
	img116
	img117
	img118
	img119
	img120
	img121
	img122
	img123
	img124
	img125
	img126
	img127
	img128
	img129
	img130
	img131
	img132
	img133
	img134
	img135
	img136
	img137
	img138
	img139
	img140
	img141
	img142
	img143
	img144
	img145
	img146
	img147
	img148
	img149
	img150
	img151
	img152
	img153
	img154
	img155
	img156
	img157
	img158
	img159
	img161
	img162
	img163
	img164
	img165
	img166
	img167
	img168
	img169
	img170
	img171
	img172
	img173
	img174
	img175
	img176
	img177
	img178
	img179
	img180
	img181
	img182
	img183
	img184
	img185
	img186
	img187
	img188
	img189
	img190
	img191
	img192
	img193
	img194
	img195
	img196
	img197
	img198
	img199
	img200
	img201
	img202
	img203
	img204
	img205
	img207
	img208
	img209
	img210
	img211
	img212
	img213
	img214
	img215
	img216

